
 
 
 

Planning Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: Wednesday, 7th May, 2025 
Time: 11.00 am 
Venue: Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath 
 
Agenda 
 
 

To: All Members of the Planning Committee 
 

Councillors:- Ian Halsall, Lucy Hodge, Deborah Collins, Paul Crossley, Fiona Gourley, 
Hal MacFie, Toby Simon, Shaun Hughes, Dr Eleanor Jackson and Tim Warren CBE 
Permanent Substitutes:- Councillors: Alex Beaumont, Duncan Hounsell and Ruth Malloy 
 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

 
 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Corrina Haskins
Democratic Services
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG 
Telephone: 01225 39 4435
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk 
E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk



 

 

NOTES: 
1. Inspection of Papers: Papers are available for inspection as follows: 
 
Council’s website: https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1 
 
2. Details of decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime, details can be obtained by 
contacting as above.  
 
3. Recording at Meetings:- 
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and recording 
by anyone attending a meeting.  This is not within the Council’s control.  Some of our meetings 
are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is to 
be filmed.  If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, please make yourself known to 
the camera operators.  We request that those filming/recording meetings avoid filming public 
seating areas, children, vulnerable people etc; however, the Council cannot guarantee this will 
happen. 
 
The Council will broadcast the images and sounds live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast. The Council may also use the images/sound recordings on its 
social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters. 
 
4. Public Speaking at Meetings 
 
The Council has a specific scheme for the public to make representations at Planning 
Committee meetings.  
 
Advance notice is required by the close of business (5.00pm) two days before a 
committee. This means that for Planning Committee meetings held on Wednesdays, 
notice must be received in Democratic Services by 5.00pm the previous Monday.  
 
Further details of the scheme can be found at: 
 
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942 
 
5. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the designated 
exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are signposted. 
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 
 
6. Supplementary information for meetings 
 
Additional information and Protocols and procedures relating to meetings 
 
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505 
 

 
 
 
 
 

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505


Planning Committee- Wednesday, 7th May, 2025 
 

at 11.00 am in the Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath 
 

A G E N D A 
  

1.   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 The Democratic Services Officer will draw attention to the emergency evacuation 
procedure. 

 
2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate: 

(a) The agenda item number and site in which they have an interest to declare. 

(b) The nature of their interest. 

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest, 
(as defined in Part 4.4 Appendix B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for 
Registration of Interests) 

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer before the meeting 
to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting. 

 
4.   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  
 
5.   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 To note that, regarding planning applications to be considered, members of the public 
who have given the requisite notice to Democratic Services will be able to make a 
statement to the Committee immediately before their respective applications are 
considered. There will be a time limit of 3 minutes for each proposal, i.e., 3 minutes for 
the Parish and Town Councils, 3 minutes for the objectors to the proposal and 3 
minutes for the applicant, agent and supporters. This allows a maximum of 9 minutes 
per proposal. 

 
6.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 5 - 16) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 9 April 2025 as a correct 
record for signing by the Chair. 

 
7.   SITE VISIT LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 

DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (Pages 17 - 32) 

 The following application will be considered at 11am: 
 



1. 24/01135/FUL - Kennet Lodge, Kennet Park, Bathampton, Bath 
 
8.   MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 

DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (Pages 33 - 164) 

 The following items will be considered at 11am: 
 

1. 24/03831/FUL - Pines Way, Westmoreland, Bath 
 
The following items will be considered at 2pm: 
 

2. 24/03894/FUL - Parcel 2882, Water Lane, Paulton, Bristol 
3. 24/02841/FUL - Little Horse Croft Farm, Ford Road, Wellow 
4. 24/04465/FUL - Charlton Road, Keynsham, Bath And North East Somerset 

 
9.   NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 

FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES (Pages 165 - 168) 

 The Committee is asked to note the report. 
 
10.   QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REPORT: 1 JAN - 31 MAR 2025 (Pages 169 - 178) 

 The Committee is asked to note the report. 
 
 
 
The Democratic Services Officer for this meeting is Corrina Haskins who can be contacted on  
01225 394357. 
 
Delegated List Web Link: https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/delegated-
planning-decisions  
 

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/delegated-planning-decisions
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/delegated-planning-decisions


Bath and North East 
Somerset Council 

 

 

 
1 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the Meeting held 
Wednesday, 9th April, 2025, 11.00 am 

 
Councillors: Ian Halsall (Chair), Lucy Hodge (Vice-Chair), Paul Crossley, Sarah Evans, 
Fiona Gourley, Duncan Hounsell, Hal MacFie, Toby Simon, Shaun Hughes and 
Dr Eleanor Jackson 

  
  
105   EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
  
 The Democratic Services Officer read out the emergency evacuation procedure.  
  
106   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 
  
 The following apologies for absence and substitutions were noted: 

 
Cllr Duncan Hounsell substituting for Cllr Deborah Collins 
Cllr Sarah Evans substituting for Cllr Tim Warren.  

  
107   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  
 Cllr Lucy Hodge declared an interest in item 1 - 24/03168/REG03 - Council 

Cleansing Depot, Locksbrook Road, Newbridge, Bath as the Cabinet Project Lead 
for Council Priorities & Delivery and for Neighbourhood Services and confirmed she 
would be withdrawing from the meeting during discussion of that item.   
 
In relation to agenda item 6 - 24/01135/FUL - Kennet Lodge, Kennet Park, 
Bathampton, Bath, Cllr Toby Simon declared that he was acquainted with the 
speaker from Bathampton Parish Council and confirmed that this would not affect his 
judgement in relation to the application.  

  
108   TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR 
  
 There was no urgent business.  
  
109   ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC 
  
 The Democratic Services Officer informed the meeting of the process for public 

speakers to address the Committee.  
  
110   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
  
 It was moved by Cllr Toby Simon, seconded by Cllr Fiona Gourley 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 12 March 2025 be 
confirmed as a correct record for signing by the Chair.  

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 

 
2 

 

111   SITE VISIT LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE 

  
 There were no site visit applications for consideration.  
  
112   MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 

DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE 
  
 The Committee considered: 

 
1. A report and update report by the Head of Planning on the applications under the 

main applications list. 
2. Oral statements by members of the public and representatives.  A copy of the 

speakers’ list is attached as Appendix 1 to these minutes. 
 

RESOLVED that in accordance with the delegated powers, the applications be 
determined as set out in the main applications decisions list attached as Appendix 2 
to these minutes. 
 
[Cllr Lucy Hodge withdrew from the meeting during the consideration of the first 
application.] 
 
1. 24/03168/REG03 - Council Cleansing Depot, Locksbrook Road, Newbridge, 

Bath 
 
The Case Officer introduced the report which considered an application for the 
change of use of an existing street cleansing depot and 24-hour car park 
ancillary to retain street cleansing depot with a new Recycling Centre and adjacent 
customer parking/drop off area with associated operational development including 
alteration of vehicular access; new pedestrian/cycle access; landscaping; and 
drainage works. 
 
She gave a verbal update as follows: 
1. Page 52 of the report referred to a Biodiversity Net Gain increase of 301.91% 

habitat units and should read 74% habitat units. 
2. 4 additional objections had been received following the publication of the 

committee papers raising concerns in relation to the need for a like for like centre; 
location; transport and accessibility; environment impact; flooding; residential 
amenity; equalities; human health and pollution.  These issues had already been 
addressed in the Committee report. 

 
She confirmed the officers’ recommendation that the application be permitted subject 
to the conditions set out in the report. 

 
The following public representations were received: 
1. Tim Wallace and Dr Steve Rocliffe, local residents, objecting to the application.  
2. Chris Beaver, agent supporting the application.  

 
Cllr Samantha Kelly was in attendance as ward Councillor and read a statement on 
behalf of herself and Cllr Michelle O’Doherty as summarised below: 
1. The ward Councillors had asked that the application be determined by the 

Page 6



 

 
3 

 

Planning Committee to allow concerns to be heard in public.  
2. They acknowledged that the proposal had undergone changes to address 

objections, but concerns remained in relation to traffic, parking and accessibility. 
3. In terms of traffic, the junction with Upper Bristol Road was a concern as there 

were already delays in that area.  The booking system relied on full compliance, 
and it was likely that additional vehicles would turn up without booking.  
Reassurances were needed that the rules concerning pre-booking would be 
enforced. 

4. There was a proposal for a residents parking zone, but until this was in place 
there were concerns about parking pressures in the area.   

5. There were questions around how usable the site was for people with limited 
mobility. 

6. There were also environmental impact concerns due to the close proximity to the 
River Avon and flooding and drainage needed to be monitored.   

7. If the Committee was minded to approve the application, assurances were 
needed about these concerns. 

 
Cllr George Tomlin was in attendance as adjacent ward Councillor and read a 
statement on behalf of himself and Cllr Paul Roper as summarised below: 
1. They recognised that a centre was part of a strategic plan to provide facilities but 

there was a need to address impacts. 
2. The junction with Upper Bristol Road was a key area of concern, most traffic 

would be turning right onto this road out of the site and this was already difficult 
to navigate. 

3. If approved, the operation needed to be closely monitored, and enforcement 
action taken if necessary. 

4. If the Committee was minded to approve, it was important to ensure the concerns 
of residents were taken seriously. 

 
In response to Members’ questions, it was confirmed: 
1. The comparison with the existing site at Midland Road and its imminent closure 

were not material considerations, each application had to be considered on its 
merits.   

2. Fire safety would operate in accordance with requirements and on-site equipment 
and procedures would be in place. 

3. In terms of noise, there would be a mitigation boundary around the operation side 
and noise associated with reversal alarms and rollers on skips would be set to a 
minimum. 

4. There would be no risks from hazardous waste as this would not be accepted at 
the site. 

5. The application was in accordance with the Development Plan. 
6. A highways assessment had been carried out in relation to the junction at 

Locksbrook Road and Upper Bristol Road the junction at Locksbrook Road and 
Station Road.   

7. The site would operate during traffic off-peak periods and so there would not be a 
significant impact on junctions.  There would be double yellow lines on site to 
prevent parking in restricted areas. 

8. The car parking bays would be big enough for large cars.  Vans and cars with 
trailers would be prohibited from the site.  There had not been a swept path 

Page 7



 

 
4 

 

analysis in relation to articulated lorries as this did not form part of this 
application. 

9. HGV vehicles would enter the site to remove move skips when they were full.  
There would be an estimated 4-6 HGV movements per day.   

10. In relation to issues such as air quality, odour, noise and gulls, there had either 
been found to be no requirement for mitigation or that impact could be addressed 
by mitigation.   

11. There was limited potential for odour emissions as the skips would be emptied 
frequently.   

12. The height of the bins was 2.6m and there was a 1.5m staggered ramp.  Staff 
would also be available to assist any users who had difficulty accessing the 
facilities.   

13. There was space for 5 vehicles to queue within the site and additional parking 
bays were also available.   

14. Pedestrians and cyclists could access the site.  There was a pedestrian access 
and cycle parking.  Pre-booking was only required for vehicles and not for 
pedestrians/cyclists. 

15. The site was in flood zone 2 and 3, but there would be a slight reduction in 
hardstanding area as a result of the development and the flood risk assessment 
had shown that it wouldn’t increase flooding.   

 
The Chair opened the debate and emphasised the requirement for the Committee, 
as a regulatory body, to make a decision on the application as submitted in the 
context of the relevant planning policies and not to comment on the appropriateness 
of alternative sites. 
 
Cllr Duncan Hounsell stated that the application was in accordance with planning 
policies and there was a need for waste disposal facilities in the city of Bath.  He 
moved the officers’ recommendation to permit the development subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.   Cllr Toby Simon suggested that the motion be 
“delegated to permit” to enable officers to include any additional conditions as 
appropriate to address concerns of local residents.  The Chair suggested an 
additional condition to monitor the operational statement for a certain period of time.  
This was accepted by Cllr Duncan Hounsell as mover of the motion and seconded 
by Cllr Toby Simon. 
 
Cllr Eleanor Jackson expressed concern about over development of the site.   
 
Cllr Shaun Hughes agreed with the need for a facility in Bath but questioned whether 
this was the right location and stated that residents would still need to travel to 
Keynsham or Midsomer Norton to dispose of some waste products.  He also raised 
concerns about the impact of traffic using the site.   
 
 
Cllr Hal MacFie spoke in support of the motion and stated that the impact could be 
minimised by the booking system which would control the use of the site.    
 
On voting for the motion, it was CARRIED (6 in favour and 3 against). 
 
RESOLVED that officers be delegated to permit planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in the report and an additional condition to monitor the operational 

Page 8



 

 
5 

 

statement. 
 
[Cllr Lucy Hodge returned to the meeting] 
 
2. 24/04206/OUT – The Wildland, Church Lane, East Harptree, Bristol 

 
The Planning Officer introduced the report which considered an outline application 
for the erection of 3 houses following demolition of the existing 4-bedroom house. 
 
She confirmed the officers’ recommendation that the application be permitted subject 
to the conditions set out in the report.   

 
The following public representations were received: 
1. Diana Martin, local resident, objecting to the application. 
2. Mark Cains, architect, supporting the application.  
 
In response to Members’ questions, it was confirmed: 
1. In view of the revised NPPF published in December 2024, it was likely that the 

Council would not be able to demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply from April 
2025, although the housing trajectory for the year 2025-2026 had not yet been 
calculated or published.  This was a material consideration, but in any case, the 
officer view was that there was no reason to refuse the application. 

2. The Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan encouraged, rather than demanded 2-3 
bed-dwellings.  The Local Plan encouraged a housing mix.  Officers had 
considered housing mix but the scheme was outline would be further assessed at 
the detailed stage.  The officer view was that the application did not conflict with 
the Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan. 

3. This was an outline planning application and only access and scale were being 
considered at this stage with all other matters reserved.   

4. There was no requirement for affordable homes for a development of 3 dwellings.  
The dwellings would need to be considered as market housing. 

5. The appearance would be determined at the reserved matters stage, but the 
heights were set by the outline application. 

6. Landscaping was a reserved matter and the hardstanding area in the plans was 
indicative. 

7. Layout was also reserved but the view of officers was that the development could 
be achieved to satisfy residential amenity.   

8. In relation to bat mitigation, a European Protected Species licence would be 
required prior to demolition to allow the works to proceed legally and safeguard 
bats. 

 
Cllr Duncan Hounsell referred to the changes in NPPF and spoke in support of this 
scheme which would replace 1 dwelling with 3.  He moved the officers’ 
recommendation to permit the development.  In seconding the motion, Cllr Paul 
Crossley stated that it was important for the bat mitigation scheme to be taken 
seriously.   
 
On voting for the motion, it was CARRIED (10 in favour and 0 against - unanimous). 
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions set out in 

Page 9



 

 
6 

 

the report. 
 
 
3. 24/02838/TPIP - Land to south of 2, The Orchard, Stanton Drew, Bristol 

 
The Case Officer introduced the report which considered an application for a 
technical details consent for the erection of three "Passivhaus" dwellings and private 
allotments with associated access, drainage and hard/soft landscape works, 
pursuant to Permission in Principle reference 22/02743/PIP. 
 
He gave a verbal update to recommend that officers be delegated to permit the 
development subject to the conditions set out in the report and additional conditions 
relating to landscaping and the removal of landscaping strategy proposals from the 
plans list.   
 
The following public representations were received: 
1. Stanton Drew Parish Council, objecting to the application (statement read in 

absence). 
2. Rebecca Morgan, agent, supporting the application. 
 
In response to Members’ questions, it was confirmed: 
1. The ecology zone had been widened to protect the badger sett and there would 

be badger proof fencing where the zone bordered the allotment. 
2. The inclusion of allotments was part of the Permission in Principle and there 

would be a condition for an allotment management plan to ensure appropriate 
maintenance.   

3. It would not be justified to ask the applicant to fund double yellow lines on the 
hammerhead junction as part of this application.   

4. There needed to be a certain mass of form to be a Passivhaus.  The size of the 
dwellings was consistent with other buildings in the street. 

5. The proposed dwellings were considered Passivhaus homes due to the level of 
ventilation, layout, solar panels and insulation.  Passivhaus buildings were not 
necessarily constructed off site. 

6. It would be possible to attach an additional condition requesting further details 
and samples of materials to be submitted in advance.   
 

Cllr Toby Simon spoke in support of the application and moved the recommendation 
that officers be delegated to permit the development with the suggested conditions 
and an additional condition to request further details and samples of materials to be 
submitted in advance.  This was seconded by Cllr Fiona Gourley. 
 
Cllr Paul Crossley spoke against the motion and expressed the view that the 
application constituted over development of the site.   
 
On voting for the motion, it was CARRIED (9 in favour and 1 against). 
 
RESOLVED that officers be delegated to permit the development subject to: 
1. the conditions set out in the report. 
2. additional conditions relating to landscaping and the removal of landscaping 

strategy proposals from the plans list. 
3. an additional condition to request further details and samples of materials to be 

Page 10



 

 
7 

 

submitted in advance. 
 
4. 23/02825/FUL - Parcel 1172, Radford Hill, Radford, Bristol 

 
The Case Officer introduced the report which considered an application for the 
change of use of the land to a single caravan pitch for a gypsy and 
traveller family including the siting of one static caravan, 1 touring caravan and 
dayroom and associated access and hardsurfacing (Part Retrospective). 
 
He confirmed the officers’ recommendation that the application be permitted subject 
to the conditions set out in the report. 
 
The following public representations were received: 
1. Dan Foster, agent on behalf of local residents, objecting to the application.  
2. Emily Temple, agent on behalf of applicant, supporting the application. 
 
Cllr Liz Hardman was in attendance as ward Councillor and read a statement on 
behalf of herself, Cllr Grant Johnson and Paulton Parish Council. 
1. Supportive of the general principle of providing sites for the travelling community, 

but there were specific concerns in relation to this site. 
2. The access was not satisfactory. 
3. The entrance to the site was in flood zone 3 and the proposed dwelling was in 

close proximity.   
4. The proposed development was out of keeping with the rural setting.  It was a 

change in the land use and the quality of materials did not reflect the 
neighbouring area. 

5. There would be an impact on the nearby Grade II listed building.   
 

Cllr Shaun Stephenson McGall was in attendance and read a statement as adjacent 
ward Councillor and also on behalf of Timsbury Parish Council as summarised 
below: 
1. Timsbury Parish Council had raised 4 objections to the application: 

a. Highways and safety concerns. 
b. The setting and nearness to the Grade II listed building. 
c. The position of the entrance in flood zone 3. 
d. Detrimental to rural characteristic of area. 

2. He was disappointed that there was not a 5-year land supply of sites for gypsies 
and travellers. 

3. In response to concerns about highways safety, he advised that he had secured 
funding in the Council’s budget to implement a speed reduction through the 
hamlet of Radford from 60mph to 20mph. 
 

In response to Members’ questions, it was confirmed: 
1. There were objections from Highways and the Conservation Officer as statutory 

consultees, but the lack of a 5-year land supply for gypsy and traveller sites was 
a significant material consideration which tilted the balance in favour of permitting 
the development.  It was also noted that although objectors had raised concerns 
about highways safety, the Highways Officers’ objection was about the lack of 
sustainable transport options and not about safety.   

2. The proposal to reduce the speed limit from 60mph to 20mph was not a material 

Page 11



 

 
8 

 

consideration as the Traffic Regulation Order was not yet in place. 
3. Although the access was in flood zone 3, the living accommodation would be 

situated in flood zone 1. 
4. Any gate could be installed as permitted development as long as it was less than 

1 metre in height.  In terms of permitted development, there would not be the 
usual rights associated with a dwelling due to the nature of the application. 

5. It would be reasonable to include an additional condition to ensure the land was 
restored to its original use in the event of a cessation of use.    

6. There would be a condition to limit the use to 1 pitch.  The site was not large 
enough to accommodate additional pitches. 

7. There was space to accommodate a washing machine in the day room and there 
were facilities for water and electricity on site. 

8. There was a condition to screen the caravan from the views of the adjacent listed 
building. 

 
Cllr Duncan Hounsell opened the debate and stated that officers had addressed 
concerns about highway safety, impact on the Grade II listed building and flooding, 
rural landscape and he recognised the significant weight of providing a pitch for the 
travelling community.  He confirmed that he was minded to support the application. 
 
Cllr Fiona Gourley spoke in support of the application as there was a need to provide 
homes for people in villages. 
 
Cllr Eleanor Jackson moved the officers’ recommendation with an additional 
condition to ensure the land was restored to its original use in the event of a 
cessation of use.   This was seconded by Cllr Lucy Hodge. 
 
On voting for the motion, it was CARRIED (10 in favour, 0 against - unanimous). 
 
RESOLVED that permission be granted subject to the condition set out in the report 
and an additional condition to ensure the land was restored to its original use in the 
event of a cessation of use.    
 
5. 25/00409/FUL - 41 Freeview Road, Twerton, Bath 

 
The Case Officer introduced the report which considered an application for a change 
of use from a 3-bedroom dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to a 6-bedroom House in 
Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Use Class C4) with rear extension and provision of bike 
store.  
 
She confirmed the officers’ recommendation that the application be permitted subject 
to the conditions set out in the report. 
 
There were no statements from members of the public. 
 
In response to Members’ questions, it was confirmed: 
1. The bedroom size exceeded the minimum standard of 2.51m² 
2. The property was link attached to the neighbouring property, which was also an 

HMO, but there would not be sandwiching of residential properties between 
HMOs and so the application it was policy compliant. 

 

Page 12



 

 
9 

 

The Chair confirmed that he had agreed to the request for the application to be 
brought to Committee as the increasing number of HMOs was an ongoing issue for 
certain wards and it was important to be transparent about the policy context.  
 
Cllr Shaun Hughes questioned whether such applications should be brought to 
Planning Committee when they complied with current policy as it was not within the 
remit of the committee to rewrite policies. 
 
Cllr Paul Crossley asked the Chair to write to the Cabinet Member for Built 
Environment, Housing and Sustainable Development, Cllr Matt McCabe on behalf of 
the Planning Committee to request a review of current policy relating to HMOs.  He 
suggested that the limit in a 100m radius be reduced from 10% to 5%.  He 
expressed concern that the increase in HMOs, which were often used as student 
accommodation, was resulting in less housing being available for families.  He also 
stated that universities should be responsible for providing more student 
accommodation.   
 
Members also raised the following general points in relation to HMOs: 
1. There was a need for up-to-date information on the number of HMOs, 

recognising that some were not registered. 
2. The demand for family housing was reflected in the number of families on the 

waiting list for housing.   
3. The HMO policy should be extended beyond the city of Bath to the rest of the 

B&NES district. 
4. HMOs were often an affordable alternative for students to purpose built 

accommodation and allowed them to integrate in the community. 
5. HMOs were not just for students; they were also an affordable housing option for 

young professionals. 
 
In relation to the application, Cllr Toby Simon moved the officers’ recommendation 
stating that it was policy compliant.  This was seconded by Cllr Eleanor Jackson.   

 
On voting for the motion, it was CARRIED (8 in favour, 1 against and 1 abstention). 
 
RESOLVED that permission be granted subject to the conditions set out in the 
report. 
 
6. 24/01135/FUL - Kennet Lodge, Kennet Park, Bathampton, Bath 
 
The Case Officer introduced the report which considered an application for the 
reconfiguration and alteration of an existing dwelling, including a single 
storey extension to the north of the property, and an additional storey of first floor 
bedroom accommodation to replace existing pitched roof of chalet bungalow. 
 
The Case Officer confirmed the officers’ recommendation that the application be 
permitted subject to the conditions set out in the report. 
 
The following public representations were received: 
1. Lin King, Bathampton Parish Council 
2. Ian Dewey, on behalf of local residents, objecting to the application. 
3. Sasha Berezina, agent, supporting the application. 

Page 13



 

 
10 

 

 
Cllr Sarah Warren read a statement as ward Councillor summarised as below: 
1. The application included a substantial side extension as well as a first-floor 

extension. 
2. The original building was modest, it was not a chalet bungalow and did not 

previously have living accommodation above the ground floor. 
3. The proposal was overbearing and intrusive to neighbours and would result in a 

loss of privacy and residential amenity. 
4. The proposed extension to the footprint was out of proportion and out of line with 

provisions within Policy D7 supporting infill development. 
5. There were concerns over the impact on watercourses. 
6. The planning process had been long and drawn out with many submissions and 

revisions.   
She asked the Committee to refuse the application, but if minded to permit, to 
ensure there were strong conditions to protect neighbouring properties.   
 
In response to Members’ questions, it was confirmed: 
1. Although the Conservation Officer had objected to previous iterations, there was 

no longer an objection to the latest plans.  Permission would not have been 
recommended if there was an outstanding objection from the Conservation 
Officer. 

2. Officers had undertaken an analysis of overlooking and had visited neighbouring 
properties but had concluded that the impact would not be harmful. 

3. The condition to remove permitted development rights was a cautionary 
approach to prevent further development. 

4. The proposed roofing material would be slate tiles. 
 
Cllr Eleanor Jackson proposed that a decision be deferred for a site visit to help 
understand the layout of the site and its relationship with adjoining properties.  This 
was seconded by Cllr Lucy Hodge. 
 
Cllr Paul Crossley spoke against the motion and stated that there was enough 
information in the officers’ report to make a decision without the need for a site visit.    
 
On voting for the motion, it was CARRIED (6 in favour and 4 against). 
 
RESOLVED that a decision be deferred pending a site visit. 

  
  
113   NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 

FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES 
  
 Cllr Eleanor Jackson thanked officers for their work in defending appeals, especially 

in relation to 22/02169/EOUT - parcel 4234 Combe Hay Lane, Combe Hay Bath. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 

 
 

The meeting ended at 4.17 pm  
 

Chair  

Page 14



 

 
11 

 

 
Date Confirmed and Signed  

 
Prepared by Democratic Services 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Planning Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

7th May 2025 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Louise Morris - Head of Planning & Building Control  

TITLE: APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION  

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Head of Planning about applications/proposals for Planning Permission etc.  The 
papers are available for inspection online at http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 
application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7

http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/


[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
 

001 24/01135/FUL 
10 April 2025 

Mr Nathan Sheppard 
Kennet Lodge , Kennet Park, 
Bathampton, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Reconfiguration and alteration of 
existing dwelling, including a single 
storey extension to North of property, 
and an additional storey of first floor 
bedroom accommodation to replace 
existing pitched roof of chalet bungalow. 

Bathavon 
North 

Ed Allsop PERMIT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING ON APPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT 

 

Item No:   001 

Application No: 24/01135/FUL 

Site Location: Kennet Lodge  Kennet Park Bathampton Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Bathampton  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Kevin Guy Councillor Sarah Warren  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Reconfiguration and alteration of existing dwelling, including a single 
storey extension to North of property, and an additional storey of first 
floor bedroom accommodation to replace existing pitched roof of 
chalet bungalow. 

Constraints: Colerne Airfield Buffer, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Policy B4 WHS - 
Indicative Extent, British Waterways Major and EIA, British 
Waterways Minor and Householders, Policy CP3 Solar and Wind 
Landscape Pote, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing, Housing 
Development Boundary, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Policy NE2A 
Landscapes and the green set, NRN Wetland Strategic Network 
Policy NE5, River Avon and Kennet & Avon Canal, SSSI - Impact 
Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr Nathan Sheppard 

Page 19



Expiry Date:  10th April 2025 

Case Officer: Ed Allsop 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 
Planning permission is sought for the reconfiguration and alteration of existing dwelling, 
including a single storey extension to North of property, and an additional storey of first 
floor bedroom accommodation to replace existing pitched roof of chalet bungalow. 
 
 
Reason for reporting to committee 
 
This application was referred to the Chair and Vice Chair following an objection raised by 
the Parish Council and call in request from Cllr Sarah Warren.  
 
Cllr Lucy Hodge: 'Noting Bathampton Parish Council's objection and third party 
representations, I recommend that this application is determined by the Planning 
Committee to fully debate a number of policy areas including whether the foot print of the 
proposal represents overdevelopment of this site, any loss of privacy for the neighbouring 
properties, any impact on the setting of two adjacent listed buildings and any impact on 
the nearby Conservation area. It is noted that late revisions were posted on 31 Jan 25 
after the end of the public consultation period (17 Jan 25). It has been questioned whether 
recent work on site meets Permitted Development. Regulations.' 
 
Cllr Ian Halsall: 'The Officer reports that the scale of the proposal does not mean that 
there will be harm to the character and appearance of the area or setting of heritage 
assets but considers that this development will reach the furthest extent of how it can be 
extended by virtue of recommending removal of any future permitted development rights. 
 
In light of the Parish Council's objection, request by the Ward Member to call-in the 
application and a substantial number of objections from members of the public, it is 
considered that this application should be considered by the Committee to determine 
whether it does consider it to be an over development of the site or not.'  
 
The application was heard at the 9th April 2025 Planning committee where it was deferred 
for a site visit. The site visit is scheduled to have taken place on 28th April 2025. 
 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
None. 
 
 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation responses:  
 
Bathampton Parish Council: Object. 
 

Page 20

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/details.html?refval=24/01135/FUL#details_Section


The revised plans are a big improvement on the original submission, but we still feel that it 
is an over-development of a small site. Also, the first floor rooms, with their large windows, 
will still overlook neighbours and reduce their privacy. We have been informed that there 
are covenants on the group of buildings which state that each one should not negatively 
impact the others; in addition they should not have a negative impact on the listed 
buildings; the revised plans unfortunately still do not overcome these issues. Two issues 
have arisen during the application process which cause us concern. The infill being built 
under permitted development rules would appear to breach those rules and trees have 
been felled despite the arboriculturist stating that a tree protection plan would be needed. 
It is difficult from the plans provided to assess the direct impact on the neighbouring 
properties, but we think this will be significant and the objections from the neighbours must 
be given full consideration. 
 
Historic Environment: Support, subject to conditions. 
 
Tree officer: No objection, subject to condition. 
 
Ecology: No objection, subject to condition. 
 
Representations: 
 
12no. objections have been submitted, these can be summarised as concerns with the 
scale and bulk, increase in height, setting of listed building, overlooking and 
overdevelopment. Full comments are available on the public website 
 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The 
Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
Core Strategy: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 
B1: Bath Spatial Strategy 
CP5: Flood Risk Management  
CP6: Environmental Quality 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 
 

Page 21



Placemaking Plan: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D.3: Urban fabric 
D.4: Streets and spaces 
D.5: Building design 
D.6: Amenity 
D.8: Lighting 
HE1: Historic Environment 
NE1: Development and green infrastructure 
NE3: Sites, habitats and species 
NE5: Ecological networks and nature recovery 
NE6: Trees and woodland conservation 
 
Local Plan Partial Update (LPPU): 
 
On the 19th January 2023, Bath and North East Somerset Council updated a number of 
local planning policies through the introduction of the Local Plan Partial Update (LPPU).  
 
National Policy: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was revised in December 2024 and is a 
material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions of the Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG). 
 
Listed Buildings: 
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act, in considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
Low carbon and sustainable credentials:  
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Character, appearance, impact on heritage assets: 
 
The site is in the immediate vicinity of Grade II The Old Rectory and Kennet Court. The 
site borders the Bathampton Conservation Area to the south. The current building is a 
modern, single storey dwelling and is very modest in overall footprint and height. To the 
north of the site is the kennet and Avon canal which allows for glimpsed views towards the 
Bathampton Conservation Area. There are further non designated heritage assets in the 
vicinity of the site.  
 
Kennet Lodge is not of any historical value and therefore its replacement with an 
alternative building is not objected to in principle. Notwithstanding this, the proposed 
replacement must be sensitive to the setting of the conservation area and adjacent 
designated and undesignated heritage assets.  
 
Officers accept that there will be a larger building there than currently exists, but that does 
not mean that there is harm to the character and appearance of the area, or harm to the 
setting of the listed buildings. The design has been altered to create a more subservient 
roof form. The alterations have largely addressed concerns, with the bulk of the upper 
roofscape reduced and more akin to the existing dwelling. The use of natural slate for the 
roof is considered a sensitive material.  
 
The proposed plans helpfully show the extent of the existing dwelling through a red 
dashed line.  
 
Although the property is being enlarged, officers do not conclude that the site is 
overdeveloped. This is because there is still sufficient spacing on all boundaries, space for 
car parking, bin storage and a good useable private residential amenity area of their own. 
These factors would indicate the site is not overdeveloped. The previous committee report 
recommendation proposed a condition to remove permitted development rights for 
extensions and alterations. However, upon further review and in light of guidance in the 
NPPG, such a condition is not considered necessary or reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
It should be noted that the minor amendments listed in the conservation officers latest 
consultation response have been actioned and the extensions and alterations are now 
acceptable in their impact on the character and appearance of the area, where they now 
preserve the character of this part of the conservation area and the setting of adjacent 
listed buildings. 
 
 
 

Page 23



Residential amenity: 
 
The site and property is set above Willow House, however these are two detached 
properties, sufficiently set apart. Although built form will be sited in proximity to the 
boundary with Willow House, it is still set back 1.5m and is also single storey and the 
garage on Willow House further separates the presence of development from habitable 
rooms of Willow House. There are no windows on this elevation of the single storey 
extension facing the neighbour. 
 
The works will introduce new windows, higher than those which currently exist. The new 
window (rear dormer) at first floor level on the south east elevation will be obscurely 
glazed (bathroom), therefore, there will not be overlooking. It is also sited approximately 
13.6m from the rear boundary where there would not be an oppresive impact. There are 
2no. new first floor windows on the north east elevation, one of which is obscurely glazed. 
The other is sited approximately 6.3m from the eastern boundary, the distance combined 
with the orientation and relationship with neighbours means there would be no harmful 
overlooking. The 3no. dormers on the front elevation facing willow house are located 
approximately 13.8m from the north boundary. Considering this distance, and the views 
that will result into the roofslope of willow house, there would not be a harmful level of 
overlooking.  
 
Officers accept the height and scale of the building will be increasing, and that there will 
be more built form and mass experienced than what currently exists. This can be 
expected during any enlargement to an existing property. However, this does not 
necessarily mean that the impacts are adverse which would preclude the granting of 
planning permission. For the reasons and assessments set out above, the proposals 
would not present conflict with policy D6 of the placemaking plan. 
 
Ecology: 
 
Designated Sites: 
 
No sites designated for their conservation interest are located within or adjacent to the 
site.  
 
Habitats: 
 
Habitats on site comprise mature garden trees and shrubs with well-established gardens 
present on all sides. The site is also located in proximity to the Kennet and Avon Canal. 
Bats The report identifies that the bungalow and garage were subject to a full internal and 
external inspection. The garage was considered to offer negligible bat roost potential. 
Given that the bungalow was assessed as offering low bat roost potential, it was therefore 
subsequently subject to a single emergence survey. The survey was carried out during 
late September which does not comply with best practice guidance. No bats were 
recorded emerging from the building, however, given that bat activity was recorded 
throughout the survey (with multiple bats commuting along the garden boundaries), then 
this result is accepted in this instance.  
 
The mitigation measures described in Section 5 including precautionary working methods 
for bats would be fully supported and should be secured by condition. 

Page 24



 
Lighting: 
 
The site was considered to offer high suitability for foraging and commuting bats. 
Therefore, the recommendation at Section 5 for a sensitive lighting scheme would be 
supported. It is feasible that external lighting can be sensitively designed in accordance 
with ILP 2023 guidance. Lighting must not be decorative, should only be used where 
absolutely necessary and external lighting must consist of low level, downward facing 
fittings with a PIR sensor and short-duration timer. A full specification could be secured by 
condition in this instance. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) Householder applications are 
exempt from BNG requirements.  
 
Wildlife Enhancements:  
 
The inclusion of two bat boxes and wildlife friendly planting as per Section 5.2 of the 
ecology report would be fully supported. A scheme of ecological enhancement should be 
secured by condition. 
 
Trees: 
 
The proposed alterations are largely within the current footprint with minor extension to the 
south over the existing hard surfacing and replacing an existing conservatory. Tree 
protection measures will be necessary to avoid accidental damage to the surrounding 
trees which the tree officer considers as contributing towards the setting of the 
conservation area and adjacent listed buildings. This has been secured via condition. 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty: 
 
In reaching its decision on a planning application the Council is required to have regard to 
the duties contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, known collectively as the 
public sector equality duty Section 149 provides that the Council must have due regard to 
the need to— 
 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 
 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. Having due regard to the need to advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it involves having due regard in particular, to the need to— 
 
(a) remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 
 
(b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 
 

Page 25



Due to the nature of the proposals, the development would not have any negative effects 
upon those with protected characteristics. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
Planning and conservation officers have sought revisions on the scheme, this now 
presents an application which complies with the development plan, specifically policies 
D1, D2, D3, D5 and HE1 and preserves the setting of the listed buildings and the 
conservation area. Officers have given special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
listed buildings, their setting and any features or special architectural or historic interest 
which they possess in accordance with the duty under section 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the 
decision of whether or not to grant planning permission must be made in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
The proposal complies with the development plan as a whole and it is considered that 
there are no other material considerations which indicate that the decision should be 
made contrary to the development plan .  
 
 
For these reasons, officers recommend the application be permitted, subject to conditions. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission. 
 
 2 Sample Panel - Walling (Bespoke Trigger) 
 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a sample 
panel of all external walling materials to be used has been erected on site, approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, and kept on site for reference until the 
development is completed. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy, 
policies D1, D2, D5 and HE1 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
  
 

Page 26



3 Samples- dormer (Bespoke Trigger) 
 
No construction of the external walls of the dormer windows shall commence until a 
samples are submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure an appropriate colour adjacent to the slate, in the interests of the 
appearance of the development and the surrounding area in accordance with policy CP6 
of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy, policies D1, D2, D5 and HE1 of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
 4 Roofing Materials (Bespoke Trigger) 
 
No construction of the roof of the development shall commence until a schedule and 
samples of all external roofing materials has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy, 
policies D1, D2, D5 and HE1 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
 5 Boundary wall protection during construction (pre-commencement) 
 
No development or other building operations shall commence until a detailed methodology 
and plan have been submitted demonstrating how the historic boundary wall will be 
protected during construction.  
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting the historic boundary wall in compliance with policy 
HE1 of the placemaking plan.  
 
 
 6 Windows (bespoke trigger) 
 
No installation of the windows shall take place until a detailed cross section drawing of the 
window reveals have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the dwelling and area, 
including heritage assets.  
 
 7 Green roof planting and maintenance schedule (Pre-occupation) 
 
No occupation of the development shall take place until a planting specification and 
maintenance schedule has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the works are implemented and maintained in the interests of the 
appearance of the area in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Placemaking Plan. 

Page 27



 
 
 8 Arboricultural Method Statement (pre-commencement) 
 
No development shall take place until an arboricultural method statement with tree 
protection plan following the recommendations contained within BS 5837:2012 identifying 
measures to protect the trees to be retained, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include proposed tree 
protection measures during site preparation (including demolition, clearance and level 
changes ), during construction and landscaping operations. The statement should also 
include the control of potentially harmful operations such as the position of service runs 
and soakaways, storage, handling and mixing of materials on site, burning, location of site 
office and movement of people and machinery. Wording for all measures required must 
state what will happen and use committal language that is enforceable (eg "shall" instead 
of "should").  
 
Reason: To ensure that no excavation, tipping, burning, storing of materials or any other 
activity takes place which would adversely affect the trees to be retained in accordance 
with Policy NE6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. This is a 
condition precedent because the works comprising the development have the potential to 
harm retained trees. Therefore, these details need to be agreed before work commences.  
 
 9 Arboricultural Method Statement (bespoke trigger): 
 
No development or other operations shall take place except in complete accordance with 
the approved Arboricultural Method Statement. A signed compliance statement shall be 
provided by the appointed arboriculturalist to the local planning authority within 28 days of 
completion of all associated works.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the approved method statement is complied with for the duration 
of the development to protect the trees to be retained in accordance with Policy NE6 of 
the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
 
10 Precautionary Working Methods (Compliance condition): 
  
Works must proceed only in accordance with the following measures for the protection of 
bats:  
 
o Appointment of a suitably qualified Ecological Clerk of Works to specify and oversee 
precautionary working methods;  
 
o A careful visual check for signs of bats shall be made of the interior and exterior of the 
building and its roof, and any crevices and concealed spaces, immediately prior to any 
works affecting these areas;  
 
o Works to the roof and any areas with concealed spaces or crevices shall be carried out 
using "soft strip" methods, by hand, lifting materials (not sliding) to remove them, and 
checking beneath each one;  
 

Page 28



o The site manager and site workers shall be briefed on appropriate ecologically sensitive 
methods and an ecologist shall be available on call to deal with any unexpected or last-
minute discoveries of bats or roosts; and  
 
o If bats are encountered works shall cease and the Bat Helpline (Tel 0345 1300 228) or 
the on-call licenced bat worker shall be contacted for advice before proceeding.  
 
Reason: to avoid harm to protected species (bats) in compliance with policy NE5 of the 
placemaking plan. 
 
 
11 Ecological Compliance Statement (Bespoke trigger) 
 
No occupation of the development hereby approved shall commence until a statement 
confirming and demonstrating, using photographs, adherence to and completed 
implementation of the precautionary working methods in accordance with approved 
details, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
These details shall include:  
 
1. Evidence and written confirmation that all ecological mitigation and compensation 
measures for bats, including precautionary working methods and pre-commencement 
checks were followed;  
 
2. Provision of features to benefit wildlife as set out in Section 5.2 of the approved Bat 
Survey Report produced by Johns Associates dated November 2023, to include, two bat 
boxes and wildlife-friendly planting; have been installed on site according to advice and 
specifications provided by a suitably experienced professional ecologist; and 
 
All measures within the scheme shall be retained, monitored and maintained thereafter in 
accordance with the approved details and for the purpose of wildlife conservation.  
 
Reason: To demonstrate the completed implementation of ecological mitigation and 
enhancement measures, to prevent ecological harm and to provide biodiversity gain in 
accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended), the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) the NPPF and policies 
NE3, NE5 and D5e of the placemaking plan.  
 
12 External Lighting (Bespoke trigger - requires approval of details prior to 
installation of new lighting) 
  
No new external lighting shall be installed without full details of proposed lighting design 
being first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
details shall include:  
 
1. Proposed lamps and lamp models, with manufacturer's specifications; proposed lamp 
positions; numbers and heights, with details also to be shown on a plan; and  
 
2. Details of lighting controls; proposed hours, frequency and duration of use; and details 
of all measures and features to contain light spill, and to prevent upward light spill and 
light spill onto trees and boundary vegetation and adjacent land; and to limit use of lights 

Page 29



when not required this shall include the use of short-duration ((<2 minutes) timers; and to 
avoid harm to bat activity and other wildlife. 
 
The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated thereafter only in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason: To avoid harm to bats and wildlife in accordance with policies NE3 and D8 of the 
placemaking plan. 
 
13 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans:  
 
Proposed site plan- P 002- P04 
Proposed ground floor- P 101- P04 
Proposed first floor- P 102- P04 
Proposed roof plan- P 103- P04 
Proposed north east elevation- P 201- P04 
Proposed north west elevation- P 202- P04 
Proposed south west elevation- P 203- P04 
Proposed south east elevation- P204- P04 
Proposed section AA- P 204- P04 
Proposed section BB- P 302- P04 
 
Existing site plan 
Existing ground floor plan 
Existing roof plan 
Existing elevations 01 
Existing elevations 02 
Existing section AA 
Existing section BB 
Existing section CC 
Location plan 
 
 2 Biodiversity Net Gain - Exempt/Not required 
 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is 
that planning permission granted for development of land in England is deemed to have 
been granted subject to the condition (biodiversity gain condition) that development may 
not begin unless: 
 
(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  
 

Page 30



There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity 
Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 
(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024. 
 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will not 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because one 
or more of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements is/are considered to 
apply. 
 
 3 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 4 Community Infrastructure Levy - General Note for all Development 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. CIL may apply to new 
developments granted by way of planning permission as well as by general consent 
(permitted development) and may apply to change of use permissions and certain 
extensions. Before commencing any development on site you should ensure you are 
familiar with the CIL process. If the development approved by this permission is CIL liable 
there are requirements to assume liability and notify the Council before any development 
commences.  
 
Do not commence development until you been notified in writing by the Council that you 
have complied with CIL; failure to comply with the regulations can result in surcharges, 

Page 31



interest and additional payments being added and will result in the forfeiture of any 
instalment payment periods and other reliefs which may have been granted.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy - Exemptions and Reliefs Claims 
 
The CIL regulations are non-discretionary in respect of exemption claims. If you are 
intending to claim a relief or exemption from CIL (such as a "self-build relief") it is 
important that you understand and follow the correct procedure before commencing any 
development on site. You must apply for any relief and have it approved in writing by the 
Council then notify the Council of the intended start date before you start work on site. 
Once development has commenced you will be unable to claim any reliefs retrospectively 
and CIL will become payable in full along with any surcharges and mandatory interest 
charges. If you commence development after making an exemption or relief claim but 
before the claim is approved, the claim will be forfeited and cannot be reinstated. 
 
Full details about the CIL Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent 
out in a CIL Liability Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available 
here: www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil. If you have any queries about CIL please email 
cil@BATHNES.GOV.UK 
 
 5 Responding to Climate Change (Informative): 
 
The council is committed to responding to climate change. You are advised to consider 
sustainable construction when undertaking the approved development and consider using 
measures aimed at minimising carbon emissions and impacts on climate change. 
 
 6 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 

Page 32



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Planning Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

7th May 2025 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Louise Morris - Head of Planning & Building Control  

TITLE: APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION  

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Head of Planning about applications/proposals for Planning Permission etc.  The 
papers are available for inspection online at http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 
application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 8

http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/


[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
 
 

01 24/03831/FUL 
30 April 2025 

Pines Way (Bath) LLP 
Homebase , Pines Way, Westmoreland, 
Bath, Bath And North East Somerset 
Redevelopment of the site to provide 
residential dwellings (Class C3), shared 
living (Sui Generis), flexible commercial 
floorspace (Use Class E), amenity 
space, car and cycle parking provision, 
with pedestrian and vehicular access, 
servicing arrangements, public realm 
works, landscaping and associated 
works. 

Oldfield Park Isabel 
Daone 

Delegate to 
PERMIT 

 
02 24/03894/FUL 

9 May 2025 
PACE Yeti Energy Limited 
Parcel 2882, Water Lane, Paulton, 
Bristol, Bath And North East Somerset 
Temporary installation of ground-
mounted solar photovoltaic (PV) farm 
with battery storage along with 
continued agricultural use, ancillary 
infrastructure and security fencing, 
landscaping provision, ecological 
enhancements and associated works. 

Midsomer 
Norton North 

Isabel 
Daone 

PERMIT 

 
03 24/02841/FUL 

14 February 2025 
Mr F Shellard 
Storage Compound, Little Horse Croft 
Farm, Ford Road, Wellow, Bath 
Retention of contractors compound as 
additional agricultural hard standing. 

Bathavon 
South 

Danielle 
Milsom 

PERMIT 

 
04 24/04465/FUL 

11 April 2025 
MS Julie Griffin 
The Hollies , Charlton Road, 
Keynsham, Bath And North East 
Somerset, BS31 2JA 
Subdivision of land and conversion of 
existing residential annexe to dwelling 

Keynsham 
North 

Christopher 
Masters 

PERMIT 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING ON APPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT 

 
 

Item No:   01 

Application No: 24/03831/FUL 

Site Location: Homebase  Pines Way Westmoreland Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Oldfield Park  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Ian Halsall  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Redevelopment of the site to provide residential dwellings (Class C3), 
shared living (Sui Generis), flexible commercial floorspace (Use Class 
E), amenity space, car and cycle parking provision, with pedestrian 
and vehicular access, servicing arrangements, public realm works, 
landscaping and associated works. 

Constraints: Article 4 HMO, Colerne Airfield Buffer, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Policy 
B1 Bath Enterprise Area, Policy B2 Bath Central Area, Policy B4 
WHS - Indicative Extent, Policy B4 WHS - Boundary, British 
Waterways Major and EIA, British Waterways Minor and 
Householders, Contaminated Land, Policy CP9 Affordable Housing, 
District Heating Priority Area, Flood Zone 2, Flood Zone 3, HMO 
Stage 1 Test Area (Stage 2 Test Req), LLFA - Flood Risk 

Page 35



Management, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Policy NE1 Green 
Infrastructure Network, Policy NE1 Green Infrastructure Network, 
Policy NE2A Landscapes and the green set, Policy NE3 SNCI 200m 
Buffer, Ecological Networks Policy NE5, NRN Wetland Strategic 
Network Policy NE5, Placemaking Plan Allocated Sites, River Avon 
and Kennet & Avon Canal, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, Tree 
Preservation Order,  

Applicant:  Pines Way (Bath) LLP 

Expiry Date:  30th April 2025 

Case Officer: Isabel Daone 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
REPORT 
This application seeks full planning permission to redevelop the existing 'Homebase' site 
in central Bath and provide a mixed-use development, which principally includes 
residential build to rent dwellings (use class C3) and shared living accommodation (use 
class Sui Generis). Alongside the residential provision, flexible commercial floorspace 
(use class E) is also proposed, as well as amenity space, car and cycle parking provision, 
servicing arrangements, public realm works, landscaping and associated works. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the term "shared living" is an interchangeable term for "co-living". This 
report refers to the development as "shared living" as this reflects the description of 
development. 
 
The site measures 1.8ha (4.45 acres) in area and was, until early 2023, occupied by a 
large Homebase retail shed which ceased trading in August 2020 as well as its substantial 
associated surface car park and landscaping. The Homebase building has now been 
demolished.  
 
The surrounding land uses are mixed, with residential dwellings located immediately to the 
north and north-west, a petrol filling station to the south west, offices buildings (Pinesgate) 
to the south and the Sainsburys car park immediately adjacent to the east.  
 
The site is situated with the designated Enterprise Zone and Bath Central Area; it is not 
however within the designated City Centre. The site is also situated within the City of Bath 
UNESCO World Heritage Site and Great Spa Towns of Europe UNESCO World Heritage 
Site but is not within the conservation area, though is close to its boundary. The River 
Avon passes in close proximity to the north eastern boundary, as does a pedestrian 
walkway along the river which links the Sainsburys car park with the adjacent Bath 
Western Riverside (BWR) development. There are also a number of listed buildings within 
close proximity to the site, include Grade II* listed Norfolk Crescent. 
 
In more detail, the proposed scheme encompasses: 
 
- 275 Build to Rent (BTR) units (C3 use) 
- 179 Shared Living units (sui generis) 
- Associated shared spaces 
- 1126m3 of flexible retail and/or office floorspace (E use) 
- 51 car parking spaces 
- 704 cycle parking spaces 

Page 36

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/details.html?refval=24/03831/FUL#details_Section


- 1 car club space 
- Private amenity space 
- Landscaping including publicly assessable connections through the site and new 
public spaces 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment 
 
In 2024 the Local Planning Authority received a formal EIA (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Screening Opinion request (Ref: 24/02081/SCREEN). The application 
sought formal determination as to whether that development required an EIA. The council 
concluded at that time that the development was not EIA development and as such a 
formal EIA/ES was not required. The current proposal differs from that described in the 
2024 Screening Opinion in terms of the proposal design and unit numbers but not 
significantly so. The Council similarly considers that the current proposal is not EIA 
development. 
 
Reason for Committee 
 
The application is accompanied by a Viability Assessment and, as per the Council's 
Planning Scheme of Delegation, should be debated and decided by the B&NES Planning 
Committee.  
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
The site has been subject to a number of planning applications and advertisement 
consents historically, many of which relate to the now demolished Homebase building. A 
full list of planning history can be found on the Council's website and the applications most 
relevant to the current proposal are listed below: 
 
19/04643/DEM 
Permission not required: 20 November 2019 
Demolition of the Homebase retail warehouse 
 
20/00259/FUL 
Refused: 5 January 2021 
Allowed on appeal: 2 September 2021 
Redevelopment of the site to provide a new care community (Use Class C2) comprising 
care residences and care suites and ancillary communal, care and well-being facilities, 
offices in Use Class E(g)(i) together with associated back of house and service areas, 
pedestrian and vehicular access, car and cycle parking, landscaping, private amenity 
space and public open space. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses:  
 
ACTIVE TRAVEL ENGLAND: 
 
23rd December 2024 - standing advice provided 
 
7th March 2025 - standing advice provided 

Page 37



 
ARBORICULTURE: 
 
7th November 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
24th December 2024 - Scope for revision/No objection subject to conditions 
 
17th March 2025 - Same comments provided 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY: 
 
No objection, subject to conditions 
 
AVON AND SOMERSET POLICE: 
 
No objection, subject to comments 
 
AVON FIRE AND RESCUE: 
 
No objection subject to contribution (S106) 
 
CONTAMINATED LAND: 
 
15th January 2025 - No objection subject to conditions. 
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOODING: 
 
17th December 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
10th December 2024 - No objection, subject to condition 
 
ECOLOGY: 
 
15th November 2024 - Further information required (objection) 
 
15th April 2025 - No objection subject to conditions 
 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT: 
 
7th November 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
18th December 2024 - Comments made 
 
EDUCATION SERVICES: 
 
No objection.  
 
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY: 
 
20th November 2024 - Objection 

Page 38



 
30th January 2025 - No objection 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL MONITORING: 
 
13th November 2024 - No objection, subject to conditions 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION: 
 
4th November 2024 - No objection, subject to conditions.  
 
HIGHWAYS: 
 
13th November 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
28th February 2025 - No objection, subject to conditions 
 
HISTORIC ENGLAND: 
 
28th November 2024 - Historic England has concerns regarding the application on 
heritage grounds. We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need 
to be addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 201 
and 212 of the NPPF. 
 
23rd December 2024 - No further comment at this time 
 
17th January 2025 - Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage 
grounds. 
 
20th March 2025 - No objection, subject to materials condition.  
 
GULL MANAGEMENT: 
 
No objection subject to conditions 
 
NATURAL ENGLAND: 
 
31st October 2024 - Objection (further information required) 
 
18th February 2025 - Further information required 
 
15th April 2025 - No objection, subject to mitigation being secured. 
 
PARKS AND GREENSPACES: 
 
13th November 2024 - No objection subject to conditions and contribution (S106) 
 
PLANNING POLICY: 
 
14th November 2024 - Scope for revision 

Page 39



 
SUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION: 
 
13th November 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
9th December 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
31st March 2025 - Scope for revision 
 
URBAN DESIGN and LANDSCAPE: 
 
13th November 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
21st March 2025 - No objection subject to conditions 
 
UNESCO WORLD HERITAGE CENTRE: 
 
20th December 2024 - Overall ICOMOS supports HE's response but considers that it 
needs strengthening to give the Planning Committee a clearer idea of why what has been 
put forward is inappropriate and what might be an appropriate revised approach to the 
development of this site that could mitigate the negative impacts of the current proposals. 
 
WORLD HERITAGE OFFICER: 
 
3rd December 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
Representations Received :  
 
TRANSITION BATH: 
 
3 objection comments have been received from Transition Bath, summarised as follows: 
 
- We support implementation of reasonable insulation standards, heat pumps, 
mechanical ventilation with heat recover 
- We support limited car parking availability 
- We support good potential for walking and cycling access 
- Solar PV will not equitably be distributed to the residents to reduce energy bills 
- Lack of viability assessment and commitment to affordable housing 
- No affordable housing proposed 
- High embodied energy 
- Should commit to 50% affordable housing 
- Car clubs should be increased 
- Overheating is not in compliance 
- Alternative loop for cycle path unacceptable 
 
BATH PRESERVATION TRUST: 
 
Two objections have been received from the Bath Preservation Trust and are summarised 
as follows: 
 

Page 40



December 2024 comment conclusions: 
 
BPT was encouraged by the approach of the developer at pre-app to spatial layout and 
overall design and this position has not changed. However, given the stark lack of 
affordable housing provision in Bath, it is essential that all new developments contribute to 
the B&NES Council affordable housing targets where it is possible to do so.  
 
The application should not be approved as in its current format the submission lacks 
information relating to affordable housing provision/viability that will allow a 
comprehensive and appropriate consideration of the scheme to be undertaken.  
 
Furthermore, in the absence of a viability assessment it is difficult to quantify equivalence 
in relative build costs which has significant implications relating to design quality. Design 
Excellence and affordable housing provision should a matter deal with transparently 
through planning rather than left as reserved matters or delegated as a decision.  
 
Secondary to the above, the scheme is contrary to the Bath Building Heights Strategy 
(B&NES Council: 2010), and the height and massing neither positively enhances or 
sufficiently reflects the local townscape character and harms the significance of the World 
Heritage Sites.  
 
The application is contrary to section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(December: 2023), B&NES Council policies D1, D2, HE1, CP9, CP10 (Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan, incorporating the Local Plan Partial Update (Volume 1: District-wide 
Strategy and Policies) (January 2023) and B&NES Council policy B4 (Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan, incorporating the Local Plan Partial Update (Volume 2: Bath) (January 
2023). 
 
March 2025 comment conclusions: 
 
We recognise the benefit of housing provision on this brownfield site; however, there is not 
enough information relating to the provision of affordable housing to enable the planning 
committee or B&NES officers to make an informed decision.  
 
Harm to the World Heritage Site should be avoided and mitigated. And where harm is 
identified it must be outweighed by very clearly defined and validated public benefits. 
There is not enough information to assess harm verses benefit. New buildings in the 
World Heritage Sites should not only minimise harm, but they should also strive to 
enhance the sites special qualities and be exceptional design quality. The development as 
proposed would not achieve this.  
 
The application is contrary to section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(December: 2023), B&NES Council policies D1, D2, HE1, CP9, CP10 (Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan, incorporating the Local Plan Partial Update (Volume 1: District-wide 
Strategy and Policies) (January 2023) and B&NES Council policy B4 (Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan, incorporating the Local Plan Partial Update (Volume 2: Bath) (January 
2023). 
 
WALK RIDE BATH: Comment 
 

Page 41



All best efforts should be made with Crest to ensure that the potential cycle link on their 
land is secured to ensure the optimum STR routing desire line at that point, which will in 
practice be used by cyclists as the most direct route. Better for all that it be formally 
adopted and surfaced than become an informal muddy mess. 
 
3 comments of support have been received, summarised as follows: 
 
- Previously developed site being put to use 
- Footpath through the site is being preserved 
- Bath is in urgent need of rental accomodation 
- Accomodation type meets a recognised need 
- Height in keeping with surrounding area 
- Cycle spaces will encourage residents to make use of active transportation 
- Brickwork in keeping with the industrial history of the site 
 
7 other comments of objection have been received, summarised as follows: 
 
- Too high and unattractive buildings 
- Height not in keeping with Albert Terrace and Victoria Bridge Road 
- Lack of parking 
- Shared living will not solve the housing crisis 
- Sufficient shared living in Bath 
- Not aimed at young families or low/medium income families 
- No affordable housing proposed 
- Concerns about use of shared living by students 
- Insufficient services for the community  
- Insufficient informatiom around class E use 
- Vehicle route to Sainsburys could cause conflicts 
- Trip generation underestimated 
- Underwhelming architecture 
- Materials not appropriate 
- More trees should be retained 
- Impact on views of the Royal Cresent from the surrounding hills  
- Threat to World Heritage Site Outstanding Universal Values 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update (2023) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
CORE STRATEGY: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 

Page 42



CP5: Flood Risk Management  
CP6: Environmental Quality 
CP9: Affordable Housing  
CP10: Housing Mix 
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 
PLACEMAKING PLAN: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
SB7: Green Park Station West (SB7A) and Sydenham Park (SB7B) 
B1: Bath Spatial Strategy 
BD1: Bath Design Policy 
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban fabric 
D4: Streets and spaces  
D6: Amenity 
D10: Public realm  
HE1: Historic environment  
LCR9: Increasing the provision of local food growing   
PCS1: Pollution and nuisance  
PCS2: Noise and vibration  
PCS3: Air quality  
SCR2: Roof-mounted/ building integrated scale solar PV 
SCR5: Water efficiency 
ST2: Sustainable transport routes  
SU1: Sustainable drainage policy 
 
LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: 
 
The Local Plan Partial Update for Bath and North East Somerset Council was adopted on 
19th January 2023. The Local Plan Partial Update has introduced a number of new 
policies and updated some of the policies contained with the Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan. The following policies of the Local Plan Partial Update are relevant to 
this proposal:  
 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
CP1: Retrofitting Existing Buildings 
CP3: Renewable Energy 
CP4: District Heating  
CP7: Green infrastructure 
D5: Building design  
D8: Lighting  
H7: Housing accessibility 
LCR6: New and replacement sports and recreational facilities  
NE1: Development and green infrastructure  
NE2: Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character  

Page 43



NE3: Sites, species, and habitats 
NE3a: Biodiversity Net Gain 
NE5: Ecological networks 
NE6: Trees and woodland conservation  
PCS5: Contamination  
SCR6: Sustainable Construction Policy for New Build Residential Development 
SCR7: Sustainable Construction Policy for New Build Non-Residential Buildings 
SCR8: Embodied Carbon 
SCR9: Electric Vehicles Charging Infrastructure 
ST1: Promoting Sustainable Travel 
ST2A: Recreational routes  
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development  
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS:  
 
The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 
Sustainable Construction Checklist Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
The City of Bath World Heritage Site Setting Supplementary Planning Document (August 
2021)  
 
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023) 
 
NATIONAL POLICY: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration. Due 
consideration has been given to the provisions of the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG). 
 
LISTED BUILDINGS: 
 
In addition, there is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.'   
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS: 
  
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 

Page 44



LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Table of contents: 
 
1. Application context 
2. Principle of development 
3. Student exclusion 
4. Affordable housing 
5. Housing accessibility 
6. Housing Mix 
7. Design and appearance 
8. Impact on heritage assets 
9. Residential amenity 
10. Gull management 
11. Air quality 
12. Highways 
13. Ecology 
14. Arboriculture 
15. Parks and green spaces 
16. Education 
17. Flood risk and drainage 
18. Archaeology 
19. Contaminated land 
20. Sustainable construction 
21. Planning obligations 
22. Public sector equality duty 
23. Planning balance and conclusion 
 
1. Application Context 
 
The application site was the subject of a previous planning application (20/00259/FUL) for 
the redevelopment of the site to provide a new care community (Use Class C2) 
comprising care residences and care suites and ancillary communal, care and well-being 
facilities, offices in Use Class E(g)(i) together with associated back of house and service 
areas, pedestrian and vehicular access, car and cycle parking, landscaping, private 
amenity space and public open space.  
 
This was refused by Planning Committee in January 2021 but allowed on appeal in 
September 2021. The permission was not implemented and is not extant, having expired 
in September 2024. However, it is still a material consideration in the assessment of the 
current planning application and members are therefore requested to have regard to this 
decision during their assessment of the application which is before them.  

Page 45



 
The appeal itself set out some useful parameters for levels of heritage harm which were 
accepted during the course of the appeal, as well as other design parameters which are of 
relevance here. Further discussions are set out within the report below.  
 
 
2. Principle of Development 
 
Policy DW1 of the Placemaking Plan sets out the overarching strategy for B&NES to 
promote sustainable development, which directs new housing, jobs and community 
facilities within Bath, Keynsham the Somer Valley. For Bath specifically, policy B1 sets out 
its spatial strategy, enabling the development of around 7,020 new homes concentrating 
the distribution mainly on larger sites within the central area, then larger sites on the outer 
neighbourhoods and smaller scale intensification within the existing urban area.  
 
The NPPF sets out at paragraph 11 that all plans and decision should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision taking this means: 
 
"c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or 
 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important in determining the application are out-of-date (8), granting permission unless: 
 
i) The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole, having 
particular regard to key policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making 
effective use of land, securing well-designed places and providing affordable homes, 
individually or in combination 
 
Footnote (8) of the NPPF clarifies that this includes, for applications involving the provision 
of housing, situations where: the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year 
supply of deliverable housing sites.  
 
In December 2024, the Government published the revised National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). The published changes aim to tackle the country's acute housing 
crisis and stimulate economic growth. In order to determine housing need for each Local 
Authority, the standard method set out in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) is 
applied. This was updated as part of the changes and, as a result, the amount of housing 
that Bath and North East Somerset (B&NES) are required to plan for through the Local 
Plan has significant increased by an uplift of 105%. The NPPF and PPG requires that 
Local Authorities must be able to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. B&NES was, 
prior to the changes, in the process of consulting on options for housing sites for the new 
Local Plan, which sought to set out the district's strategy for development over the next 20 
year period. Whilst the plan does not solely focus on housing, it is relevant that the plan 
demonstrates sufficient land supply for housing in the district. As a result of the significant 
uplift in housing requirements, the spatial strategy for the district within this plan needs to 
be reviewed and the new Local Plan timeline has been delayed.  

Page 46



 
The housing trajectory for the year 2025-2026 has not yet been calculated or published. 
However, early analysis and forecasting suggests that, due to the significant changes to 
the standard methodology and uplift in the Council's housing targets, it is considered likely 
that, from April 2025, the Council will not be able to demonstrate that they have a 5 year 
housing land supply, as required by National Policy. Therefore, the most important policies 
for determining this application are to be considered out-of-date.  
 
Officers consider that this development for housing would engage paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF and the scheme must be considered within the context of paragraph 11(d)(ii). This 
will be further explored in the planning balance section of this report.  
 
Site allocation: 
 
The application site is identified for comprehensive mixed-use redevelopment in the 
council's Placemaking Plan (Policy SB7). The application site together with the adjacent 
Pinesgate office development, the Pinesgate Industrial Estate, the Sainsbury's petrol filling 
station and those parts of Sainsbury's car park south/west of the river, form the 
'Sydenham Park' element of the allocation. The Sainsbury's retail store and Green Park 
station also form part of the wider Policy SB7 allocation and are referred to as 'Green Park 
Station West' but the detailed development requirements are dealt with separately to 
Sydenham Park. 
 
Policy SB7 allocates the whole of Green Park Station West & Sydenham Park for mixed-
use development comprising employment, residential and retail uses. In respect of uses, 
the detailed development requirements for Sydenham Park (of which the application site 
forms only part) are 
specified as follows: 
 
- Residential development (over 500 units) 
- Employment floorspace of around 14,000sqm GIA; 
- Retail of around 7000sqm net sales floor space; 
- A hotel of around 150 beds 
- Complementary food and drink establishments 
 
It is important to note that Policy SB7 does not specify the nature of the requisite 
residential development other than explicitly ruling-out student accommodation; as such 
the policy is open to residential development falling within Use Class C3 (dwellings) and/or 
Use Class C2 (residential 
institutions) and indeed any use that is residential in nature falling somewhere in between.  
 
Shared living is a relatively new type of residential accommodation emerging as an 
alternative approach to delivering high quality rental accommodation in accessible 
locations. Market analysis by Knight Frank (The Co-Living Report, 2024) found that last 
year, nearly 2,500 new co-living beds were completed and opened to residents, reflecting 
a 65% increase on co-living delivery in 2022. This takes the total number of operational 
co-living homes in the UK to 7,540. A further 13,483 co-living units are currently under 
construction or have planning permission granted.  
 

Page 47



Shared living accommodation typically provides residents with a smaller independent self-
contained living unit, supplemented by access to shared communal living areas and 
amenities in the wider building complex. Schemes provide residents with access to a 
flexible yet independent form of housing, that includes high-quality modern 
accommodation and amenities, at more affordable rates and in accessible and central 
locations close to work and lifestyle amenities.  
 
Shared living falls within sui generis use class but is considered to be a residential 
development typology which would be permissible under the allocation policy.  
 
Similarly, Policy SB7 does not specify the nature of the employment floor space nor the 
nature of the retail development (i.e. convenience or comparison goods); there is therefore 
substantial flexibility within the broad uses that have been specified. 
 
The proposed development comprises 275 build to rent units and 179 shared living units. 
As above, both of these dwelling typologies are considered to be in a residential use as 
required by policy SB7.  
 
1126m3 of flexible retail and/or office floorspace is also proposed and this would be within 
Class E use. Class E covers a broad range of uses, all of which would likely generate 
employment and/or provide a retail offering. It is not considered necessary to restrict the 
uses within Class E, nor reasonable given the flexibility within the policy.  
 
The quantum of proposed development is below that specified by Policy SB7. For housing 
land supply purposes, shared living accommodation is treated as "non-conventional" 
supply. This means that, generally, a 1.8:1 ratio is applied, which means that 1.8 
bedrooms are counted as a single dwelling. The proposal is for 179 shared living units 
which equates to around 99 traditional dwellings. The total number of "traditional" 
dwellings proposed by this development is 374 residences, against the 500+ required and 
1126sqm of employment/retail floorspace is proposed against the 14,000sqm required 
and no hotel accommodation is proposed. The number of dwellings proposed, even with 
the shared living "non-conventional" ratio proposed is uplifted from the previous scheme.  
 
The Economic Development team have raised concern that the current proposals 
represent a loss in the level of employment at the site, when compared to the previous 
permission. The previous permission was for a care facility, which in itself would have 
generated employment, as well as office use. The current proposals will clearly generate 
less employment than previously proposed. Whilst the reduction the amount of likely 
generated employment is less than the previously approved scheme, it essential to note 
that the Homebase site itself constitutes less than half of the wider Sydenham Park 
allocation. The remainder of the SB7 allocation, which includes the Pinesgate offices, 
Pinesgate Industrial Estate, the substantial Sainsburys overflow car park and Petrol Filling 
Station, has sufficient capacity to accommodate the remaining quantum of development 
required by the policy. Indeed, this was common ground between parties during the 
course of the 2021 appeal (APP/F0114/W/21/3268794).  
 
The development being proposed as part of this application would not compromise the 
future redevelopment of any of these sites in the allocated area. Whilst the reduction in the 
amount of employment space when compared to the previously approved scheme is 
regrettable, it is not reason to refuse the application, given that the allocation 

Page 48



encompasses a much wider area which is capable of being delivered separately from this 
application.  
 
It is therefore considered that, in so far as it relates to the principle of development, the 
scheme complies with policy SB7. The principle of development in this location is 
acceptable. 
 
 
3. Student Exclusion 
 
Policy SB7 clearly states that "purpose built student accommodation in this area is not 
acceptable as this would impede the delivery of other Council objectives". The proposal is 
not for purpose built student accommodation (PBSA), but it has been raised by third 
parties and some consultees that Shared Living provides a similar accommodation 
typology to PBSA and there is concern that the development could result in PBSA 'by the 
backdoor'.  
 
Whilst shared living accommodation is a relatively new accommodation type to B&NES, it 
is a more common typology in London. In February 2024, the Large-scale purpose-built 
shared living London Plan Guidance document was published which although not relevant 
to B&NES, does provide a useful guide in setting out how shared living accommodation 
differs from self-contained housing and PBSA. The guidance makes clear that shared 
living has an emphasis on communal living, with large-scale shared dining, recreation and 
workspaces being provided to offset the smaller unit sizes. In terms of student 
accommodation, shared living does not focus on student needs in the same way that 
PBSA does and would not have a link to the universities. The main differences between it 
and PBSA can therefore be summarised as: 
 
- Greater flexibility in tenancies and terms in co-living schemes 
- More integration with the public in shared living (for example co-working and café 
areas) 
- Lack of nomination agreements with the universities 
 
From discussion with the applicant, it has been indicated that they would not agree to a 
clause in a S106 agreement which directly restricts students. They have cited concerns in 
terms of part time students, mature students who may be returning to university, or people 
undertaking studies alongside full time work. This has been noted by officers. As a 
compromise, it is suggested that a S106 agreement can still restrict student occupation 
through clauses which ensure that no nomination agreement can be made with any 
university, and marketing information for the co-living units is provided to the Council to 
ensure that units are not being marketed to students. It is considered that this is a 
reasonable approach, given that the development is not for PBSA and should there be a 
relatively high level student occupancy levels within the development, then this could 
constitute a change of use and be dealt with via planning enforcement.  
 
 
4. Affordable Housing 
 
Policy CP9 has regard to affordable housing. It states that affordable housing will be 
required as on-site provision in developments of 10 dwellings or 0.5 hectare and above 

Page 49



(the lower threshold applies). The site is located in an area where the policy requires a 
30% target of affordable housing. 
 
Policy CP9 goes onto set out that the viability of the proposed development should be 
taken into account, including;  
- Whether grant or another public subsidy is available;  
- Whether there are exceptional build or other development costs;  
- The achievement of other planning objectives; and 
- The tenure and size mix of the affordable housing to be provided. 
 
The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) sets out the main principles for undertaking 
viability assessments. It sets out that a "Viability assessment is a process of assessing 
whether a site is financially viable, by looking at whether the value generated by a 
development is more than the cost of developing it. This includes looking at the key 
elements of gross development value, costs, land value, landowner premium, and 
developer return…Any viability assessment should follow the government's recommended 
approach to assessing viability as set out in this National Planning Guidance and be 
proportionate, simple, transparent and publicly available. Improving transparency of data 
associated with viability assessment will, over time, improve the data available for future 
assessment as well as provide more accountability regarding how viability informs 
decision making…In plan making and decision making viability helps to strike a balance 
between the aspirations of developers and landowners, in terms of returns against risk, 
and the aims of the planning system to secure maximum benefits in the public interest 
through the granting of planning permission." 
 
A "Pre-application Viability Assessment" (DS2, dated 5th September 2024) was submitted 
to the Council in respect of the scheme. This assessment was based on a previous 
iteration of the proposed development which was presented to the Council at pre-
application. As the scheme has developed, amendments to the proposals have taken 
place which have resulted in minor adjustments to the viability assessment. Given the 
changes have not resulted in significant changes to the viability position, it was agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority that an updated viability position letter could be 
submitted, as opposed to a new, full viability assessment. This letter, also from DS2, is 
dated 5th March 2025 and reflects the current scheme.  
 
The "Pre-application Viability Assessment" (PVA) has been assessed by independent 
viability assessors, Dixon Searle Partnership (DSP). The submitted PVA, based on a 
100% market scheme with no affordable housing, sets out that the scheme produces a 
(negative) residual land value of -£36, 378, 686. The PVA notes that the site has a 
potential value in its existing use as car parking or open storage, however at this stage it 
assumes a nominal benchmark land value (BLV) of £1. When the deficit is deducted from 
the assumed profit, the scheme produces a net loss of approximately £13.9 million. The 
PVA comments that "the applicant is prepared to take a long-term view regarding delivery 
of the Proposed Development that over time and with future rental growth and yield 
compression for the residential uses (particularly co-living, which is in its infancy as an 
investment asset), the development is more deliverable". It is not within the remit of the 
Local Planning Authority to conclude where there is sufficient justification for the applicant 
to pursue a scheme financially and it must simply conclude the viability position of the 
scheme in terms of affordable housing offering.  
 

Page 50



DSP agree with many of the assumptions set out within the PVA. However, there are a 
number of areas where a difference of opinion between DSP and DS2 exist which can be 
summarised as follows (set out in detail in paragraph 4.1.2 of DSP's appraisal): 
 
- Benchmark Land Value should be set at £3 million, not nominal £1 
- Gross Development Value of the Build to Rent, Co-living and the commercial units 
- Purchaser's costs 
- Construction costs 
- Agent's marking and legal fees 
- Developer's profit 
 
DSP have therefore set what they consider to be more realistic assumptions in regard of 
the above during their viability testing. Applying DSP's assumptions, there is a deficit of -
£30, 060, 185. Whilst this is a difference of around £6 million when compared to DS2's 
assessment, it is clear that the scheme is financially unviable to support affordable 
housing, based on the pre-application scheme and this is agreed between both parties. 
DSP have 'sensitivity tested' their results and even with the most 'bullish' of yields (such as 
those seen in prime London schemes), the scheme does not move to a viability positive 
position.  
 
The amendments to the scheme following revisions to address officer comment have 
resulted in changes to the viability assessment, as set out in the "Updated Viability 
Position" letter (DS2, 5th March 2025) (herein called the UVP). The UVP sets out a slight 
improvement in the viability position of the scheme. Using DS2's figures, the scheme as 
presented to the Committee would result in a (negative) residual land value of -£35, 939, 
755. Using DSP's assumptions, this figure would be -£29, 008, 946. This is accepted by 
the Local Planning Authority and the scheme is clearly unviable for affordable housing.  
 
Notwithstanding, the applicant has considered their viability position in the context of the 
required S106 contributions which are set out later in this report and an affordable housing 
offering as set out within the updated Heads of Terms. The applicant has offered a 
commuted of £1 million and has factored this into their viability position. Discussions have 
taken place with the Council's housing team as to whether units could be offered onsite, or 
whether a commuted sum would be more appropriate in this case. Given the predicted 
rents of the scheme and the fact that co-living would not be desirable to Registered 
Providers as an affordable housing typology, a commuted sum is in this case preferred by 
the Council. The commuted sum can be used by the Council to deliver affordable housing 
offsite, and this is welcomed and can be considered a benefit of the proposed 
development. It should also be noted that the previous scheme, which was for Care 
Provision (use class C2) delivered no affordable housing provision either on or off-site, as 
this was not a requirement for that use class. 
 
Given the viability position, it is considered that the commuted sum of £1million is 
appropriate in this case and the scheme is compliant with policy CP9.  
 
 
5. Housing Accessibility 
 
Local Plan Partial Update policy H7 requires 5.6% of dwellings to be built to Building 
Regulation M4(3)(2a) standard (wheelchair adaptable housing). Therefore, 15 of the 275 

Page 51



proposed C3 dwellings must meet enhanced accessibility standards. The applicant is 
proposing that 17 of the units will comply with M4(3)(2a) standards, located in building B2. 
Page 89 of the Design and Access Statement sets out that a proportion of the shared 
living units are designed to be accessible, aligning with the requirements of Volume 2 of 
the Building Regulations and BS8300. Given the typology of shared living and that the 
number of M4(3)(2a) units are in excess of the requirement for the C3 units, this is 
accepted. 
 
The policy also states that 48% of the remainder of housing, after the M4(3)(2a) figure has 
been accounted for, must meet the M4(2) accessible and adaptable dwellings standard. 
Therefore, 125 of the 275 proposed dwellings must meet enhanced accessibility 
standards. The developer has set out that, with the exception of the duplexes, all of their 
C3 residential dwellings will comply with M4(2) standards, which equates to 246 dwellings.  
 
This can be secured by Condition. The scheme is considered to comply with policy H7 of 
the Local Plan Partial Update.  
 
 
6. Housing Mix 
 
Policy CP10 of the Development Plan states that new housing development, both market 
and affordable must provide for a variety of housing types, tenure and size to 
accommodate a range of different households. 
 
The development provides a variety of housing types, including BTR and shared living, as 
well as delivering a range of dwelling sizes (1-3 bedrooms). There is a mix of housing 
types in the surrounding area and the development is considered to accord with policy 
CP10.  
 
 
7. Design and Appearance 
 
The vision for the Sydenham Park (SB7) allocation is to create a new city quarter, that 
responds to the residential development at BWR and represents a confident new stage in 
the evolution of the city.  
 
There is a clear narrative provided within the Design and Access Statement which 
explains the evolution of the design proposals and sets out how they have been informed 
by extensive pre-application discussion with the Local Planning Authority, engagement 
with the public and through Design West Design Review Panel. Revised plans have been 
submitted during the course of the application to address concerns raised with regard to 
the roof form and building D.  
 
Policy CP6 is the Core Strategy's overarching policy dealing with environmental quality; 
this seeks to secure, amongst other things, high quality inclusive design. Policies D1-D5 
set out the Council's detailed urban design policies; these policies collectively seek to 
secure high-quality design which is appropriate to its context. In particular, Policy D2 
supports development which contributes positively to and does not harm local character 
and distinctiveness; it prescribes that development is expected to positively respond to 
site context and improve areas of poor design. 

Page 52



 
Policy D2 requires design to respond appropriately to urban morphology, including 
amongst other things block and plot patterns; mix of uses, building heights, massing and 
scale, and local vernacular. In respect of density, Policy D2 is clear that the density of new 
schemes must be compatible with the character of the area but equally the policy 
encourages higher densities in accessible locations with good local facilities, on order to 
make an efficient use of land. 
 
Policy BD1 (the Bath Design Policy) is clear that submissions must explain how the Bath 
design values have informed the proposed design approach including its aesthetics, 
building form, use, materials and detailing. It must also be explained how the height and 
scale of the proposal has respected, responded and positively contributed to the character 
of Bath, including Bath's heritage, it's values and views. In addition, Policy BD1 requires 
proposals to explain how proposals maintain the significance, integrity and authenticity of 
the World Heritage Site as well as preserve or enhance the character or appearance of 
the conservation area. 
 
 
Site Layout 
 
Four buildings are proposed within the development site as follows: 
 
- Block A; located in the northern part of the site, broken down into buildings A1, A2 
and A3 on the proposed plans 
- Block B; the central block which is separated into buildings B1 and B2 on the 
proposed plans 
- Block C; the "Gateway Building", located in the eastern part of the site 
- Block D; the "Prow Building", located in the southern part of the site adjacent to 
Pines Way 
 
The design principles set out in policy SB7 make clear that Sydenham Park Street will be 
the central public realm feature of the new development. It should be a key green 
infrastructure corridor, serve as a high quality pedestrian and cycle route and active 
frontages at ground floor level in this area should be provided.  
 
The proposed Sydenham Park Street is located to the south of Building B and will be 
framed by this building and Building D to the south. It has been designed so as to provide 
a pedestrian and cycle link through the site, which can continue into the adjacent 
Sainsburys Car Park Site, through the existing tree lined avenue and beyond. Whilst the 
entrance to Sydenham Park Street from the west is fairly narrow, it opens up into an area 
which is between around 9-14m wide. Landscaping is proposed to the south which will 
provide an attractive green edge to this area of public realm. In addition, commercial 
spaces are proposed along the ground floor of the southern elevation of Building B. This, 
coupled with the striking metalwork along this elevation, will provide for a bold, active 
frontage in this location which has the potential to create a bustling thoroughfare through 
this part of the site. Whilst the location of Building B is slightly further south than the 
previously approved scheme, thus providing a lesser width for Sydenham Park Street, this 
has had the advantage of opening up views of the green hills in other parts of the site, 
which will be discussed in more detail later within this report. Notwithstanding, it is 

Page 53



considered that the proposed Sydenham Park Street achieves the aspirations of the policy 
with regard to providing an attractive and usable route through the site.  
 
As well as Sydenham Park Street, the layout incorporates a number of other streets and 
spaces which provide east-west and north-south routes through the site. These will 
connect the adjacent BWR development with Green Park and beyond into the city, as 
required by policy SB7. In the northern part of the site, Midland Terrace runs east west 
and is flanked by Buildings A and B. This street integrates landscaped area and seating. It 
is noted that this route will be able to be used by vehicles which is unfortunate given its 
clear intention to form a critical pedestrian route within the site. However, Sainsburys 
currently have a route of access across the site and the applicant has utilised design to 
attempt to slow vehicles in this area. In reality, as set out in the Highways section in this 
report, the usage of this street by traffic is likely to be low and this is accepted. The 
northern elevation of Building B will feature much of the shared amenity spaces for the 
shared living and BTR which will help to create a vibrant atmosphere in this location.  
 
Lockett Walk runs north-south to the east of Building B and will provide a link from Midland 
Terrace to Sydenham Park Street. This borders the adjacent Sainsburys Car Park, and it 
is considered that the siting of this street would not preclude development coming forward 
on this site in the future.  
 
The layout also provides external amenity space for future residents. To the north of 
Building A is a private amenity area for the residents of these properties. Within the 
courtyard of Building B is a podium garden which provides amenity of the BTR residents. 
There are other pockets of landscaping within the development, as well as seating areas 
within the public realm which will encourage interaction between residents.  
 
Overall, it is therefore considered that the layout complies with the aspirations of policy 
SB7 and the overall layout makes efficient use of the site, whilst providing substantial 
connectivity links for active travel.   
 
Architectural approach 
 
The site context is influenced by the scale, massing and materials of the adjacent BWR 
development to the west. The BWR development includes buildings of up to 8-storeys and 
features a range of materials included Bath Stone and metal cladding. To the north of the 
site is Albert Terrace, Western Terrace and The Mews which range to four storeys in 
height, feature a contemporary design with light material finishes.  
 
The proposed development, in similar fashion to the previously approved scheme, follows 
an industrial design aesthetic which is intended to reflect the historic uses of the site. It 
does not seek to be a pastiche of the Georgian architecture found elsewhere within the 
city. The applicant has undertaken a significant amount of work analysing the architectural 
setting of the site and interpreting the industrial heritage. This is set out clearly within 
Section 5 of the Design and Access Statement.  
 
The predominant external facing materials for the elevations is brickwork as well as metal 
cladding, which is prominent at ground floor level, as well as within the roofscape. Policy 
SB7 states that this area, "has a significant opportunity to provide a distinct and 
contrasting built character to the city centre". Policy SB7 goes on to state that, "this 

Page 54



includes the potential of introducing different building forms or typologies and different 
building materials that can respond to the visual homogeneity of the city". In the context of 
the previously approved scheme, and pre-application discussions with the Council, the 
overall industrial approach to the design is considered to be acceptable.  
 
The use of brick across the development has caused concern with some consultees, 
namely Historic England and the Council's Planning Policy Officer. Third parties such as a 
the Bath Preservation Trust have also expressed concern. It is noted that the Bath 
Western Riverside Supplementary Planning Document essentially prohibits the use of 
brick and sheet metal within this area. The Inspector concluded in their decision for the 
previous appeal at the site that sheet metal was a "widespread, prominent" material within 
the BWR development and, in relation to the BWR SDP that "bearing this in mind, as well 
as its use at Albert Crescent/Western Terrace and the extensive corrugated metal 
sheeting of Green Park Station, I find that this aspect of the guidance can only be given 
limited weight when the evolving character of this area is taken into account". In terms of 
brick, the appeal decision concluded at paragraphs 26 and 27 the following: 
 
"Turning to the matter of buff brick, the established character and therefore the relevance 
of the BWRSPD is less equivocal and I accept that it is not a frequently encountered 
material in the locale. However, there is a tension with SB7(B) which notes that 'the 
location would benefit from a clear identity and point of differentiation, one with a strongly 
defined built environment'. In urban design terms, it is hard to see how the use of a light-
coloured brick and pointing would fail to meet this requirement or how the use of an 
alternative facing material, such as Bath Stone, would result in anything other than a bland 
contextualisation lacking clear differentiation and identity. 
 
Consequently, I find that both brick and sheet metal would offer a more honest and 
grounded expression of the industrial heritage of the site which is visually and 
topographically distinct from the Georgian City and, as such, is capable of accommodating 
a greater degree of townscape change and the adoption of a more clearly articulated 
identity." 
 
Therefore, whilst concerns about the extensive use of brick are acknowledged, given the 
context of the site physically, and in the context of the previous appeal, it is not considered 
by officers that the use of brick is inappropriate nor refusable in this location. There has 
been some discussion about the colour of the brickwork as presented within the scheme, 
and a condition can secure samples.  
 
There will be a varied street-scene character throughout the development. The corners of 
Building B are clearly defined by bronze-toned metal work, which provides a striking 
entrance to this part of the site. This is in contrast to the brickwork above and officers 
consider that the use of materials helps to break up the massing in this location, providing 
significant design interest and a contemporary approach to the industrial design. 
Metalwork is also proposed around Sydenham Park Street, particularly along the active 
frontages which is supported.  
 
Overall, the architectural approach to the scheme achieves the aspirations of Policy SB7 
and provides an appropriate design response within the context.  
 
 

Page 55



Scale, height and massing 
 
The Bath Building Heights Strategy (BBHS) states that in this area building heights are 
recommended to be five storeys (where the top storey is set back and designed to be read 
as roof). It goes on to recommend however that an additional storey (i.e. six storeys in 
total) may be acceptable along the Lower Bristol Road except where it is in close proximity 
to existing 2-3 storey residential areas. It also states that an additional storey (i.e. six 
storeys in total) may be appropriate when fronting public space or marking key locations 
such as corners or gateways and mixed-use centres.  
 
The storey heights of the development are as follows: 
 
- Block A; four storeys at the ends of the block (A1 and A2) and two storeys across 
the central element of the block (A3) 
- Block B; six storeys, inclusive of the roof in parts 
- Block C; four storeys 
- Block D; six storeys, inclusive of the roof 
 
The previous appeal scheme at the site ranged from two to six storeys, though had a 
different distribution of massing across the site, reacting to the layout proposed within that 
application.  
 
The Council's Principal World Heritage Site Officer has raised concern with regard to the 
scale and massing of the development, and Historic England and ICOMOS also raised 
some concern. Following these comments, officers have negotiated a series of design 
changes to the roofscape which Historic England note "that these are minor 
improvements; the proposed mansard roofs would be slightly less assertive, and slightly 
more domestic in character, under the revised proposals".  
 
It is considered that, following the design amendments, the roofscape and use of materials 
sufficiently break up the massing of the six storey blocks and provide good variation 
across the site. The six storey buildings front public spaces on Sydenham Park Street and 
key corners and gateways, such as Pines Way and the Gyratory. In this respect, 
therefore, the scheme is considered to comply with the BBHS. 
 
Furthermore, the application site forms part of the original Bath Western Riverside site and 
as such is covered by its associated SPD (Supplementary Planning Document) (March 
2008) which includes, amongst other things, a set of Design Codes.  The SPD is now over 
12 years old and is therefore considered to be of limited weight however its Design Codes, 
particularly in respect of height, remain of interest.  The Design Codes state that buildings 
on the river frontage should be of 5-8 storeys in height with a variety in heights required to 
break up the massing here.  The central parts of the site are also identified in the Design 
Codes as being suitable for buildings of 5-8 storeys.  It is evident that the proposals are in 
accordance with the BWR Design Codes in respect of height however as stated, these 
Design Codes should now only be afforded limited weight.  
 
The BBHS goes on to state however that it may be necessary for building heights to be 
less than four storeys in this zone in response to heritage assets, residential amenity and 
to prevent intrusions into views; it also goes on to state that development along the 
riverside should be subservient to the Georgian city. Whilst heritage will be assessed in 

Page 56



detail in the Heritage section of this report, it is considered appropriate to turn to an 
assessment of the impact of the development on viewpoints and wider views to explore 
the acceptability of the scale and massing from this perspective.  
 
A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) accompanies this submission. It 
follows accepted methodology and the scope of the LVIA and selection of viewpoints for 
assessment accords with agreement reached with the Local Planning Authority during 
pre-application discussion. Viewpoint descriptions and assessment of effect are based on 
winter views, in accordance with best practice. A series of Visually Verified Montages 
(VVMs) have been provided, covering local views and longer-distance views from around 
the city. The VVMs include montages of the consented appeal scheme showing outline 
and massing for purposes of comparison.  
 
On the basis that the site is located within an existing urban area, is subject to established 
regeneration policies and is adjacent to public highways, it was agreed at pre-application 
stage that nighttime effects in terms of landscape character and visual amenity were not 
substantive issues and did not require further consideration in the LVIA. 
 
When compared with the landscape and visual effects of the consented scheme, the 
current proposals would similarly result in some benefits and some disbenefits. The 
differences between the two schemes are minor in this respect. 
 
Particular attention is drawn to viewpoints 8a and 8b which are taken from Stothert 
Avenue to the west of the development within the BWR scheme. These viewpoints look 
toward the development. It is considered that the proposed scheme offers a significant 
improvement here, providing a more direct line of site down Stothert Avenue, which 
continues toward the city and still provides glimpses of the green hills beyond.  
 
Officers raised concern with regard to viewpoint 3, which looks along Pines Way toward 
Building D. The Council's Landscape and Urban Design Officer commented that although 
the external colour of the scheme was more successful that the previously approved 
scheme, the roofline was less articulated and successful. Following negotiation, the roof 
has been amended in this location, with articulation provided and the overall shoulder 
height of the building adjusted to create a roof which appears in proportion with the 
facades.  
 
For the consented scheme, a range of beneficial and adverse effects on character and on 
views were found. These were accepted by the Inspector during the course of the appeal. 
The same can be said for the current proposals. For both schemes, there are beneficial 
effects arising from positive regeneration but adverse effects due to increased height, 
massing and loss of views to surrounding hillsides. 
 
The LVIA summary tables for landscape assessment and visual assessment are given in 
Table 2 and Table 3 respectively in sections 9 and 10. The LVIA concludes that although 
there are some minor differences between the current proposals and the consented 
scheme, none of these differences are sufficient to alter the judgements of either 
magnitude of change or level of effect for any of the six landscape receptors or any of the 
thirteen visual receptors when the same methodology is applied. 
 

Page 57



Overall, the LVIA concludes therefore that there are no significant differences in extent or 
level of adverse and beneficial effects between the current proposals and the consented 
scheme. The Council's Landscape and Urban Design Officer agrees with the conclusions 
of the LVIA.  
 
The scale and massing of the proposed development is considered to respond and reflect 
the immediate context. The development will not appear incongruous when considered in 
relation to the adjacent BWR development. The amendments to the roof scape, 
particularly in relation to Building D have improved the quality of the scheme from the 
Pines Way Gyratory and reduced its visual impact in this location. The context of the 
previous appeal is also relevant, and a material consideration. The principle of six storeys 
was accepted during this appeal and whilst the scale and massing has a different 
distribution to the appeal scheme, the LVIA satisfactorily concludes that the level of 
adverse impact on the townscape will be similar.  
 
Site landscaping 
 
The landscape design approach set out in the illustrative masterplan Design and Access 
Statement (DAS) 04.4 and the aspirations for the seven different areas of external space 
are supported. The incorporation of SuDs (DAS 04.7) as an integral component of the 
landscape design proposals is welcome. The intention to adopt an integrated approach to 
landscape design and biodiversity enhancement is supported. 
 
At this stage, only illustrative landscape proposals have been provided, and detailed 
design proposals for hard and soft landscape will need to be secured via Condition. It will 
be critical at the detailed design stage to ensure that species for proposed new and 
replacement trees are carefully selected and that ground conditions (especially in hard 
surfaced areas), provisional of soil and irrigation are designed to optimise healthy growth 
and ensure that trees attain an ultimate size commensurate with the scale of the 
architecture and sufficient to realise the ambition to create 'green streets' and a 
landscape-focussed public realm. 
 
The design approach for Midland Terrace is set out in DAS 04.10 (pp113-114). The 
headline objective to 'create a residential street rich with urban greening as part of a 
multifunctional landscape' is supported but there are some concerns in relation to the 
balance between vehicular access and the creation of a landscape-oriented people-
friendly environment for this street. The illustrative landscape proposals show play 
features along this route (railway track play logs together with other play equipment and 
features). As set out in the DAS, there is a clear intention that this route should prioritise 
pedestrian and cycle movement and become a verdant street for people and one where 
children can safely play. However, other documents including the Vehicle Access Strategy 
Plan TA-10 show two-way vehicular access along Midland Terrace for refuse vehicles, 
delivery vehicles, fire tenders and private cars. In order to keep traffic speeds as low as 
possible and consequently fulfil the aspirations of the DAS, landscaping will be of 
particular importance in this area.  
 
The principles set out in DAS 04.18 for incorporation of heritage and wayfinding into the 
landscape design are supported, but it will be important to ensure that these are given 
sufficient prominence as the detailed landscape design proposals are brought forward and 
will imbue the whole design for the external environment, rather than being limited to 

Page 58



specific features at specific locations. For example, only two locations are suggested on 
the plan for 'found' items, but for a site of this size there would be scope to incorporate 
more, including for example in area 'F' ('Sydenham riverside'). Again, these matters can 
be dealt with via condition.  
 
A clear management strategy is critical to ensure successful establishment and long-term 
healthy growth and maturation of soft landscape elements and the achievement of 
landscape and ecological objectives for the site. A draft Landscape and Ecological 
Maintenance and Management Plan (LEMMP) has been provided. The purpose of the 
document as described in section 1.1 is considered appropriate. It confirms the 
expectation that the submission of a complete final version of the LEMMP will be required 
by Condition, that it will cover a minimum 30-year period and will be subject to regular 
monitoring review and updating as necessary, arrangements for which are outlined in this 
draft and will need to be refined and agreed as part of the final complete version of the 
Plan. 
 
The general approach to management responsibilities & review, monitoring & updating, 
and the production of long term management plans set out in sections 2.8, 2.9 and 2.10 is 
supported, but the text for section 2.8 should be amended to clarify that the approach will 
be to adopt a risk management strategy, i.e. to identify risks that might result in objectives 
not being met, and then identify actions needed to ensure that these risks will be 
appropriately avoided or mitigated. Clarification is also required as to exactly how the 
Local Planning Authority will be involved in the longer-term review and management 
processes, and it is noted that these details will be provided in the final version of the 
Plan. The principles for community and resident engagement set out in section 2.11 are 
welcomed, as is the commitment to the providing opportunities for ongoing involvement of 
the Local Planning Authority in future management. 
 
A full LEMP can be secured by way of condition.  
 
Design conclusion 
 
The layout, architectural approach, landscaping, scale and massing are considered to be 
an appropriate design response given the sites context. It is considered that the design of 
the scheme achieves the aspirations of policy SB7 in this regard and complies with the 
detailed design policies set out in the development plan. The scheme will have wider 
implications on heritage assets, and this is assessed in the Heritage section of the report 
below. 
 
 
8. Heritage Assets 
 
The application site is within the doubly inscribed UNESCO World Heritage Site but is 
outside of the City of Bath Conservation Area. The City of Bath World Heritage Site was 
inscribed in 1987, and The Great Spa Towns of Europe was inscribed onto the UNESCO 
World Heritage list in 2021: the inscription is a transnational serial nomination involving 11 
spa towns from 7 countries. All of the towns developed around natural mineral water 
springs.  
 

Page 59



The adjacent River Avon however forms the boundary of the conservation area and 
therefore the development sits within the setting of the conservation area and has the 
clear potential to affect it. 
 
The application site is situated immediately to the south of Norfolk Crescent (beyond the 
river), a Grade II* Georgian crescent dating from around 1810. Norfolk Crescent fronts 
onto Norfolk Crescent Green, a triangular green space adjoining the river. On the northern 
side of Norfolk Crescent Green is 1-8 Nelson Place which is a palace-fronted Grade II 
listed terrace of dwelling houses dating from 1805. To the rear of Norfolk Crescent is a 
terrace of dwelling houses known as Norfolk Buildings; these are Grade II listed and date 
from 1810-20. The proposed development is also within the setting of a number of Grade 
II listed buildings on Lower Bristol Road including Victoria Buildings, a terrace of early C19 
dwellings, as well as Victoria Bridge itself to the north, a Grade II* suspension bridge over 
the River Avon constructed in 1836. 
 
Consideration must be given to the effect the proposal might have on the attributes of the 
Outstanding Universal Value of the World Heritage Site and its setting. There are duties 
placed on the Council under; Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, when considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, that the local planning authority 
shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses; and, Section 72 (1) 
of the same Act to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the 
character of the surrounding Conservation Area. For the avoidance of doubt, the site is not 
within the Conservation Area and therefore, the duty with regard to Conservation Area 
does not apply. 
 
The setting of a heritage asset (as set out in the NPPF Annexe 2: Glossary) is 'the 
surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may 
change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a 
positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to 
appreciate that significance or may be neutral.' PPG advises that 'when assessing any 
application for development which may affect the setting of a heritage asset, local 
planning authorities may need to consider the implications of cumulative change.' 
 
Policy HE1 of the Placemaking Plan, alongside Policy CP6 of the Core Strategy, seeks to 
safeguard the district's heritage assets. Development should preserve or enhance those 
elements which contribute to the special character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area. Any harm must be justified and weighed against the public benefits of the proposal; 
great weight must be given to the preservation of the heritage asset in question. As stated 
above, Policy BD1 requires proposals to explain how proposals maintain the significance, 
integrity and authenticity of the World Heritage Site and preserve or enhance the 
character or appearance of the conservation area. 
 
Core Strategy Policy B4 deals with the World Heritage Site and its setting.  It is clear that 
there is a strong presumption against development that result in harm to the Outstanding 
Universal Values (OUVs) of the WHS.  It states that where a development proposal has a 
demonstrable public benefit that benefit must be weighed against the level of harm [in the 
decision-making process]. 
 

Page 60



Concerns were raised by Historic England and the Council's World Heritage Site Officer in 
respect of the scheme as originally submitted. The areas of concern raised principally 
relate to the following assets and their settings: 
 
- Norfolk Crescent 
- Bath Conservation Area 
- Bath World Heritage Site (City of Bath and Great Spa Towns of Europe 
inscriptions) 
 
The appeal scheme was refused on the basis of heritage harm but was allowed on 
appeal. The Inspector's decision deals with heritage in significant detail and is material to 
the consideration of this planning application. The Inspector dismissed the view that the 
appeal scheme resulted in harm to a number of assets, and focussed on the World 
Heritage Site, Conservation Area and Norfolk Crescent. It is considered that in the context 
of the current proposals, these are heritage assets which have the potential to be 
adversely affected by the scheme.  
 
World Heritage Site 
 
The World Heritage Site, doubly inscribed, is a designated heritage asset of the highest 
significant. The NPPF sets out at paragraph 212 that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset's conservation. The more important the asset, the greater 
that weight should be.  
 
The City of Bath and Great Spa Towns of Europe World Heritage Site Management Plan 
(2024-2030) (herein known as the WHSMP) sets out the attributes of the Outstanding 
Universal Value (OUV) of the World Heritage Site. The following attributes are of most 
relevance to this proposal: 
 
The City of Bath: 
- Georgian Town Planning 
- Georgian Architecture 
- The Green Setting of the City in a hollow in the hills 
 
The Great Spa Towns of Europe: 
- Therapeutic Spa Landscape, specifically the green and undeveloped hillsides 
surrounding the city 
 
As originally proposed, Historic England raised that, in their view, the proposals 
maintained the overall height, scale, orientation and materiality of the previously 
consented scheme, but achieved an increased articulation in terms of the massing of the 
larger blocks. Both they and the Council's World Heritage Officer noted that the 
development would result in harm to the attribute "the green setting of the City" and the 
attribute "Therapeutic Spa Landscapes". The views to the landscape, as a result of the 
proposal, would be compromised and therefore a critical aspect of how the World Heritage 
Site is experienced would be harmed. The harm identified would be less than substantial.  
 
Although Historic England did not notify the case formally to UNESCO via the World 
Heritage Centre in accordance with Paragraph 172 of the World Heritage Committee's 

Page 61



Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention, they did 
request an informal review of the scheme from them. The Council received a letter, dated 
20th December 2024, from the World Heritage Centre. This set out that ICOMOS 
supported Historic England's response to the scheme and that the current proposals 
would impact adversely on the OUV of the World Heritage Site.  
 
As a result, revisions were negotiated by the Case Officer and revised proposals were 
submitted. Whilst the revisions were relatively minor, they amended the roof forms to 
provide better articulation of the massing across the site and dealt with the roof form of 
Building D in particular.  
 
Historic England were re-consulted on the proposals. They have stated in their response 
that "Minor amendments have been made to the design of the proposed development in 
the form of refinements to the roofscape. We acknowledge that these are minor 
improvements; the proposed mansard roofs would be slightly less assertive, and slightly 
more domestic in character, under the revised proposals." Historic England also have 
concern with regard to the use of brick extensively across the site. However, the principle 
of brick in this location has been accepted through the appeal scheme and there are 
elements of metal work which break up the brick. Historic England do not object to the 
proposals on the basis that a condition should be imposed to control the use of materials 
and have requested the use of Bath Stone across parts of the development. A condition 
will be added securing material details; however, the use of Bath Stone has not been 
requested by officers for the aforementioned reasons.  
 
Despite the design amendments, which are positive, harm is still identified to the OUV of 
the World Heritage Site, specifically the attributes of "the green setting of the city" and the 
"therapeutic landscape" and this is consistent with the appeal scheme. Historic England 
describe the impact on the views toward the hills as "modest adverse" and consequently, 
the level of harm identified is less than substantial. Whilst there is no formal scale within 
less than substantial harm, Historic England have advised that they consider the level of 
harm to be at "the lower end".  
 
Paragraph 215 sets out that "where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing 
its optimum viable use". This heritage balance is undertaken toward the end of this section 
of the report.  
 
Bath Conservation Area 
 
The site is not within the Bath Conservation Area (BCA), the boundary of which is the 
bank of the River Avon. Clearly, however, the site is within its setting and has the potential 
to affect this asset. When assessing the impact to the Conservation Area in their decision 
for the appeal scheme, the Planning Inspector noted that ", I find that the setting of the 
BCA, insofar as it relates to this appeal, comprises the transitional, post-industrial river 
corridor that is characterised by modernist architectural forms juxtaposed with glimpses of 
the westernmost extent of the historic city, as experienced by the recreational users of the 
river corridor and the occupants of riverside dwellings." 
 

Page 62



Historic England maintain that the development would result in less than substantial harm 
to the Bath Conservation Area, a view shared by the Council's World Heritage Officer. 
During the course of the previous appeal, the Inspector concluded that:  
 
"Whilst the proposal would be visible from the BCA, I find that it would be clearly read 
within the context of the post-industrial river corridor and the modern placemaking of BWR 
and Albert Crescent/Western Terrace rather than as part of the Georgian city. This would 
be further re-enforced by the clear visual break provided by the river and its vegetation. I 
also find that the poor quality of the site currently detracts from the setting of the BCA and 
that this is exacerbated by its unkempt and derelict appearance. Consequently, I find that 
the proposal would have a positive effect on the immediate setting of the BCA and that 
this would consequently enhance its significance…" 
 
The current scheme is not the same as the previous development, but follows a similar 
storey height, albeit with a differing distribution of massing. The site has also evolved 
since the appeal scheme, with the Homebase building having been demolished. The site, 
however, does still have an unkempt appearance with hoarding present across the site. 
There are clear opportunities for the site to be enhanced as a result of the development. 
The VVMs set out in the LVIA are particularly useful when assessing the impact of the 
scheme when viewed from the Conservation Area. In particular VVM 5 (Nelson Place 
looking SW) which provides a localised view from Nelson Place and VVM View 12 
(Kelston View looking NE) which is a long-range view from Kelston View looking across 
the city. Both of these VVMs demonstrate that the current scheme is comparable to the 
previous scheme in terms of its impacts on Conservation Area. The site, as characterised 
by the Inspector, has more modern architectural forms which are juxtaposed with glimpses 
of the city. The proposed development would retain this.  
 
The Case Officer therefore concludes, on the basis of the current scheme in the context of 
the previous appeal decision, that the proposal would not cause harm to the character of 
the Bath Conservation Area.  
 
Norfolk Crescent 
 
Norfolk Crescent comprises two separate Grade II* listings (8-18 Norfolk Crescent and 
Cumberland House). In the previous appeal decision, the Inspector noted that "I find that 
the setting of Norfolk Crescent, insofar as it relates to this appeal, to be associated with 
the juxtaposition of this building with the green and nearby palace-fronted terrace of 
Nelson Place that is also attributed to John Palmer. They mark the westernmost extent of 
the Georgian city and have no planned, historic relationship with either the river or the 
land beyond which appears to have been deliberately screened from view in subsequent 
years by riverside tree planting. They are to be appreciated through movement in and 
around their immediate environs and through the glimpsed views across the river from its 
southern bank." 
 
As with the Bath Conservation Area, Historic England and the Council's World Heritage 
Officer have concluded that less than substantial harm is caused to the setting of this 
listed building, by way of the scale, massing and architectural approach. It is 
acknowledged by Historic England that the revisions have improved the scheme to a 
minor degree.  
 

Page 63



The VVMs set out in the LVIA are useful in aiding an assessment as to the impact upon 
Norfolk Crescent. The asset is separated from the development site by the River and 
intervening vegetation, which is an important factor in assessing the impact to its setting. 
Historic England raised similar conclusions in respect of this asset during the course of the 
previous appeal. The Inspector gave them careful consideration but concluded that the 
"proposal would be read as a clearly differentiated phase in the development of the city in 
an area that is able to accommodate new placemaking which has suffered from a post-
industrial legacy that has clearly detracted from the setting of at least one of these assets 
and thus its significance."  
 
Whilst the current proposals present a different scheme, the Inspector's conclusion is a 
material consideration. The development presents a lower height in the northernmost 
extent of the development to the appeal scheme and based on the VVMs, creates a 
similar level of impact as set out in the design section above. For these reasons, the Case 
Officer concludes that the development would not cause harm to the setting of Norfolk 
Crescent, when taking into account the existing context, scheme design and degree of 
separation between it and the site.  
 
Heritage balance 
 
As set out above, the proposed development will result in less than substantial harm to the 
World Heritage Site. The harm identified results from the reduction in visual connections 
between the edge of the Georgian city and the setting of the green hills which surround 
the city. 
 
Paragraph 213 of the NPPF (as echoed by the council's planning policies) states that, 
"any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration 
or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 
justification". It is considered that there is clear justification for the harm in this instance. 
The site and its surroundings for part of an allocation within the adopted development plan 
for a substantial quantum of development. It is clear that this quantum of development 
could not feasibly be accommodated with low rise buildings and therefore, interruption of 
the green hills is an inevitable consequence of development. The applicant has worked 
hard within their distribution of massing to retain glimpses of the hills.  
 
Paragraph 215, as set out above, is therefore engaged and the less than substantial harm 
must be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, giving great weight to the 
asset's conservation.  
 
There are a number of benefits which can be attributed to the proposals. The recent 
changes to the NPPF (December 2024) have resulted in B&NES, along with other 
authorities countrywide, need to accommodate a significantly increased number of houses 
across the next plan period than previously expected. The development will provide a 
substantial contribution toward housing supply both through the BTR element and shared 
living element. This social and economic benefit must be given significant weight in the 
heritage balance.  
 
The proposal also utilises a brownfield site, within a highly sustainable location. Paragraph 
124 of the NPPF sets out that planning decisions should promote effective use of land in 

Page 64



meeting the need for homes. The scheme represents an effective use of land, currently 
disused, which is also considered to be a public benefit.  
 
Furthermore, the developer has also proposed a financial contribution of £1 million toward 
affordable housing. Economic benefits of the provision of commercial units, co-working 
space, construction work and trade benefits should also be given significant weight. The 
scheme will also provide public realm improvements and improve connectivity across the 
site into the city, which will be a tangible benefit. The redevelopment of this site, if 
approved, will be the first step in the realisation of the wider Policy SB7 allocation and may 
act as a catalyst for the remainder of the Sydenham Park site to come forwarded. 
 
The public benefits identified above are, therefore, considered to outweigh the less than 
substantial harm identified to the World Heritage Site.  
 
With respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area the Council has a 
statutory requirement under Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that conservation area. The site is not within 
the BCA and therefore, this duty does not apply in this case. There is a duty placed on the 
Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
'In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting' to 'have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses.'  
 
For the reasons set out above, special attention has been paid to the desirability of 
preserving the referenced listed buildings (and their setting), the impact of the proposed 
development in this respect is considered to be acceptable for the aforementioned 
reasons.  
 
To conclude, the scheme is considered to comply with national and local heritage policy 
and will achieve acceptable heritage outcomes.  
 
 
9. Residential amenity 
 
Policy D6 of the Placemaking Plan states that development must provide for appropriate 
levels of amenity including ensuring that existing and proposed development has 
appropriate levels of privacy, outlook and natural light. It also seeks to ensure that 
significant harm is not caused to the amenities of existing or future residents in respect of 
loss of light, noise, odour, overlooking, traffic or other forms of disturbance. The policy 
requires development to incorporate adequate space and adequate/appropriate waste and 
recycling facilities (these matters are dealt with in the design section above). 
 
Policy PCS2 (noise and vibration) states that development will only be permitted where it 
does not cause unacceptable increases in noise/vibration that would have a significant 
adverse impact on health, quality of life, natural/built environment or general amenity. The 
policy also prescribes that 

Page 65



noise sensitive developments should avoid locations wherever possible where occupants 
would be subject to unacceptable levels of noise and vibration from an existing noise 
source. 
 
Industrial and commercial uses are present to the south and immediate east of the site 
including the Pinesgate office development, Pinesgate Industrial Estate, Sainsbury's petrol 
station and Sainsbury's car park; there is limited potential for an adverse impact on 
residential amenity here. To the west of the site are a number of residential properties on 
Victoria Bridge Road and Stothert Avenue; to the immediate north of the site and 
immediately adjoining it are a number of residential properties in Albert Crescent, Western 
Crescent and The Mews; there is the potential for the proposal to have an impact on both 
of these areas in respect of residential amenity. Further to the east beyond the river is the 
residential area centred on Norfolk Crescent; there is the potential, albeit limited, for the 
development to also have an impact on the amenity of these properties. 
 
Planning Committee refused the previous development on the basis that it would result in 
an "unacceptable adverse impact on the levels of residential amenity currently enjoyed by 
neighbouring residents in respect of loss of privacy/overlooking". The Planning Inspector 
considered this matter at length during the appeal process and concluded the following in 
their decision: 
 
"Drawing matters together, I find that significant harm would not be caused to the living 
conditions of nearby residents with respect to privacy, sunlight, daylight or noise and that 
the proposal would therefore be consistent with policy D6 of the DSP that seeks, among 
other things, to ensure that development achieves appropriate levels of privacy, outlook 
and natural light to existing occupiers as well as avoiding significant harm to the amenities 
of such individuals in terms of loss of light, increased noise and overlooking." 
 
Impact to the residential amenity - neighbouring occupiers 
There are residential properties located to the immediate north of the site within The Mews 
which is surrounded on three sides by Western Terrace and Albert Crescent. These 
residents have the potential to be most impacted by the development given their proximity 
to the site.  
 
Blocks, A1, A2, and A3 are sited in the northern part of the site and are closest to the 
adjoining boundary with the aforementioned properties. Blocks A1-A3 range in height from 
4 storeys at the eastern and western ends, to 2 storeys within the main part of the block. A 
Daylight and Sunlight Assessment accompanies the submission.  
 
The BRE guidelines advise that, when assessing any potential effects on surrounding 
properties, only those windows and rooms that have a 'reasonable expectation' of daylight 
and sunlight need to be considered. It sets out that the "guidelines given here are intended 
for use for rooms in adjoining dwellings where daylight is required, including living rooms, 
kitchens and bedrooms. Windows to bathrooms, toilets, storerooms, circulation areas and 
garages need not be analysed." 
 
The submitted assessment sets out that the BRE guidance acknowledges that windows 
with a predominantly northern orientation are unlikely to satisfy its targets and that main 
living rooms are most important. The study has therefore focussed on the relevant living 

Page 66



areas with windows facing within 90 degrees of due south only. This approach is 
accepted. 
 
The BRE guidance should be applied flexibly with consideration of a site's context. Its 
numerical targets can be applied to any development, however in more tightly constrained 
areas (such as urban areas), achieving the BRE targets can be more challenging. This is 
recognised within the guidance which defines itself as "advisory".  
 
For buildings that neighbour a new development, the guidance suggests that daylight will 
be adversely affected by the development, if either; its windows achieve a Vertical Skye 
Component (VSC) below 27% and have their levels reduced to less than 0.8 times their 
former value, or the levels of natural sunlight within rooms are reduced to less than 0.8 
times their former values. 
 
Western Terrace: 
Western Terrace is a four storey building which is located around 5.7m from the site 
boundary and around 19.1m from block A1 (four storeys). The submitted sunlight and 
daylight study conclude that it is demonstrated that there is full compliance with the BRE 
recommendations for all habitable rooms which is accepted. Whilst there will be some 
change in the outlook from these properties, the development is considered to be of a 
scale and massing that outlook will not be significantly impacted. The 19m degree of 
separation is considered sufficient to mitigate potentially significant adverse levels of 
overlooking in respect of these dwellings.  
 
Albert Cresent: 
Similar to Western Terrace, the sunlight and daylight study demonstrates that there is full 
compliance with the BRE guidance for all habitable rooms with regard to daylight and 
sunlight which is considered to be acceptable. No.8 Albert Terrace, which borders the 
north eastern corner of the site is located around 15m from block A1 at the closest point. 
There is the potential for some loss of outlook and privacy given the proximity of the 
buildings. However, in an urban built-up area, some degree of overlooking is to be 
expected and the buildings in this location have been kept to a height of 4 storeys. The 
angle of no.8 Albert Crescent in relation to block A2 means will also provide some 
mitigation of direct views. Taking all of this into account, it is not considered that the 
development would cause significant harm to the occupiers of Albert Terrace.  
 
The Mews: 
The Mews is located directly to the north of the site and faces into the development 
directly. It is located around 5.2m from the boundary and 25m from the northern elevation 
of block A3. Block A3 is proposed to be two storeys. Again, the daylight and sunlight study 
conclude that there is full compliance with the BRE guidance for all habitable rooms with 
regard to daylight and sunlight. The degree of separation and that fact that the proposed 
dwellings in block A3 are 2 storeys mean that there will not be significant levels of 
overlooking, nor loss of outlook to these dwellings.  
 
Beau House: 
Beau House is located to the west of the site, within the BWR development. Measuring 
from the site plan it is around 73m from Block B1 which is the 6 storey block in the 
western part of the site. It is considered to be sufficiently separated from the development 
so that there will not be a significant loss of light, and this is confirmed by the submitted 

Page 67



assessment. Again, there will be a change in outlook for these residents, but the site is 
separated from Beau House by amenity space and a wide road and therefore, the impacts 
are not considered significant.  
 
Palladian Building: 
The Palladian Building is also located to the west of the site, to the north of Beau House. 
This building is located around 41-43m from block A1, separated by Victoria Bridge Road. 
The assessment demonstrates that all by one room is in full compliance with the BRE 
guidance. The single deviation occurs in R18 on the lower ground floor, which serves a 
living/kitchen/dining area. The room presents a reduction of 0.73 of the former value, 
compared to the BRE guidance threshold of 0.8. This is a slight reduction from the 
guidance which should be applied flexibly in any given context. The scheme is located 
within the urban area of bath, where development is dense and built-up. In the context of 
the scheme as a whole therefore, this slight deviation from the guidance is considered to 
be acceptable in this case and the development would not result in significant levels of 
harm in this regard. It should also be noted that the previous permission included built 
form at a similar distance from these properties and the refusal of the application on the 
basis of residential amenity was not upheld. 
 
Neighbouring occupier's conclusion: 
The assessment concludes that the development would not result in significant levels of 
overshadowing to the neighbouring occupiers and across the whole development, there is 
only one neighbouring window which does not comply with the BRE guidance in terms of 
impacts to daylight and sunlight. This is only just below the guidance, which is not 
enshrined in policy and should be applied flexible. Construction noise will be temporary 
and can be controlled by condition. Officers therefore conclude that the development 
would not result in significant harm to the neighbouring occupiers in accordance with 
policy D6.  
 
Impact to the residential amenity - future occupiers 
Shared living: 
The amenity of the future residents of the shared living element of the proposals must also 
be considered. The concept of shared living is based on smaller levels of private 
accommodation, and this is supplemented by larger communal amenity areas. It must be 
acknowledged that the Council does not yet have adopted space standards specific to 
shared living accommodation, however the approach adopted by some other local 
authorities and in some relevant appeal decisions has been to apply the minimum 
Nationally Described Space Standards taking account of both studio and communal 
areas.  
 
The minimum size for a one-person, one-bedroom dwelling in the Nationally Described 
Space Standards is 37m2. The proposed shared living rooms range from 22m2 in size up 
to 37m2. The majority of the units sit at the lower end of the scale. In The Co Living 
Report (Knight Frank 2024), it was reported that rooms typically surpassed 18.5m2 in size 
and therefore, the size of the rooms in this development appear to be above average. The 
Design and Access Statement sets out that taking into account the internal and external 
amenity for the shared living residents, there was 4.9m2 per apartment. This equates to 
around 27m2 for each of the smaller apartments when taking both the bedroom and 
shared spaces into account. The amenity spaces for the shared living units are 

Page 68



concentrated on the ground and first floors, including a south facing terrace for residents 
on the first floor.  
 
The amount of space (communal and provide) per apartment can therefore be calculated 
at approximately 27m2. Whilst this is 10m2 less than the equivalent to the minimum 
acceptable size of a one-person, one-bedroom dwelling, it must be noted that the Council 
does not have any adopted guidance or policy in respect of shared living space standards. 
Local Authorities around the country have differing approaches to space standards. For 
example, Birmingham City Council's Large-Scale Purpose Built Shared Accommodation 
SPD sets out that bedspaces should be 25m2 and internal shared amenity 4.5m2. The 
London Large Scale Purpose Built Shared Living Accommodation SPD sets out that 
private units should be between 18m2 and 27m2, with 3-4m2 of private amenity space 
provided per unit. The scheme falls somewhere between the Birmingham and London 
guidance, which is not directly applicable for B&NES but can be used as useful guidance 
for officers.   
 
None of the proposed bedspaces are single aspect north facing and therefore occupants 
would have access to sufficient levels of natural light. Whilst the room sizes are relatively 
small, there are considered to be sufficient levels of shared amenity spaces, which are 
clustered so as to encourage social interaction. In the absence of adopted policy of 
guidance in B&NES the spaces are accepted.  
 
The studios themselves will be furnished with built in, space saving furniture to ensure 
residents can make efficient use of their private accommodation. Each studio includes a 
large window providing good access to light and outlook. The building will be fitted with a 
mechanically ventilated heat recovery system, providing fresh filtered air without the need 
for natural ventilation. A Noise Assessment has been submitted demonstrating the 
building can be constructed to provide an acceptable internal noise climate. This has been 
reviewed and agreed by the Council's Environmental Health team and would be secured 
by condition if permission was granted.     
 
Overall, it is considered that there would be sufficient levels of amenity provided  
 
Build to Rent (BTR): 
The proposed BTR units are a mix of 1, 2 and 3 bedroom units. There are also large areas 
of outdoor amenity space proposed to be shared between residents, with a private garden 
area to the north, and a private/communal garden at podium level in the centre of the 
development. The apartment sizes are considered to be typical for the development 
typology and officers do not have concerns about the future levels of amenity for these 
residents.  
 
Residential amenity conclusion 
 
The residential amenity of neighbouring and future occupiers has been carefully 
considered. It is considered that the scheme has been thoughtfully designed so as to 
respect the neighbouring occupiers and there has been much engagement by the 
developer with members of the public in respect of these matters. The future amenity of 
occupiers is also considered to be acceptable. As such, the scheme is considered to 
comply with policy D6.  
 

Page 69



10. Gull Management 
 
Page 171 of the Design and Access Statement acknowledges that gull management has 
been considered as part of the design development stage. However, there is no specific 
detail provided in terms of roof access for example.  
 
A gull management plan will therefore be required which identifies areas of potential 
nesting and perching points, including defining the specific gull proofing mitigation 
measures to be applied throughout the development, focussed on each building structures 
and a maintenance programme. This can be secure by way of a phased pre-occupation 
condition.  
 
 
11. Air Quality 
 
B&NES Council declared the Bath Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 2002 for 
exceedances of the annual mean Air Quality Assessment Level for nitrogen dioxide. The 
closest part of the AQMA is the Lower Bristol Road, which is around 6m to the south west 
of the site at the closest point.  
 
Policy PCS3 of the Placemaking Plan sets out that development will not be permitted 
where the proposal gives rise to polluting emission which would have an unacceptable 
adverse impact on air quality, health, the natural or built environment or local amenity of 
existing and proposed uses. Development should also not be proposed in locations where 
it would be at unacceptable risk from air pollution.  
 
An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted with the application, which has reviewed 
the impacts of the construction and operational phases of the development. It 
demonstrates that the monitoring is within the air quality objectives and the impact from 
changes to road traffic during the operational phase is negligible. It also shows that risk to 
future residents being exposed to poor air quality is not significant. 
 
Emergency generator 
The report discusses an emergency backup generator with unknown fuel type to be 
located on the roof of Block B and will be fitted with Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR) to 
reduce NOx emissions. An expected test schedule is given and can be secured by 
condition. The report recommends that the generator should have a maximum NOx 
emission rate of 5mg/sec and gives a number of best practice measures which should be 
followed e.g. contacting receptors with regard to testing; again, this can be secured by 
condition.  
 
Construction and development of the site 
The construction dust assessment (Section 5 and Appendix E), states that the risk of dust 
soiling is high and low for PM10 health effects but will be reduced to negligible with 
appropriate dust control measures listed in Appendix E. A Construction Environmental 
Management Plan can be secured by planning condition. 
 
Air Quality conclusion 
Overall, the scheme is considered to comply with policy PSC3 and the objections of the 
AQMA.  

Page 70



 
12.  Highways 
 
The proposal has been assessed against the relevant transport policy requirements set 
out in the Local Plan Partial Update; in particular policies ST1 and ST7. Additionally, the 
Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) provides relevant 
guidance relating to walking, cycling, parking standards ultralow vehicle emissions and 
travel plans.  
 
The Highway Authority requires that any future transport evidence submission should use 
the "Decide and Provide" approach to assessment. This aligns with the LPPU policy 
requirements and seeks to ensure that there is a good range of travel opportunities and a 
genuine alternative to private car usage. A comprehensive review of the travel demand 
generated by active travel and public transport use is a fundamental element of the 
assessment approach. This is emphasised by the requirements of policy ST7, which 
explains the approach to managing the transport needs relating to new development.  
 
The recently published guidance from the Department of Transport Active Travel England 
agency also provides direction in how active travel requirements for new developments 
should be considered, and the guidance presented is relevant to the assessment of the 
current proposal. 
 
The scheme has therefore been assessed against these policy requirements, and a key 
consideration is how the proposal would affect travel across the wider area. This is 
reviewed in detail within the following section.   
 
Site Vehicular Access 
 
The proposed site access arrangements are broadly consistent with the scheme that was 
considered by planning application 20/00259/FUL, allowed at appeal. There was no 
highway objection to the previous scheme.  
 
The proposed vehicular access to the site would be taken from the existing access, 
formed by a junction with Stothert Avenue. Due to an established "right of way" with an 
adjacent land owner (Sainsburys), there is a route for traffic passing through the site, 
however, it is likely that these flows will be very low and will probably reduce over time. 
The scheme has been designed to ensure that traffic speeds are managed throughout the 
site, and this should help to ensure that pedestrians and cyclists would have some priority 
over vehicles moving through the same space. 
 
Access to the main car parking area within the site is located a short distance from the 
junction with Stothert Avenue, and this should help to ensure that most of the 
development space is lightly trafficked.  
 
Pedestrian Access 
 
The submission is supported by an assessment of the local pedestrian network, and this 
has been included within the Transport Assessment (TA) document. This includes the 
relevant Active Travel England assessment toolkit and the Council's own Active Travel 

Page 71



Checklist. There are no significant concerns with this approach, and the site is clearly well 
connected with the surrounding pedestrian infrastructure. 
 
The pedestrian surveys, as summarised within the TA, demonstrate that the local routes 
already cater for a significant number of pedestrians, and the enhancement of the routes 
would be an important element of the proposal. There are no significant concerns 
regarding the proposed pedestrian arrangements, however, with changes being proposed 
to the site boundary there is a need to consider the detail of the Stothert Avenue boundary 
in some detail. Plan TA-03 shows the land ownership arrangements, and that the 
boundary along Pines Way will be separated from the adopted highway by third party 
land. The site boundary along the southern part of Stothert Avenue will abut the highway, 
and this will be opened to improve pedestrian access. There is likely to be a need to 
rearrange existing street furniture in response to changes at this location, and also to 
consider whether pedestrian crossing infrastructure, such as tactile paving, also needs to 
be adjusted. 
 
Cycle Access 
 
The submitted TA summarises the existing cycle network facilities that are located in the 
surrounding area and also reviews how the cycle routes through the proposed site access 
junction would be facilitated. There is need to ensure that the scheme can accommodate 
the relevant policy requirements, and LPPU Policy ST2 identifies the need to safeguard a 
key strategic cycle route through the site. As originally proposed, it was considered that 
the proposals did not deliver a reasonable cycle connection through the site. The originally 
proposed alignment along Stothert Avenue would not have been convenient for the 
majority of cyclists using the route, and it is not clear how the junction with Stothert 
Avenue could be adapted to safely accommodate cyclists. 
 
Revisions and further documentation were submitted in response to the concerns raised 
by Highways Officers in respect of the cycle connections through the site. This 
documentation further reviews the opportunities to provide the local policy requirement for 
the delivery of this key cycle route and reviews the options for providing this section of the 
route. It is recognised that there are various third-party land interests that will directly 
affect the delivery of the route in the development scenario and in the future, should 
adjacent land parcels come forward for redevelopment. 
 
Due to the importance of this section of the Policy ST2 Cycle Route, the arrangement 
presented within TA-17 raises some concern. In particular, it is likely that cyclists would 
ignore this alignment option, and that the more direct route at the north western corner of 
the site would be used. That clearly has some safety concerns, and conflict with 
pedestrians is a risk. In addition, the proposed route would have to utilise the main 
vehicular access to the site, and this also raises road safety concerns with increased 
interaction with vehicles accessing the site, parking activity and also using Stothert 
Avenue. 
 
The Highway Authority has consistently raised concerns regarding the missing cycle route 
connection to the west of the site. Officers note that the developer has approach the 
adjacent landowner (Crest Nicholson) and discussions with them are ongoing with regard 
to delivering this connection. Officers accept that the developer has been making 

Page 72



reasonable effort to resolve this issue and that land ownership matters are, to some 
extent, out of their control.  
 
Should there be no reasonable prospect of achieving a cycle link connection across this 
section of land (and it appears unlikely that this position would change over time), the 
Highway Authority would recommend that there needs to be a comprehensive review of 
how the Policy ST2 route can be delivered. 
 
The applicant has now provided further information relating to the delivery of the cycle 
route, including Drawing SK29, which shows how a cycle connection could be delivered 
on adjacent land. Officers have always accepted that some co-ordination will be required 
with landowners and a clause in the S106 agreement is suggested to ensure that these 
conversations continue following the granting of planning permission. The alternative route 
is therefore, on balance, accepted through the site.  
 
Framework Travel Plan 
 
The latest submission recommends that, given the site location and the very low car 
parking provision for all commercial uses, there would be no requirement or purpose for a 
full Travel Plan relating to these uses. Due to there being no potential for any travel mode 
shift away from private car use associated with these commercial land uses, this is 
considered to be acceptable in this instance. 
 
Travel Plan Implementation 
 
The Transport and Development SPD sets out that whilst developers will be responsible 
for the production of a Travel Plan for approval as part of the planning application process, 
there are two options available for the implementation of approved travel plans.  
 
It has been confirmed that the applicant will implement the Travel Plan, as described by 
Option 2 of the adopted Transport & Development Supplementary Planning Document. It 
is confirmed that the calculated Travel Plan Bond for the proposed 275 apartments for the 
rental market is £213,125.00 plus the non-refundable monitoring fee of £4,775.00. 
However, the applicant now proposes that this is reduced, given the type of development 
proposed, the site location and also the lower level of car parking that is proposed. The 
applicant proposes £37, 100 plus the non-refundable monitoring fee. The calculation is 
based on a total of 120 hours of officer input per year and the financial elements are 
developed using the cost rates presented in the SPD. An allowance has also been made 
for survey costs, using TRICS. The approach has been agreed with Highways Officers 
and the bond is considered to be an acceptable amount. 
 
Highways Conclusion 
 
Whilst the proposed cycle access route does not follow the direct line of ST2, as set out in 
diagram 10 of policy SB7, Officers recognise that discussions with landowners are 
ongoing and there is potential for this to be delivered. The alternative proposed has been 
accepted by the Highway Authority, on the proviso that the S106 agreement secures 
ongoing discussions which has been agreed with the applicant. As such, there is no 
highway objection to the proposals and the scheme is, on balance, considered to comply 
with the relevant highway policies.  

Page 73



 
13. Ecology 
 
Policy NE3 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to Sites, Species and Habitats and 
states that development which results in significant harm to biodiversity will not be 
permitted. For all developments, any harm to the nature conservation value of the site 
should be avoided where possible, before mitigation and/or compensation is considered. 
In addition, Policy NE3a of the Local Plan Partial Update relates to Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG). In the case of major developments, a BNG of a minimum of 10% must be 
demonstrated using the latest DEFRA metric (or agreed equivalent), by a suitably qualified 
and/or experienced ecologist. BNG will be secured in perpetuity (at least 30 years) and a 
management plan will be required detailing how the post-development biodiversity values 
of the site will be secured, managed and monitored in perpetuity. This is a mandatory 
requirement as set out by the provision of the Environment Act (2021); this must be 
secured by way of condition as set out in Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning 
1990 Act. 
 
Ecological Assessments 
 
The submitted Ecological Assessment (October 2024) sets out the ecological context of 
the site. A previous assessment was undertaken at the site in 2020 prior to the demolition 
of the Homebase building, which overall deemed that the stie had low potential for 
protected and notable species and habitats. The current assessment provides an update 
to this and includes a desk study, Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey, initial bat scoping 
assessment, habitat assessment of the site and immediate environs and an initial 
assessment of buildings and trees for their potential to support roosting bats.  
 
The conclusions of the survey findings and recommendations are accepted by officers. 
Details include proposed measures for the protection of two rare species of spider that 
were recorded at the site (Philodromus buxi and Cryptachaea blattea), including pre-
construction mitigation measures. These are supported and can be secured by way of 
planning condition.  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
The submitted Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) baseline habitats plan and assessment is 
accepted. The baseline assessment does not include use of the watercourse module, 
which is accepted, as the site boundary lies just beyond the edge of the 10m riparian zone 
at its nearest point. As originally proposed, the BNG metric failed the trading rules. An 
updated BNG report (BMD, February 2025) acknowledges the requirement for the trading 
rules to be met and that, consequently, there will be a need to purchase off-site units. This 
is accepted and can be secured by way of the standard BNG pre-commencement 
condition.  
 
The landscaping plans are, at this stage, indicative and full landscaping details are 
proposed to be secured by condition. It will be essential for the landscaping design and 
final details of on-site BNG provision to be in accordance with one another.  
 

Page 74



Overall, with the purchase of off-site units to meet the trading rules, the site will be meet 
the 10% biodiversity net gain requirement and complies with the provisions of the 
Environment Act and policy NE3a in this regard.  
 
Lighting and Habitats Regulations Assessment 
The proposed development site lies in close proximity to the River Avon, which is a Site of 
Nature Conservation Interest (SNCI) providing high value for ecology including aquatic 
ecology and associated riparian habitat and use by a wide range of aquatic and non-
aquatic wildlife and including protected species.  
 
Species know to use the river corridor through Bath include a wide range of bat species, 
and these include light sensitive species such as a horseshoe bats, which are considered 
to be associated with the Bath and Bradford on Avon Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 
Indeed, the River Avon itself provides supporting habitat to the SAC. As such, 
consideration is required to Regulation 63 of the Habitats Regulations, and the risk of any 
impact of a "likely significant effect" from the development on the SAC, or supporting 
habitat to the SAC, SAC bats or their activity.  
 
As originally submitted, the lighting information indicated that the light spill may exceed 
ecologically acceptable thresholds onto the River Avon and the risk of a "like significant 
effect" could not be ruled out. In response, additional lighting information has been 
submitted by the applicant including and updated "Lighting Pollution Statement" (Atelier 
Ten, version P05, March 2025) which includes a calculation illustrating how light spill from 
within buildings is predicted to impact an area that does not extend beyond a distance of 
9.07m from a building. This information is additional to the "External Lighting Calculations" 
provided within Appendix A of the "Lighting Pollution Statement".  
 
The calculations provided are based on indicative lighting plans but are considered 
sufficient at this stage to demonstrate the ability of the scheme to control light spill to 
within acceptable thresholds, such that the scheme will not harm the suitability of the River 
Avon and bankside habitats for use by SAC bats.  
 
A Shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment has been submitted (BMD, March 2025) and 
whilst the conclusions regarding the ability of the scheme to avoid harmful levels of light 
spill onto the River Avon are supported, the document also contains errors and statements 
which are supported. It is therefore recommended by the Council's Ecologist that the Local 
Planning Authority do not adopt this document in its entirety as the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment for the scheme.  
 
A HRA has therefore be produced by the Local Planning Authority as the Competent 
Authority. It is concluded that subject to suitable mitigation measures to ensure lighting 
design, use and light-spill levels onto the River Avon are controlled for the lifetime of the 
development (which can be secured by way of condition), the scheme will not have an 
adverse effect on the Bath and Bradford on Avon SAC, or supporting habitat to the SAC, 
either alone or in combination with other plans or projects.  
 
Natural England have reviewed the HRA produced by the Local Planning Authority and 
concur with the assessment conclusions, providing that all mitigation measures are 
appropriately secured.  
 

Page 75



The scheme is therefore considered, subject to recommended conditions, to be 
ecologically acceptable.  
 
 
14. Arboriculture 
 
Local Plan Partial Update policy NE6 has regard to trees and woodland conservation. 
Development should seek to avoid adverse impacts on trees and woodlands of wildlife, 
landscape, historic, amenity and productive or cultural value, as well as appropriately 
retaining trees and providing new tree planting. Development will only be permitted where 
it can be demonstrated that adverse impacts on trees are unavoidable to allow for 
development and that compensatory provision will be made in accordance with guidance 
within the Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (2023). Development 
proposals which directly or indirectly affect ancient woodland, and ancient or veteran trees 
will not be permitted.  
 
The existing Homebase car park contains a significant number of young/semi-mature 
Lime trees scattered across the site; these are mostly defined in the submitted 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) as Category C trees (low quality). There are a 
number of semi-mature trees alongside the River Avon; these are identified as Category B 
and C trees (medium and low quality). Also, off-site, within the adjoining Sainsbury's car 
park, is an avenue of mature London Plane Trees (mostly Category B trees) protected by 
a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). These are proposed to remain as existing. 
 
The scheme proposes the removal of 39 trees, this is less than the 43 proposed to be 
removed under the previous scheme. The majority of the trees to be removed are young 
specimens. The landscape scheme proposes 72 replacement trees across the site which 
exceeds the number required by the Council's tree replacement strategy. The policy 
requires 64 trees to be provided. As such, the additional tree planting over and above this 
requirement is welcomed.  
 
In response to the Arboricultural Officers original comments, a combined services plan 
has been provided and has been referred to within the Arboricultural Impact Assessment. 
This is supported.  
 
There is concern from the Council's Arboricultural Officer in respect of retained trees 
beyond the red line boundary and windows serving the southern elevation in building C. 
This concern is also the same for the separation distance between Building D and the four 
London Places to the south of the site. These London Planes are subject to a TPO ((Ref: 
500/297). The proposals are therefore likely to result in the need for pruning and cutting 
back of the trees adjacent to the southern elevation of Block C and the London Planes. 
This matter was addressed within the officer report for the previous scheme at the site, 
which concluded that "whilst the Arboricultural Officer's comments are noted, the need for 
the overhanging foliage to be pruned does not amount to an existential risk to the trees, 
The Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Impact Assessment will ensure the ongoing 
protection of these trees during demolition, construction and going forward, albeit pruned. 
The application accords with Policy NE6 in respect of arboricultural matters." 
 
It is somewhat disappointing that this matter has not been addressed within the current 
scheme. It is noted that there has been some amendment to the policy context for the 

Page 76



current proposals and policy NE6 was updated as part of the Local Plan Partial Update. 
However, the updates are not of an extent which would allow officers to draw a different 
conclusion to the previous permission. Increasing the distance between blocks C and D 
and the offsite trees would have significant implications for the design and layout of the 
proposals. Officers do not, therefore, consider that in the context of the allowed appeal, 
this would form a reason for refusal and conclude that the scheme complies with NE6.  
 
15. Parks and Green Spaces 
 
The Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document includes Green 
Infrastructure, Green Space and Recreational Facilities. The Green Space Strategy (2015) 
provides the evidence base for the supply of recreational green space in the area of the 
development related to the existing and projected population. Local Plan Partial Update 
policy LCR6 (new and replacement sports and recreational facilities) and Placemaking 
Plan policy LCR9 (increasing the provision of local food growing) provide the policy 
requirement for development to meet the recreational green space demands generated 
from proposed development.  
 
Green Space Demand Assessment 
 
The submitted proposals, assuming that the shared living units are single occupancy and 
applying a 2.3 population multiplier to the Build to Rent element, generate an estimated 
population of 813 people. This new population will generate the demand for the following 
quantities of green space: 
 
Allotments - 2439m2 
Amenity Green Space - 2439m2 
Parks and Recreation grounds - 10569m2 
Play Space (Children) - 406.5m2 
Play Space (Youth) - 243.9m2 
Natural Green Space - 10569m2 
 
This totals 26, 666.3m2 or 2.67 hectares of green space.  
 
On-site Greenspace 
 
Policy SB7 indicates through the concept diagram and design requirements and 
principles, that full provision f green space will not be expected to be provided on this site. 
A combination of on-site provision and off-site improvements will be necessary to meet 
resident's recreational needs for green space. 
 
Integrated play spaces are proposed within gardens and along the walking routes to offer 
the opportunity for doorstep play and play on the way. Paragraph 7.78 of the Planning 
Statement states that the proposal includes c.450m2 of integrated play space. Planting 
beds for community food growing are also proposed within the communal gardens, as well 
as fruit trees within the private / semi-private spaces. This is supported in principle and 
detailed plans can be conditioned. 
 
Play provision within the public realm will also need to be secured by condition for the 

Page 77



use by the wider public and maintained to the reasonable satisfaction of the council. 
Details can be contained within the LEMP. 
 
Existing provision 
 
The Green Space Strategy (2015) has assessed the existing supply of Park and 
Recreation Grounds in the Widcombe ward to be in deficit of -3.18 hectares. Elizabeth 
Park was constructed on the adjacent development. This will not, however, remove the 
deficit in the area of this development.  
 
Remaining Unmet Demand for Green Space Typologies 
 
The development proposal does not provide the full range and quantities of public green 
space to meet the demands generated from new residents and is reliant on existing off-
site provision for recreational needs.  
 
Policy LCR6 provides that where new development generates a need which cannot be 
met on-site or by existing provision, the developer will be required to either provide for, or 
to contribute to the provision of recreational open space and/or facilities to meet the need 
arising from the new development in accordance with the standards set out in the Green 
Space Strategy, and Planning Obligations SPD or successor documents. 
 
S106 Green Space Project Contribution 
 
The demand for recreational green space can be met through a S106 contribution; such a 
contribution was secured for the previous permission for the site. The CIL L Regulations 
requires that S106 contributions are used for an identified project related to the 
development. The Bath River Line is an urban green infrastructure project which aims to 
form a continuous 10km linear park through the heart of Bath. The project aims to connect 
and improve green spaces, including those at Norfolk Crescent and Green Park. Both 
green spaces are within walking distance of the development. The project also aims to 
improve wayfinding and interpretation and create a high-quality route for walking and 
cycling. In addition, by the time the proposals come to fruition, there will likely be other 
projects within the vicinity that contributions could fund or partially fund.  
 
The required contribution is calculated to be £897, 836.60. It is considered that this 
contribution passes the CIL 122 tests in that: 
 
- It is necessary to make the development acceptable; the scheme cannot meet its 
green space requirements on site, and the contribution therefore ensures compliance with 
policy LCR6.  
- Directly related to the development; the contribution is related to the development 
in that it will provide a contribution to off-site green space within the proximity of the site.  
- Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development; the contribution 
will be used for off-site green space and has been calculated on the basis of estimated 
population generated.  
 
The developer has agreed to this contribution and therefore, the scheme is considered to 
comply with the relevant green space policies.  
 

Page 78



16. Education 
 
The proposed development has the following generated education need, as calculated by 
the Council's Education Services Team, based, on the housing mix: 
 
1.118 Early Years children aged 0-1 
0.979 Early Years children aged 2 
4.194 Early Years children aged 3-4 
8.260 Primary School Age Pupils 
 
Current figures relating to the numbers of Early Years children and Primary School pupils 
and to available Early Years and Primary school capacity in the area of the development 
indicate that the children and pupils generated can be accommodated within existing 
provision. There is no objection from Education Services and no requirement for S106 
contributions in this regard, given the generated pupils can be accommodated. 
 
17. Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
The application site sits alongside the River Avon which is an Environment Agency Main 
River. The majority of the site falls within land identified by the Environment Agency as 
being at a medium risk of flooding i.e. Flood Zone 2. Flood Zone 2 is land identified as 
having between a 1 in 100 years and 1 in 1000 years risk of flooding. A small part of the 
site is identified as being within Flood Zone 1 i.e. low risk and this is located within the 
centre of the site, and the south western corner. 
 
Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy deals with flood risk management. This policy requires 
development to follow a sequential site-selection approach to ensure that vulnerable 
development avoids areas at risk of flooding; the policy explicitly directs development 
away from areas at the highest risk of flooding. In addition, Policy CP5 requires that where 
development does go ahead in areas at risk of flooding it be made safe throughout its 
lifetime. 
 
The NPPF sets out that a sequential risk-based approach should be taken to individual 
applications in areas known to be at risk now or in future from any form of flooding. It goes 
on the confirm at paragraph 180 that where applications come forward on allocated sites, 
the application of the sequential test is not necessary (because it has already been 
undertaken at the plan-making stage). As stated above the application site forms part of 
the Sydenham Park mixed-use allocation pursuant to Placemaking Plan Policy SB7; the 
sequential test is not necessary. 
 
Notwithstanding the fact that a sequential test is not required, it is necessary for the 
development to be appropriately flood resistant and resilient; incorporate sustainable 
drainage systems; residual risk managed safely and; that safe access and escape routes 
be included, in accordance with paragraph 181 of the NPPF. To this end, the submission 
is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (Hydrick, 2nd October 2024). An outline 
drainage strategy has also been submitted. This has been assessed by both the Lead 
Local Flood Authority and the Environment Agency, both of which have no objection to the 
proposals.  
 

Page 79



The submitted FRA concludes that the site is at "low" risk from fluvial flood sources (i.e., 
river flooding), as well as surface water, groundwater, sewer and artificial sources of 
flooding. The residential finished floor levels are to set at 600mm above the modelled 100-
year flood event (plus a 35% allowance for climate change). A small area of floodplain 
compensation has also been incorporated within the landscaped area to the north of the 
site to offset against the raising of some of the external levels.  
 
The submitted outline drainage strategy employs sustainable drainage elements. It 
confirms that betterment will be provided compared to the existing development with a 
reduced discharge rate and an increased standard of surface water attenuation based on 
the critical 1 in 100+45% climate change event. This is accepted in principle and a 
detailed strategy can be secured by condition.  
 
The development therefore complies with policies CP5 and SU1.  
18. Archaeology 
 
Policy HE1 seeks to safeguard the district's heritage assets including archaeological 
remains. It requires therefore, amongst other things, for archaeology to be sustained and 
enhanced and sufficient information to be submitted demonstrating how development 
proposals will contribute to an asset's conservation. Furthermore, the policy is clear that 
great weight is to be given to the conservation of a heritage asset and that any harm must 
be justified as well as weighed against the public benefits. More specifically to 
archaeology, Policy HE1 requires scheduled monuments or archaeology of equivalent 
significance to be preserved in situ; if this is not possible provision must be made for the 
remains' excavation and recording. 
 
This site was subject to archaeological evaluation in 2019 prior to determination of 
planning application 20/00259/FUL. The results indicated much of the site had been 
subject to disturbance that had removed or heavily impacted any significant archaeology. 
One trench, located in the north-west of the site revealed the presence of a possible 
Roman road (a postulated line of the Fosseway). This feature appeared to have been 
impacted by 20th century demolition works but was still considered of some significance 
as it relates to activity associated with Roman period Bath. 
 
Further excavations of the feature in October of 2024 took placed based on a Written 
Scheme of Investigation that involved extending the original trial trench to ensure a full 
record of the possible road. The excavations showed that the road in this area had been 
somewhat impacted by later development but still retained its lower surfaces and filled in 
side ditches. The road was encountered at c.2.5m depth and continues north from the 
excavation area into an area designated as landscaping within the development layout. As 
well as the road a partial stone structure was recorded laying underneath the landscaping 
area. As this northern continuation will be preserved under the landscaping scheme no 
further investigation took place of the structure. 
 
The excavation fully recorded the road and associated ditches in the area where possible 
impacts will take place, and no further investigation is warranted. In order to ensure that 
post-excavation analysis and publication of the results of the investigation a condition can 
be attached to permission that requires the developer to confirm funding for this work.  
19. Contaminated Land 
 

Page 80



The application site as stated above has been in a variety of industrial uses throughout the 
19th and 20th centuries; the potential for ground contamination and associated risks is 
therefore clear. Furthermore, the site is identified as a 'Site of Potential Concern', in 
respect of contaminated land, in the council's records. 
 
Policy PCS1 (pollution and nuisance) prescribes that development will only be permitted 
on the proviso that there is no unacceptable risk to the development from existing or 
potential pollution sources as well as no unacceptable risks of pollution arising from the 
development itself. Policy PCS5 (contamination) states that development will only be 
permitted on land known to be, or suspected to be, strongly contaminated provided that 
there is no significant harm or risk of significant harm to health or the environment; 
appropriate remediation measures are in place and harm can be suitably mitigated. 
 
A suite of documents was submitted within the previous planning application including a 
Phase 1 and Phase 2 Risk Assessment, a Remediation Implementation Plan, and a 
Controlled Waters Risk Assessment. The Council's Contaminated Land Officer agreed 
that further investigation was required, including in areas previously inaccessible due to 
the presence of the Homebase building.  
 
It was not clear from the submission whether an existing culvert was investigated, or 
whether an investigatory trawl exercise to inspect the ground areas of concern for 
underground tanks and structures had taken place as part of any enabling works. The 
applicant confirmed in an email on the 24th January 2025 as follows: 
 
"From the information shared by the previous owner during the acquisition of the site we 
do not believe that the culvert or surrounding area were investigated, however this is 
something we will be doing to understand ground conditions if we are successful with the 
planning application.  
This is the same position for the investigatory trawl exercise to inspect the ground in areas 
of concern for underground tanks and structures and associated contamination." 
 
This is accepted and can be secured by the conditions recommended at the end of this 
report. The Environment Agency have been consulted in respect of the Controlled Waters 
Risk Assessment and the Foundations Works Risk Assessment which relate to the risks to 
Controlled Waters posed by the development. They have raised no objection in this 
regard.  
 
The County of Avon Act gives Bath and North East Somerset Council (B&NES) powers to 
protect the natural thermal springs that arise under artesian pressure in the centre of Bath, 
from damage that could result from excavations, piling operations or boreholes in the Bath 
area. 
 
The areas of protection form three concentric zones. Within these zones consent from the 
Council is required for excavations of depths below the surface of the natural ground, 
exceeding 5m in the central zone around the Hot Springs, 15m in the zone along the river 
valley, and 50m in the outer zone as shown on the County of Avon Act map on the 
B&NES Council Website.  These are labelled as zones A, B & C respectively on the Avon 
Act map. 
 

Page 81



The site is within Zone A of the County of Avon Act, where excavation in excess of 5m 
below ground level requires prior consent of the Council. The County of Avon Act gives 
Bath and North East Somerset Council (B&NES) powers to protect the natural thermal 
springs that arise under artesian pressure in the centre of Bath, from damage that could 
result from excavations, piling operations or boreholes in the Bath area. An informative will 
be added in to the decision notice.  
 
It is noted in Section 6 (Foundation Design/County of Avon Act) of the Construction Phase 
RIP and Foundation Risk Assessment that the following is required "details of the final 
foundation solution and any consents obtained under the County of Avon Act for works 
>15.0 m BGL." As detailed above, the site is within Zone A of the County of Avon Act, 
where excavation in excess of 5m below ground level requires prior consent of the 
Council. 
 
Subject to a condition securing a verification report and reporting of any unexpected 
contamination, the scheme is considered to comply with the relevant contaminated land 
policies.  
20. Sustainable Construction 
 
The scheme provides is a mix of residential and non-residential development and policies 
SCR6 and SCR7 are applicable to the scheme. Additionally, the scheme is considered to 
be large-scale development according to the Council's Sustainable Construction SPD and 
therefore the scheme must be assessed against policy SCR8.  
 
Policy SCR6 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to Sustainable Construction for 
New Build Residential Development. The policy requires new residential development to 
achieve zero operational emissions by reducing heat and power demand, then supplying 
all energy demand through on-site renewables.  
 
The policy sets out that the space heating demand must be less than 30kWh/m2/annum 
and the total energy use less than 40kWh/m2/annum. 
 
Block A 
 
Block A will meet the space heating demand requirement, with a predicted demand of 
10.4kWh/m2/annum which is well below the policy requirement. The total energy use is 
47.2 kWh/m2/annum which is slightly above the 40kWh threshold set by the policy. 
Additionally, the renewable energy generation requirement will not meet the total energy 
use, as this is predicted to be only 10.5kWh/m2/annum.  
 
Block B1 
 
Block B1 will also meet the space heating demand, also being under the policy 
requirement substantially at 5.8 kWh/m2/annum. Block B1 will also meet the total energy 
use requirement, with a predicted demand of 37.2 kWh/m2/annum. As with Block A, Block 
B1 does not achieve the renewable energy generation requirement, with no energy 
generation proposed.  
 

Page 82



The Block B1 amenity spaces have been modelled separately at the requires of officers. 
They fall under the policy requirement of the space heating demand, but do not meet the 
energy use requirement and no renewable energy generation is proposed.  
 
Block B2 
 
Block B2 meets the space heating demand requirements and the total energy use 
requirements in accordance with policy SCR6. However, it does not achieve the 
renewable energy generation requirement of matching the total energy use, with only 3.4 
kWh/m2/annum generation proposed.  
 
Block C 
 
Block C meets the space heating demands but does not achieve the total energy use 
target nor renewable energy generation target.  
 
Block D 
 
Block D is similar to Block C in that the space heating demand is met, but not the total 
energy use target, nor renewable energy generation target.  
 
The above demonstrates that whilst the scheme generally complies policy SCR6 in terms 
of meeting the space heating demand requirements, the total energy use and renewable 
energy requirements are not met across the majority of blocks.  
 
The Sustainable Construction SPD sets out at page 3 that in the case of major 
developments where the use of on site renewables to match total energy consumption is 
demonstrated to not be technically feasible (for example with apartments or economically 
viable, renewable energy generation should be maximised and the residual on site 
renewable energy must be offset by a financial contribution paid into the Council's Carbon 
Offset fund. 
 
The development is a high density development which is largely apartment style 
dwellings. It is considered that in this regard, renewable energy generation to match the 
energy consumption is not technically feasible within the available onsite space 
particularly when considering other requirements such as on-site amenity/open space, 
landscaping and tree planting. Consideration must therefore be given as to whether onsite 
renewable energy generation has been maximised. The heritage section of this report 
clearly sets out the sensitivities of the site, particularly with regard to its impacts upon the 
attributes of the OUV of the World Heritage Site. The roofscape in particular is working 
hard to satisfy a number of competing material considerations, including the housing of 
solar photovoltaics and plant material and ensuring there are sufficient roof pitches so that 
heritage harm is reduced particularly with regard to views into the site from the green hills 
which surround the city. This limits the availability of roof space for solar photovoltaics. It is 
therefore accepted that the opportunities for on-site renewables have been maximised in 
this regard. A contribution to the Council's Carbon Offsetting fund is therefore required and 
this is further discussed below.  
 
With regard to the total energy use requirements not being met, paragraph 4.10 of the 
Sustainable Construction SPD states the following: 

Page 83



 
"All dwellings within the development must meet the energy use, space heating and on-
site renewable energy generation requirements individually (i.e. targets cannot be 
averaged out across the whole development). Non-compliance of individual dwellings will 
only be considered in exceptional circumstances. In these circumstances, a valid 
justification must be provided setting out the constraints and mitigating factors in Table 11. 
Only in exceptional circumstances, where it is clear that all on-site opportunities have 
been maximised, will non-compliance and/or offsetting (for major development only) be 
considered." 
 
Table 11 of the Sustainable Construction SPD details that if non-compliance is proposed 
on the grounds of viability or technical feasibility, a viability assessment or technical 
rationale is likely to be required. The Energy and Sustainability report (March 2025) sets 
out that the total energy use falls short of the policy requirement to the due high un-
regulated energy consumption, which includes things like appliances and the use of white 
goods. The Council's Climate Policy Officer considers that changes could be made to the 
scheme to reduce the total energy consumption, and this could include measures such as 
triple glazing, reducing air permeability and improving the mechanical ventilation heating 
recovery system performance. Discussions were held with the applicant regarding these 
matters and a summary of their responses is presented below.  
 
Triple Glazing: 
Using triple instead of double glazing presents limited energy savings when compared to 
double glazing and would significantly increase the build costs of an already unviable 
development.  
 
Reducing air permeability: 
Reducing the air permeability could result in air quality and condensation risk issues, as 
well as significantly increasing build costs. Again, this would not significantly increase 
energy savings as the mechanical ventilation and heating recovery (MVHR) units are 
already recovering most of the heat from ventilation.  
 
MVHR System performance: 
The proposed MVHR units being proposed are one of the highest performing on the 
market.  
 
A viability assessment, as discussed earlier within this report, has been submitted which 
shows that the scheme is unviable. Increasing the build costs by introducing the measures 
set out above would further impact upon the viability of the scheme and could impact upon 
the current affordable housing contribution or and the delivery of the scheme as a whole.  
 
Given the overall viability position of the scheme, it is considered that in this specific case 
there are exceptional circumstances which exist to allow officers to consider that all on site 
opportunities have been maximised and non-compliance/offsetting can be considered in 
this case.  
 
Moving to the commercial units, policy SCR7 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard 
to Sustainable Construction for New Build Non-Residential Development. The policy 
requires sustainable design and construction to be integral to all new development in 

Page 84



B&NES. Major development is to achieve a 100% regulated operational carbon emissions 
reduction from Building Regulations Part L 2013 (or future equivalent legislation). 
 
The submitted information proposes a 28.2% which is substantially short of the 100% 
required.  
 
The Sustainable Construction Checklist, as above, sets out that a carbon offsetting 
contribution can be considered where onsite opportunities have been maximised. For the 
reasons set out above, it is considered that a contribution is appropriate.  
 
The contribution, using the residual carbon, has been calculated at £367,245 and this has 
been accepted by the developer.  
 
Overall, therefore, whilst the scheme does not meet the requirements of policies SCR6 
and SCR7 in terms of energy demand and carbon emissions reductions. However, the 
SPD does set out that in circumstances where officers consider that all opportunities for 
onsite renewable energy generation have been maximised or where there are exceptional 
circumstances having regard to viability, there is scope for non-compliance to be accepted 
or an offsetting payment to be paid. An offsetting payment has been agreed and therefore 
officers conclude that the development meets the aims of the sustainable construction 
policies in this regard.  
 
Policy SCR8 of the Local Plan Partial Update relates only to large scale new-build 
development (a minimum of 50 dwellings or a minimum of 5000m2 of commercial floor 
space). Such developments are required to submit an Embodied Carbon Assessment, 
having regard to the SCC SPD, which demonstrates a score of less than 900kgCO2e/,2 
can be achieved within the development for the substructure, superstructure and finished.  
 
The proposed embodied carbon emissions of 634kgCO2e/m2/year for modules A1-A5 
meets the policy requirement of less than 900kgCO2e/m2 for the substructure, 
superstructure and finishes. Therefore, the proposal is considered compliant with Policy 
SCR8. 
 
Policy SCR5 of the Placemaking Plan requires that all dwellings meet the national optional 
Building Regulations requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day. This 
can be secured by condition. 
 
 
21. Planning Obligations 
 
The development will generate Planning Obligations requirements, in accordance with the 
Council's Planning Obligations SPD. Some of these have been discussed in the report, 
but for absolute clarity the following list provides a summary: 
- Affordable housing commuted sum of £1,000,000 
- Contribution towards fire hydrants (£2, 307 per hydrant, + VAT) 
- Contribution of £33, 275 towards Targeted Training and Recruitment 
- Travel plan bond of £37, 100 plus a £4, 775 non-refundable monitoring fee 
- Reasonable endeavours to secure a cycle route access via Crest Nicholson Land 
- Contribution of £897, 837 towards off-site green space 
- Contribution of £367, 245 towards the Council's carbon offsetting fund 

Page 85



 
The above contributions are considered to meet the CIL Regulation 122 tests for the 
reasons set out in the report above. The applicant has agreed to the above.  
 
 
22. Public Sector Equality Duty 
In reaching its decision on a planning application the Council is required to have regard to 
the duties contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, known collectively as the 
public sector equality duty. 
Section 149 provides that the Council must have due regard to the need to— 
(a)     eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation  
(b)  advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c)  foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
 
Officers have had due regard to these matters when assessing this application and have 
concluded that neither the granting nor the refusal of this application would be likely to 
have an impact on protected groups and, therefore, that these considerations would not 
weigh in favour of or against this application. 
 
 
23. Planning Balance and Conclusions 
 
The application site forms part of the wider 'Sydenham Park' site which is allocated for 
mixed-use redevelopment pursuant to Policy SB7 of the council's adopted development 
plan. The mix of uses proposed accords with the schedule of uses prescribed by Policy 
SB7 and the quantum of each use is proportionate to the size and nature of the 
application site as well as to the remaining elements of the Policy SB7 allocation. The 
scheme will not compromise the remainder of the Policy SB7 allocation coming forward for 
development and it is considered that there would be sufficient land remaining within the 
allocation area for the policy quantum and mix of uses to be realised. 
 
The scheme before Committee is the culmination of an iterative process with the Local 
Planning Authority and the scheme has evolved significantly since inception. It is 
considered that the proposals are an architecturally appropriate response to the site's 
context, with a nod to the industrial heritage of the area. Whilst a degree of harm has been 
identified to attributes of the OUV of the World Heritage Site, the level of harm is 
considered to be less than substantial. Historic England have confirmed that they consider 
it to be at the "lower end" of less than substantial, if there was a scale as such. The report 
has set out numerous benefits of the proposals which are considered to outweigh this 
harm.  
 
It is critical that these benefits are fully considered as part of the assessment, as they 
themselves are material considerations. The site represents a brownfield site, in a 
sustainable city location. The NPPF sets out at paragraph 7 that the "purpose of the 
planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development, including 
the provision of homes, commercial development and supporting infrastructure in a 
sustainable manner". It also notes (paragraph 129) that planning decisions should 
"support development that makes efficient use of land, taking into account the identified 

Page 86



need for different types of housing and other forms of development…". The proposed 
development forms part of a wider allocation and maximises development opportunity on 
this site, whilst achieving compliance with other relevant planning policies.  
 
Additionally, the proposals will contribute to affordable housing. Whilst the level of 
affordable housing is not 30% due to the agreed financial viability position, the commuted 
sum of £1 million should still be given significant weight as a benefit of the proposals.  
 
The scheme will also deliver on key active travel routes, which will help to connect 
developments to the west with the city to the east. There are also employment benefits 
associated with the construction and operational phases.  
 
Although now lapsed, the context of the previously approved scheme (at appeal) is also a 
material consideration. The development is different; however, it is important to consider 
the Inspector's comments with regard to heritage harm and the benefits of the proposals, 
which have been set out in detail within this report. Critically, this appeal decision aids the 
setting of parameters for the design of the scheme, and it is considered that the current 
proposals largely conform to the views of the previous inspector.  
 
Officers therefore consider that the scheme presented will result in a high quality 
development within an allocated site which significantly contributes to the housing supply 
within Bath.  
 
"Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) makes clear that a Local 
Planning Authority must have regard to "the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application" and "any other material considerations". Further, Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that "where in making any 
determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the development plan, the 
determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material consideration 
indicates otherwise"." 
 
As set out in the "principle of development" section of this report, officers consider that this 
development for housing would engage paragraph 11 of the NPPF, given that the Council 
cannot currently demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply. It is not considered that the 
application of policies in the Framework that protect assets of particular importance (as set 
out in footnote 7of the NPPF, including the World Heritage Site) would provide a strong 
reason for the refusing of granting permission given the public benefits of the proposals. 
Additionally, it is not considered that there would be adverse impacts of the scheme which 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh its benefits. The scheme is considered to 
be policy compliant.  
 
As such, officers recommend the application for permission, subject to the conditions set 
out below (or such conditions as may be appropriate) and the securing of the necessary 
obligations within the Heads of Terms by way of a legal agreement.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Delegate to PERMIT 
 
 
 

Page 87



CONDITIONS 
 
 0 A.) Authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to enter into a Section 106 
Agreement to cover the following: 
  
 
1. Affordable Housing/Commuted Sum of £1,000,000 commuted sum  
2. Contribution towards Fire Hydrants. 
3. Contribution of £33,275 towards Targeted Training and Recruitment. 
4. Travel Plan bond of £37,100 over 5 years plus the monitoring fee of £4,775. 
5. Reasonable but commercially prudent endeavours to secure a cycle route access via 
Crest Nicholson Land to the west of the site. 
6. Contribution of £897,837 towards Parks and Recreation  
7. Contribution of £367,245 towards the Council's carbon offsetting fund. 
8. Monitoring fees contribution £486 per obligation 
 
B.) Subject to the prior completion of the above agreement, authorise the Head of 
Planning to PERMIT subject to Conditions (or such conditions as may be appropriate): 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission. 
 
 2 Phasing Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, excluding investigation, site clearance and other 
enabling works until a phasing plan defining distinct areas of the site and the order in 
which these will be delivered has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter the construction of the development hereby approved shall 
not precede other than in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: It is necessary that the stages of development and the provision of associated 
public services and infrastructure follow a co-ordinated sequence. This is a pre-
commencement condition because otherwise development may commence outside of the 
agreed co-ordinated sequence. 
 
 3 Biodiversity Net Gain Plan (Pre-commencement) 
Unless confirmed as exempt, no development shall commence (except site clearance, 
ground investigations and remediation) until full details of a Biodiversity Gain Plan 
achieving a minimum of 10% measurable biodiversity net gain, and a Habitat 
Management Plan for any on-site habitats and biodiversity measures, have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The Plans shall be 
in accordance with current best practice guidelines and standards. The approved 
Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment and calculation and shall include the following: 
 
In all cases: 
 

Page 88



1. Pre and post development biodiversity values including a completed metric calculation 
tool using the DEFRA Biodiversity Metric or any successor and accompanying evidence 
for baseline condition assessments; 
 
2. A BNG habitat map for on-site proposed habitats 
 
3. Information about the steps taken to minimise the adverse effect of the development on 
the biodiversity of the onsite habitat and any other habitat and, in the case of any 
irreplaceable habitat, information on arrangements for compensation for any impact of the 
development has on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat (which does not include 
the use of biodiversity credits). 
 
4. Details and evidence of any registered off-site biodiversity gain units allocated to the 
development and any biodiversity credits purchased for the development; 
 
Where on-site habitat is proposed/retained: 
 
5. Long term aims and objectives and targets for habitats; proposed management 
prescriptions and operations; timing, frequency, durations and methods of operations; 
specialist expertise, specialist tools/machinery or equipment and personnel where 
required to meet the stated aims and objectives;  
 
6. Annual work schedule for at least a 30 year period 
 
7. A list of activities and operations that shall not take place and shall not be permitted 
within the Habitat Management Plan (HMP) area (for example use of herbicides; on-site 
disposal of grass cuttings or other vegetation waste; routine cutting of ivy where there is 
no specific arboricultural justification; inappropriate maintenance methods, storage of 
materials; inappropriate machine or vehicle access). 
 
8. Detailed monitoring strategy for habitats and species, and methods of measuring 
progress towards and achievement of stated objectives. 
 
9. Details of proposed reporting to the Local Planning Authority, and proposed review and 
remediation mechanism. 
 
10. Proposed costs and resourcing, and legal responsibilities. 
 
The Biodiversity Gain and Habitat Management Plans shall be implemented in 
accordance with the agreed details and timetable, and all habitats and measures shall be 
retained and maintained thereafter in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To protect and enhance ecological interests and to ensure delivery of Biodiversity 
Net Gain in accordance with Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update 
policies NE3, NE3a NE5 and D5e and paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and 
Country Planning 1990 Act (Biodiversity Gain Condition). 
 
 
 4 Construction Management Plan (Pre-commencement)   

Page 89



No development shall commence (excluding ground investigations and remediation) until 
a Construction Management Plan for that particular phase has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This shall include details of the 
following: 
1. Deliveries (including storage arrangements and timings); 
2. Contractor parking; 
3. Traffic management; 
4. Working hours; 
5. Site opening times; 
6. Wheel wash facilities; 
7. Site compound arrangements; 
8. Measures for the control of dust; 
 
The construction of the development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the safe operation of the highway and in the interests of protecting 
residential amenity in accordance with Policy D6 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan and ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial 
Update. This is a pre-commencement condition because any initial clearance and 
construction works could have a detrimental impact upon residential amenity.  
 
 5 Construction Environmental Management Plan (Pre-Commencement) 
No development (excluding site investigations, clearance and remediation) shall take 
place until a site-specific Construction Environmental Management Plan has been 
submitted to and been approved in writing by the Council. The plan must demonstrate the 
adoption and use of the best practicable means to reduce the effects of noise, vibration, 
dust and site lighting. The plan should include but not be limited to; 
 
1. Procedures for maintaining good public relations including complaint management, 
public consultation and liaison 
2. Arrangements for liaison with the Council's Environmental Protection Team 
3. All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at such 
other place as may be agreed with the Local Planning Authority, shall be carried out only 
between the following hours: 08 00 Hours and 18 00 Hours on Mondays to Fridays and 08 
00 and 1300 Hours on Saturdays and; at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 
4. Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste from the site must 
only take place within the permitted hours detailed above. 
5. Mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and 2: 2009 Noise and Vibration 
Control on Construction and Open Sites shall be used to minimise noise disturbance from 
construction works. 
6. Procedures for emergency deviation of the agreed working hours. 
7. Identifying the steps and procedures that will be implemented to minimise the creation 
and impact of dust from site preparation, groundworks and construction phases of the 
development and manage heavy goods vehicles (HGV) access to and from the site due to 
neighbouring Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). 
8. Measures for controlling the use of site lighting whether required for safe working or for 
security purposes. 
 

Page 90



The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Construction 
Environmental Management Plan. 
 
Reason: To protect neighbouring residents from potential nuisance associated with 
construction in accordance with Policies D6 and PCS3 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
 6 Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a Detailed Arboricultural Method Statement with 
Tree Protection Plan following the recommendations contained within BS 5837:2012 has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
arboricultural method statement shall include details of the following: 
 
1. A programme of works to include details of supervision and monitoring by an 
Arboricultural Consultant and the provision of site visit records and certificates of 
completion to the local planning authority; 
2. Measures to control potentially harmful operations such as site preparation (earthworks 
and level changes), the storage, handling, mixing or burning of materials on the site and 
the movement of people and machinery throughout the site; 
3. The location of any site office, temporary services and welfare facilities; 
4. The location of any service runs or soakaway locations; 
5. A scaled Tree Protection Plan showing the location of all retained trees and tree 
protection measures. 
 
No development or other operations shall thereafter take place except in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals in accordance with Policy NE6 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. This is a condition precedent because the works 
comprising the development have the potential to harm retained trees. Therefore, these 
details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
 7 Drainage (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, except site clearance, ground investigations and 
remediation and other enabling works, until a detailed drainage design based on the 
approved Flood Risk Assessment and Outline Drainage Strategy has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The drainage design will 
demonstrate how surface water will be managed within the site using sustainable drainage 
principles. The design shall include the following: 
1. Plans; 
2. Structure details;  
3. Calculations demonstrating performance of the system at the critical 1:1, 1:30 and 
1:100+45% climate change events; and 
4. Details of how the proposed drainage system will be maintained to perform to the 
design standard of life of the development.  
 
The drainage strategy shall be installed prior to the first occupation of the development 
and in accordance with the approved details. 
 

Page 91



Reason: To ensure that an appropriate method of surface water drainage is installed and 
in the interests of flood risk management in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy and Policy SU1 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan. This is a condition precedent because it is necessary to obtain details 
of the drainage strategy prior to any initial construction works which may prejudice the 
surface water drainage strategy. 
 
 8 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence in each phase 
until a schedule of materials and finishes, and photographs of the samples of the materials 
to be used in the construction of the external surfaces, including roofs, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Additionally, a 
sample panel of all external walling and roofing materials to be used for that phase has 
been erected on site, approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and kept on site 
for reference until the development is completed. The schedule shall include: 
 
1. Detailed specification of the proposed materials (such as type, size, colour, brand, 
quarry location, etc.); 
2. Photographs of all of the proposed external materials; 
3. An annotated drawing showing the parts of the development using each material.  
 
Physical samples of materials shall be made available at the request of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
The development shall thereafter be carried out only in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy, 
policies D1, D2 and D3 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and 
Policy D5 of the Bath and North Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
 9 Landscape Design Proposals (Bespoke Trigger) 
No development  beyond slab level shall take place until full details of both hard and soft 
landscape proposals and programme of implementation have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include, as appropriate: 
 
1. Proposed finished levels or contours 
2. Means of enclosure 
3. External car parking layouts 
4. Other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas 
5. Hard surfacing materials 
6. Minor artefacts and structures (eg outdoor furniture, play equipment, refuse or other 
storage units, signs, lighting) 
7. Proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (eg drainage, 
power, communication cables, pipelines, etc, indicating lines, manholes, supports etc) 
8. Retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration, where relevant 
 
Soft landscape details shall be consistent with the Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment, 
Biodiversity Gain Plan and Ecological Report and shall include: 
1. Planting plans 

Page 92



2. Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant 
and grass establishment) 
3. Schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed numbers / densities 
 
Reason: To ensure that the landscape works are implemented and maintained to ensure 
the continued provision of amenity and environmental quality and to ensure appropriate 
biodiversity net gain is secured in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and NE2, NE3, and NE3a of the Bath and North 
East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
10 Implementation of Landscaping Scheme (Bespoke Trigger) 
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of each phase of the 
development or in accordance with the programme of implementation agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Any trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, within a period of 30 years 
from the date of the development being completed, die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the current or first available planting 
season with other trees or plants of species, size and number as originally approved 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. All hard and 
soft landscape works shall be retained in accordance with the approved details for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the landscape works are implemented and maintained to ensure 
the continued provision of amenity and environmental quality and to ensure appropriate 
biodiversity net gain is secured in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and NE2, NE3, and NE3a of the Bath and North 
East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
11 Gull Management Plan (Bespoke Trigger) 
Prior to occupation of the relevant phase a detailed Gull Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Gull 
Management Plan shall be implemented and any relevant measures installed prior to the 
first occupation of the development and retained permanently thereafter.  
 
Reason: to protect the residential amenity of future and neighbouring occupiers in 
accordance with policy D6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
12 Architectural Details - Large Scale Drawings (Bespoke Trigger)  
 
No construction of the external walls of each phase the development shall commence until 
large scale details and construction sections of the following elements of built fabric are 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
1. Typical window construction including reveal and sill; 
2. Masonry Banding detail; 
3. All rainwater goods 
4. Typical parapet detail  
5. Entrance glazing / reveals; 

Page 93



6. Commercial units fascia's; 
7. Commercial units;   
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out only in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the architectural intent, design quality, the 
appearance of the development and contribution to the surrounding area in accordance 
with policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy, policies HE1, D1, D2 
and D3 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and Policy D5 of the Bath 
and North Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
13 External & Internal Lighting (Bespoke Trigger)  
No new external or internal lighting shall be installed without full details of the proposed 
lighting design being first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  These details shall include: 
 
1. proposed lamps and lamp models, with manufacturer's specifications; proposed 
lamp positions; numbers and heights, with details also to be shown on a plan;  
2. Light spill modelling, in accordance with the standards and best practice guidelines 
as described in ILP Guidance Note 08/23 "Bats and artificial lighting in the UK", including 
details of predicted light spill and lux levels within and beyond site boundaries, onto 
adjacent land, boundary vegetation and the River Avon, and all ecological habitats and 
sensitive features within and adjacent to the site, on both vertical and horizontal planes, 
with details of predicted light levels to also be shown on a plan, and at heights using 
sections and drawings; 
3. details of lighting controls; proposed hours, frequency and duration of use; and 
details of all measures and features to contain light spill, and to prevent upward light spill 
and light spill onto trees and boundary vegetation and adjacent land; and to limit use of 
lights when not required; and to avoid harm to bat activity and other wildlife.  
4. Details of a scheme of lighting compliance checks and monitoring and reporting to 
the LPA of lighting compliance and light spill levels, to demonstrate lighting is installed and 
being operated in accordance with the approved scheme and light spill thresholds; to 
include details of proposed actions and remediation for any issues arising from lighting 
compliance checks 
 
The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated thereafter only in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason: To avoid harm to bats and wildlife in accordance with policies NE3 and D8 of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
14 Dwelling Access (Pre-occupation) 
Each dwelling shall not be occupied until it is served by a properly bound and compacted 
footway to at least base course level between the dwelling block and the existing adopted 
highway.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by a safe and suitable access in 
accordance with Policy ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial 
Update. 

Page 94



 
15 Residents Welcome Pack (Pre-occupation) 
Prior to the occupation of each phase of the development a new resident's welcome pack 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The new 
resident's welcome back shall be issued to the first occupier of each residential unit of 
accommodation prior to its occupation. It shall include information of bus and train 
timetable information, information giving examples of fares/ticket options, information on 
cycle routes, a copy of the Travel Smarter publication, car share, car club information etc., 
to encourage residents to try public transport.  
 
Reason: To encourage the use of public transport in the interests of sustainable 
development in accordance with Policy ST1 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
16 Car Club (Pre-occupation) 
No residential building shall be occupied or use commenced until details of a car club 
scheme, in accordance with a contract to be entered into by the developer and an 
approved car club provider, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The car club scheme shall detail (where applicable):  
 
o The allocation of spaces  
o The number of vehicles to be provided  
o Provision of car club membership for all eligible residents of the development for a 
minimum of three years  
o Promotion of the scheme  
o The phasing at which the scheme will be introduced  
 
Reason: In order to promote the use of car clubs and electric cars and reduce 
dependency on the private car in accordance with Policy ST1 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
17 Travel Plan - Shared Living (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the Shared Living units shall commence until a Travel Plan for this part 
of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved 
Travel Plan.  
 
Reason: In the interest of enabling a genuine choice in mode of travel, reducing car 
dependency and encouraging sustainable travel methods in accordance with Policies ST1 
and ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update and the 
Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document. 
 
18 Travel Plan - Commercial units (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the Commercial Units shall commence until a Travel Plan for this use 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved Travel Plan.  
 
Reason: In the interest of enabling a genuine choice in mode of travel, reducing car 
dependency and encouraging sustainable travel methods in accordance with Policies ST1 

Page 95



and ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update and the 
Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document 
 
19 Travel Plan - Residential Units (C3) (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the residential dwellings (Class C3) shall commence until a Travel Plan 
for this use has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved Travel 
Plan.  
 
Reason: In the interest of enabling a genuine choice in mode of travel, reducing car 
dependency and encouraging sustainable travel methods in accordance with Policies ST1 
and ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update and the 
Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document. 
 
20 Site Management Plan (Pre-occupation) 
Prior to the occupation of the relevant phase of the development a Site Management Plan, 
incorporating parking (car and cycle), delivery and servicing arrangement details, shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the Site Management Plan.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by a safe and suitable access in 
accordance with Policy ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial 
Update. 
 
21 Highway Works (Pre-occupation)  
No occupation of the development shall commence until a highway scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which integrates the 
existing adopted highway arrangements on Stothert Avenue with the development 
scheme. This should include the repositioning of existing street furniture as necessary.  
The highway scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details, prior 
to the first occupation of the site or in accordance with a programme of implementation 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by a safe and suitable means of 
access in accordance with Policy ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
Partial Update.  
 
22 Arboriculture - Signed Certificate of Compliance (Pre-occupation) 
No development or other operations shall take place except in complete accordance with 
the approved Arboricultural Method Statement. A signed certificate of compliance with the 
Arboricultural Method Statement and tree protection plan by the appointed Arboriculturalist 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority with 28 days 
of completion of all associated works within the relevant phase. 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals in accordance with Policy NE6 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan Partial Update and to ensure that the approved method statement is 
complied with for the duration of the development. 
 
 

Page 96



23 Contaminated Land - Verification Report (Pre-occupation) 
Prior to any phase of development being occupied a verification report for the relevant 
phase that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, unless the findings 
of the approved investigation and risk assessment has confirmed that a remediation 
scheme is not required. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with policy PCS5 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update and chapter 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
24 Archaeology - Post Excavation and Publication (Pre-occupation) 
Prior to the occupation of each phase the development shall commence until the 
applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a 
programme of post-excavation analysis in accordance with a publication plan which has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that relevant 
phase. The programme of post-excavation analysis shall be carried out by a competent 
person(s) and completed in accordance with the approved publication plan, or as 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: The site has produced significant archaeological findings and the Council will 
wish to publish or otherwise disseminate the results in accordance with Policy HE1 of the 
Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan.   
 
25 Emergency Generator Emission Rate (Pre-Occupation) 
Prior to the occupation of the relevant phase of development details of the emergency 
generator shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The details shall include the following: 
 
1. Written confirmation from a qualified person(s) that the emergency generator has a 
NOx emission rate of less than 5mg/sec;  
2. A monitoring schedule for the emissions standard; and 
3. A testing and maintenance schedule in accordance with best practice measures.  
 
The monitoring reports shall be made available for inspection at the request of the Council 
and testing and maintenance shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To protect neighbouring residents in the vicinity of the development in 
accordance with Policies D6 and PCS3 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking 
Plan. 
 
26 Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (Pre-occupation)  
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved a Landscape and Ecological 
Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These details shall be fully in accordance with all previously approved 
ecological mitigation, compensation, enhancement and biodiversity net gain requirements 
and shall include: 
 

Page 97



1. A list of long-term wildlife conservation and landscape design aims and objectives, 
which, where applicable, shall be specific to named habitats, species and ecological 
issues of importance. They shall include (but not be limited to): delivery and long term 
maintenance of landscaping and habitats to achieve Biodiversity Net Gain in accordance 
with the approved Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment 
2. Creation of habitats to a specified condition and / or that achieve specified levels of 
structural, botanical, and/or invertebrate diversity; provision of habitats suitable for 
specified species (for example linnet and other bird species); habitats with suitable 
conditions, connectivity and quality for use by bats as part of connected flight routes; 
3. Proposed management prescriptions and operations; locations, timing, frequency, 
durations; methods; equipment and personnel as required to meet the stated aims and 
objectives 
4. A plan showing the boundary or boundaries of land to which the LEMP applies. All 
details, locations, boundaries of habitats and management areas shall also be shown on a 
plan. 
5. A list of activities and operations that shall not take place and shall not be permitted 
within the LEMP Plan area (for example use of herbicides; waste disposal and disposal of 
arisings; inappropriate maintenance methods; storage of materials; machine or vehicle 
access) 
6. Proposed habitats shall correspond to and meet the minimum standards set out in the 
approved Ecological Mitigation, Compensation and Enhancement Plan 
7. Proposed monitoring and reporting scheme, to include a 5 year rolling programme for 
ongoing review and future remediation strategies 
8. Proposed resourcing; funding sources and legal responsibility. 
 
All required measures shall be incorporated into and compatible with the wider scheme 
and shown to scale on all relevant plans and drawings including landscape design and 
planting plans. All works within the scheme shall be carried out and the land managed and 
maintained and utilised thereafter, in accordance with the approved details and timings. 
  
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of landscape and 
ecological features in the interests of providing net gain of biodiversity and mitigating the 
landscape impacts of the development in accordance with policies NE2, NE2A and NE3 of 
the Placemaking Plan. 
 
27 Ecological Compliance Statement (Pre-occupation) 
Prior to the occupation of each phase of the development hereby approved a report 
produced by a suitably experienced professional ecologist (based on post-construction on-
site inspection by a suitably experienced professional ecologist) confirming and 
demonstrating, using photographs, adherence to and completion of all ecological 
mitigation and enhancement measures and features, and all habitat provisions, in 
accordance with approved details, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To demonstrate compliance with the ecological mitigation and enhancement 
measures and habitat provisions, to prevent ecological harm and to provide biodiversity 
gain in accordance with NPPF and policies NE3; NE3A; NE5 and D5e of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
 

Page 98



28 Sound Attenuation - Post-Construction (Pre-Occupation)  
Prior to the occupation of the relevant phase, an assessment from a competent person in 
respect of the completed development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall demonstrate that the development 
has been constructed to provide sound attenuation against external noise, for that relevant 
phase. The following levels shall be achieved: Maximum internal noise levels of 
35dBLAeq,16hr and 30dBLAeq,8hr for living rooms and bedrooms during the daytime and 
night time respectively. For bedrooms at night individual noise events (measured with F 
time-weighting) shall not (normally) exceed 45dBLAmax. 
 
Reason: to protect future occupants of the development from exposure to noise from road 
traffic in accordance with policy D6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking 
Plan. 
 
29 SCR6 Residential Properties (Pre-occupation 
Prior to the occupation of the relevant phase  of the development hereby approved, the 
following tables (as set out in the Council's Sustainable Construction Checklist 
Supplementary Planning Document) shall be completed in respect of the completed 
development and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
together with the further documentation listed below. The development must, as a 
minimum, achieve the standards set out within the Sustainable Construction Checklist 
submitted 12th March 2025. 
  
PHPP/SAP calculations are to be updated with as-built performance values. The following 
are to be completed using the updated as-built values for energy performance: 
  
1. Energy Summary Tool 2 
2. Table 2.1 or 2.2 (if proposal has more than one dwelling type) 
3. Table 5 (updated) 
4. Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for renewables;  
5. Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for energy efficiency; 
6. Final as-built full data report from Passive House Planning Package or SAP 
7. Microgeneration Certification Scheme (MCS) Certificate/s 
  
Reason: To ensure that the approved development complies with Policy SCR6 of the 
Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
30 SCR7 Non-Residential Properties (Pre-occupation) 
Prior to the occupation of the relevant phase development hereby approved, the following 
tables (as set out in the Council's Sustainable Construction Checklist Supplementary 
Planning Document) shall be completed in respect of the completed development and 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority together with the 
further documentation listed below. The development must, as a minimum, achieve the 
standards set out within the Sustainable Construction Checklist submitted 12th March 
2025. 
 
Energy performance calculations (e.g. SBEM) and the tables below are to be updated with 
as-built performance values. 
 
1. Table 3 or Table 3.2 (if proposal has more than one building type) 

Page 99



2. Table 5 (updated) 
3. Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for renewables; 
4. Building Regulations Part L post-completion documents for energy efficiency; 
5. Microgeneration Certification Scheme (MCS) Certificate/s 
 
Reason: To ensure that the approved development complies with Policy SCR7 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
31 SCR8 Embodied Carbon (Bespoke Trigger) 
Within 3 months of the practical completion of the final phase of the development hereby 
approved the following tables (as set out in the Council's Sustainable Construction 
Checklist Supplementary Planning Document) shall be completed in respect of the 
completed development and submitted to and approved in writing by  the Local Planning 
Authority together with the further documentation listed below. The development must 
comply with the requirements of SCR8. 
 
Post-Completion Stage (using as-built values) 
1. Table 6 
2. Table 7 
3. Site energy (including fuel) use record 
4. Contractor confirmation of as-built material quantities and specifications 
5. Record of material delivery including distance travelled and transportation mode 
6. Waste transportation record including waste quantity, distance travelled and 
transportation mode 
7. List of product-specific EPDs for the installed products and materials 
 
Reason: To ensure that the approved development complies with Policy SCR8 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
32 Flood Risk Assessment (Pre-occupation/Compliance) 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment Hydrock, document reference: 31606-HYD-XX-XX-RP-WENV-0001, issue 
number: P03, issue dated: 02/10/2024) and supporting documents, in particular, the 
following mitigation measures:  
 
1. Finished floor levels (FFL) for more vulnerable usage (including residential, kitchens 
and living) shall be set no lower than 20.36m above Ordnance Datum (AOD). 
2. Landscaping within 20 metres of the Main River Avon will be delivered as per the 
drawing title "Indicative Detailed Landscape General Arrangement Plan 2/5" (drawing No: 
BMD.20.0019.DR.P003, revision: A, revision dated: 21/10/2024).  
These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the scheme's timing/phasing arrangements. The 
measures detailed above shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout the 
lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason: To ensure that site occupants can reasonably be considered safe from flood risk 
from the River Avon before the delivery of the Bristol Avon Flood Strategy flood defences 
and from the subsequent residual risk posed by flood defence failure, overtopping or 
flooding from other sources. 
 

Page 100



33 Ecological Mitigation Measures - Construction Phase and Long Term 
(Compliance) 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out only in accordance with the 
recommendations and proposed mitigation measures as detailed in Section 5 and 
Appendix F (Spider Assessment and Management Plan) of the approved Ecological 
Assessment (inc. Spider Assessment & Management Plan) report by BMD dated October 
2024.  All such measures shall be adhered to retained and maintained thereafter for the 
purpose of wildlife conservation. 
 
Reason: To avoid harm to ecology including protected species and to avoid net loss of 
biodiversity in accordance with policies NE3 and NE3a of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan Partial Update.  
 
34 Water Efficiency (Compliance) 
The approved dwellings shall be constructed to meet the national optional Building 
Regulations requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of water efficiency in accordance with Policy SCR5 of the 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
35 Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted.  
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy D6 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and Policy ST7 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan Partial Update and the Transport and Development Supplementary 
Planning Document. 
 
36 Contaminated Land - Unexpected Contamination (Compliance) 
In the event that contamination which was not previously identified is found at any time 
when carrying out the approved development, it must be reported in writing immediately to 
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter an investigation and risk assessment shall be 
undertaken, and where remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification 
report (that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out) must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of 
the development. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
37 Housing Accessibility (Compliance) 
17 of the C3 dwellings hereby approved shall meet the optional technical standards 
4(3)(2a) in the Building Regulations Approved Document M and 246 C3 dwellings shall 

Page 101



meet optional technical standards 4(2) in the Building Regulations Approved Document M, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the optional technical standards for accessibility for market 
housing in accordance with policy H7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Council Local 
Plan Partial Update. 
 
38 Plant Noise Levels (Compliance) 
Noise from plant associated with the development hereby approved shall comply with 
limits detailed in Table 10 of Environmental Noise Assessment (31606-HYD-XX-XX-RP-Y-
0001) dated October 2024.  
 
Reason: To protect future occupants of the development from exposure to environmental 
noise in accordance with policy D6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking 
Plan. 
 
39 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 Plans List 
 
Received 11th October 2024: 
 
Site Location Plan 02217-JTP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-00000 P1 
Existing Block Plan 02217-JTP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-00001 P1 
Proposed Floor Plans- Building A1 (all levels) 02217-JTP-BA-XX-DR-A-10000 P1 
Proposed Floor Plans - Building A2 (all levels) 02217-JTP-BA-XX-DR-A-10001 P1 
Proposed Floor Plans - Building A3 (all levels) 02217-JTP-BA-XX-DR-A-10002 P1 
Proposed Floor Plans - Building C (all levels) 02217-JTP-BC-XX-DR-A-10110 P1 
Proposed Elevations - Building A1 02217-JTP-BA-XX-DR-A-11002 P1 
Proposed Elevations - Building A2 02217-JTP-BA-XX-DR-A-11003 P1 
Proposed Elevations - Building A3 02217-JTP-BA-XX-DR-A-11004 P1 
Proposed Elevations - Building C 02217-JTP-BC-XX-DR-A-11009 P1 
Proposed Elevations - Substation Building 02217-JTP-BD-XX-DR-A-11011 P1 
Proposed Sections - Building A 02217-JTP-BA-XX-DR-A-12002 P1 
Proposed Sections - Building C 02217-JTP-BC-XX-DR-A-12004 P1 
Proposed Sections - Building D 02217-JTP-BD-XX-DR-A-12005 Z1  
 
Received 28th February 2025: 
 
Proposed Site Sections - Site Wide Sections 02217-JTP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-12001 Z1 
Proposed Block Plan 02217-JTP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-00002 Z1 
Proposed Roof Plan 02217-JTP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-00003-Proposed -Z1 
Proposed Sections - Building B 02217-JTP-BB-XX-DR-A-12003 Z1 
Proposed Elevations - Building B - 1 of 4 02217-JTP-BB-XX-DR-A-11005 Z1  

Page 102



Proposed Elevations - Building B - 2 of 4 02217-JTP-BB-XX-DR-A-11006 Z1  
Proposed Elevations - Building B - 3 of 4 02217-JTP-BB-XX-DR-A-11007 Z1 
Proposed Elevations - Building B - 4 of 4 02217-JTP-BB-XX-DR-A-11008 Z1  
Proposed Floor Plan - Building B Ground Level 02217-JTP-BB-00-DR-A-10003 Z2 
Proposed Floor Plan - Building B Level 01 02217-JTP-BB-01-DR-A-10004 Z2 
Proposed Floor Plan - Building B Level 02 02217-JTP-BB-02-DR-A-10005 Z2 
Proposed Floor Plan - Building B Level 03 02217-JTP-BB-03-DR-A-10006 Z2 
Proposed Floor Plan - Building B Level 04 02217-JTP-BB-04-DR-A-10007 Z2 
Proposed Floor Plan - Building B Level 05 02217-JTP-BB-05-DR-A-10008 Z2 
Proposed Roof Plan - Building B 02217-JTP-BB-05-DR-A-10009 Z2 
Proposed Floor Plans - Building D - 1 of 2 (levels 00 - 04) 02217-JTP-BD-XX-DR-A-
10111 Z2 
Proposed Floor Plans - Building D - 2 of 2 (levels 05 & roof) 02217-JTP-BD-XX-DR-A-
10112 Z2 
Proposed Elevations - Building D 02217-JTP-BD-XX-DR-A-11010 Z1 
Proposed Elevations - Site Wide Elevations 02217-JTP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-11001 Z1 
 
 
 2 Biodiversity Net Gain - Standard Informative 
 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is 
that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to 
have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that 
development may not begin unless: 
 
(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  
 
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity 
Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 
(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024. 
 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because 
none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements apply. A detailed version of 
the biodiversity gain condition can be found in the list of conditions attached to this 
permission. 
 
The effect of section 73D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990:- 
 
If planning  permission is granted on an application made under section 73 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (application to develop land without compliance with 
conditions previously attached) and a Biodiversity Gain Plan was approved in relation to 
the previous planning permission ("the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan") there are 
circumstances when the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan is regarded as approved for the 
purpose of discharging the biodiversity gain condition subject to which the section 73 
planning permission is granted. 
 

Page 103



Those circumstances are that the conditions subject to which the section 73 permission is 
granted: 
 
i) do not affect the post-development value of the onsite habitat as specified in the 
earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan, and 
ii) in the case of planning permission for a development where all or any part of the 
onsite habitat is irreplaceable habitat the conditions do not change the effect of the 
development on the biodiversity of that onsite habitat (including any arrangements made 
to compensate for any such effect) as specified in the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan. 
 
 3 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 4 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 5 Community Infrastructure Levy - General Note for all Development 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. CIL may apply to new 
developments granted by way of planning permission as well as by general consent 
(permitted development) and may apply to change of use permissions and certain 
extensions. Before commencing any development on site you should ensure you are 
familiar with the CIL process. If the development approved by this permission is CIL liable 

Page 104



there are requirements to assume liability and notify the Council before any development 
commences.  
 
Do not commence development until you been notified in writing by the Council that you 
have complied with CIL; failure to comply with the regulations can result in surcharges, 
interest and additional payments being added and will result in the forfeiture of any 
instalment payment periods and other reliefs which may have been granted.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy - Exemptions and Reliefs Claims 
 
The CIL regulations are non-discretionary in respect of exemption claims. If you are 
intending to claim a relief or exemption from CIL (such as a "self-build relief") it is 
important that you understand and follow the correct procedure before commencing any 
development on site. You must apply for any relief and have it approved in writing by the 
Council then notify the Council of the intended start date before you start work on site. 
Once development has commenced you will be unable to claim any reliefs retrospectively 
and CIL will become payable in full along with any surcharges and mandatory interest 
charges. If you commence development after making an exemption or relief claim but 
before the claim is approved, the claim will be forfeited and cannot be reinstated. 
 
Full details about the CIL Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent 
out in a CIL Liability Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available 
here: www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil. If you have any queries about CIL please email 
cil@BATHNES.GOV.UK 
 
 6 Civil or legal consents 
 
This permission does not convey or imply any civil or legal consents required to undertake 
the works. 
 
 7 Responding to Climate Change (Informative): 
 
The council is committed to responding to climate change. You are advised to consider 
sustainable construction when undertaking the approved development and consider using 
measures aimed at minimising carbon emissions and impacts on climate change. 
 
 8 Hot Springs 
 
The County of Avon Act gives Bath and North East Somerset Council (B&NES) powers to 
protect the natural thermal springs that arise under artesian pressure in the centre of Bath, 
from damage that could result from excavations, piling  operations or boreholes in the 
Bath area. 
 
The areas of protection form three concentric zones. Within these zones consent from the 
Council is required for excavations of depths below the surface of the natural ground, 
exceeding 5m in the central zone (Zone A) around the Hot Springs, 15m in the zone along 
the river valley (Zone B), and 50m in the outer zone (Zone C) as shown on the County of 
Avon Act map on the B&NES Council Website. These are labelled as zones A, B & C 
respectively on the Avon Act map, link to website, below. 
 

Page 105



In response to applications for consent the Council consult with a consulting geologist and 
the Environment Agency and can refuse consent if in their opinion an operation is likely to 
cause injury to or affect in anyway the natural hot springs. 
 
Any disagreement between the Council and an applicant is to be determined by a (suitably 
qualified) geologist agreed by both parties or, in the case of a dispute, one appointed by 
the President of the Institution of Civil Engineers. 
 
The application needs to be supported with a plan indicating the location of the 
boreholes/piles, a detailed review of the geology of the site/area to the full depth of the 
required excavation/piling, including provision of site investigation data and logs for the 
site/vicinity, available BGS logs for the area and any other logs/data that may be relevant, 
a detailed method statement and a risk assessment that demonstrates how the hot 
springs will be protected and how any unintentional release of artesian or sub-artesian 
groundwater will be identified, controlled and permanently sealed. 
 
Further information regarding the Avon Act and the process and requirements for making 
an application can be found on the B&NES website as follows: 
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/complete-county-avon-act-
applicationform#:~:text=The%20County%20of%20Avon%20Act%201982%20%2D%20Se
ction%2033,by%20drilling%20or%20oth er%20means 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



Item No:   02 

Application No: 24/03894/FUL 

Site Location: Parcel 2882 Water Lane Paulton Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 

 

Ward: Midsomer Norton North  Parish: Midsomer Norton  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Shaun Hughes Councillor Michael Auton  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Temporary installation of ground-mounted solar photovoltaic (PV) 
farm with battery storage along with continued agricultural use, 
ancillary infrastructure and security fencing, landscaping provision, 
ecological enhancements and associated works. 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Coal - Standing Advice Area, Contaminated 
Land, Policy CP3 Solar and Wind Landscape Pote, Policy CP9 
Affordable Housing, Policy LCR5 Safeguarded existg sport & R, LLFA 
- Flood Risk Management, Policy NE2A Landscapes and the green 
set, Policy NE3 SNCI 200m Buffer, Policy NE3 SNCI, Ecological 
Networks Policy NE5, NRN Grassland Strategic Netwo Policy NE5, 
All Public Rights of Way Records, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  PACE Yeti Energy Limited 

Expiry Date:  9th May 2025 

Case Officer: Isabel Daone 

To view the case click on the link here. 

Page 107

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/details.html?refval=24/03894/FUL#details_Section


 
REPORT 
The application site consists of 15.64 hectares of agricultural fields located to the east of 
Paulton. The site is largely bound by Water Lane to the north (though the point of 
connection mast is sited in the fields to the north of this and to the south of Lovers Lane), 
Monger Lane to the west and Bowlditch Lane to the east. Two Public Rights of Way 
(PROW) are located alongside the southern and eastern boundaries, and there are also 
two further PROWs near to the western site boundaries.  
 
There are several residential properties located within proximity of the site, the closest 
being in the north western corner and the north eastern corner at the junction of Water 
Lane and Crawl Lane. A number of listed buildings are present within the vicinity and three 
Conservation Areas are also located around the site. The site is not located within the 
Green Belt, or a National Landscape.  
 
Planning permission is sought for the temporary installation of a ground-mounted solar 
photovoltaic (PV) farm with battery storage along with continued agricultural use, ancillary 
infrastructure and security fencing, landscaping provision, ecological enhancements and 
associated works. 
 
REASON FOR COMMITTEE: 
 
The Local Parish Council's have objected to the proposals and a Local Councillor has 
requested that the application come before Planning Committee. In accordance with the 
Council's Scheme of Delegation, the application was referred to the Chair and Vice Chair 
of the Planning Committee. Their comments are included below and both consider that the 
application should be debated and decided by Planning Committee.  
 
Chair: 
 
"The level of public interest in this application warrants consideration by the Planning 
Committee" 
 
Vice Chair: 
 
"Noting the referral by a Midsomer Norton local Councillor, the opinions of Midsomer 
Norton Town Council (objection) and Paulton Parish Council (generally supportive in 
principle) and the level of public interest, I recommend that there is an opportunity for the 
merits of this application to be discussed in public by the Planning Committee." 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
There is no relevant planning history on this site. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation responses: 
 
ARBORICULTURE: 
 
No objection, subject to conditions.  

Page 108



 
ARCHAEOLOGY: 
 
No objection, subject to archaeological mitigation condition.  
 
AVON & SOMERSET POLICE: 
 
No objection, subject to comments.  
 
CONTAMINATED LAND: 
 
No objection, subject to condition 
 
COUNCILLOR SHAUN HUGHES: 
 
This application has received significant public interest and concern, therefore should you 
be minded to permit this application I wish to request that it is referred to the Planning 
Committee for review. 
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOODING: 
 
18th November 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
20th December 2024 - No objection 
 
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY: 
 
10th December 2024 - Objection 
 
24th February 2025 - Objection 
 
4th March 2025 - No objection, subject to conditions 
 
HIGHWAYS: 
 
14th November 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
20th December 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
30th January 2025 - No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
LANDSCAPE: 
 
5th November 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
20th January 2025 - Scope for revision 
 
26th February 2025 - No objection, subject to conditions 
 
MIDSOMMER NORTON TOWN COUNCIL: 

Page 109



 
Object for the following reasons: 
 
1. Temporary nature of the lease (long-term viability, technology becoming obsolete 
and site's return to agricultural); 
2. Insufficient detail and impact assessment (noise concerns, acoustic barrier and 
visual impact); 
3. Conflict with Local Plans (site not included in the B&NES Local Plan; 
appropriateness of this site for development); 
4. Impact on neighbouring properties and sensitive locations; 
5. Battery storage risks (battery fires and their uncontrollability); 
6. Incomplete context and technical details (impact of construction activity, detailed 
specifications for pylons and location of substations).  
 
NATURAL ENGLAND: 
 
Agree with conclusions of the Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA). 
 
PAULTON PARISH COUNCIL: 
 
- Supportive in principle 
- Noise concerns (proposed noise levels, but assessment shows acceptable levels) 
- Poor agricultural land quality 
- Ecological impact is low 
- More scaled drawings of substation required 
- Location of POC mask could be revised 
- Site access - will not be able to cope with increase traffic especially during 
construction phase 
- Landscape concerns, particularly viewpoint 9 
- £62,000 to be provided by the solar company but how will this be split between 
parishes? 
 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY: 
 
31st October 2024 - Scope for revision 
 
11th November 2024 - No objection 
 
THIRD PARTY REPRESENTATIONS: 
 
Transition Bath: 
We are generally supportive on increasing renewable energy capacity without B&NES in 
line with B&NES's declaration of a Climate Emergency but can't comment on the 
aesthetics of this application. The latest NPPF proposals to support renewable energy 
should strengthen this submission. 
 
One comment of support has been received and is summarised as follows: 
 
- Well-designed and carefully thought scheme 
- Positive impacts to local environment and economy 

Page 110



- Onsite biodiversity net gain is impressive 
- Valuable contribution to B&NES Council local clean and secure energy strategy 
 
Ten comments of objection have been received and are summarised as follows: 
 
- Glint and glare concerns 
- Loss of scenic value and rural character 
- Loss of agricultural land 
- Urban infrastructure in a rural setting 
- Set a precedent for housing in this location 
- Effect on property values 
- Increase traffic and noise pollution, particularly during the construction phase 
- EMF may affect sensitive individuals 
- Crime concerns 
- Solar infrastructure sustainability credentials - difficult to recycle 
- Site has "least potential" for solar development in the B&NES Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment (LUC 2021) 
- Ecological information is lacking 
- Impact to wildlife 
- Landscape assessment is not acceptable 
- Not energy for local people 
- Solar development should take place on brownfield sites 
- Battery station, connection masts and clutter are inappropriate 
- 45 years is not temporary 
- Increase in flooding 
- Scale of battery storage and substation 
- Significant amount of concrete needed for construction 
- Fire risks 
- What tree species will be used to provide proper screening? 
- Acoustic fence insufficient 
- Attenuation basin inadequate in scale and location 
 
One general comment has been received which requests an OS map showing the fields 
impacted as it is not clear. The application clearly shows the fields which are subject to the 
application and further maps have not be requested by officers. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update (2023) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
CORE STRATEGY: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  

Page 111



 
CP5: Flood Risk Management  
CP6: Environmental Quality 
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 
PLACEMAKING PLAN: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban fabric 
D4: Streets and spaces  
D6: Amenity 
HE1: Historic environment  
NE2A: Landscape setting of settlements  
PCS1: Pollution and nuisance  
PCS2: Noise and vibration  
RE5: Agricultural land 
SU1: Sustainable drainage policy 
 
LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: 
 
The Local Plan Partial Update for Bath and North East Somerset Council was adopted on 
19th January 2023. The Local Plan Partial Update has introduced a number of new 
policies and updated some of the policies contained with the Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan. The following policies of the Local Plan Partial Update are relevant to 
this proposal:  
 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
CP3: Renewable Energy 
D5: Building design  
D8: Lighting  
NE1: Development and green infrastructure  
NE2: Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character  
NE3: Sites, species, and habitats 
NE3a: Biodiversity Net Gain 
NE5: Ecological networks 
NE6: Trees and woodland conservation  
PCS5: Contamination  
ST2A: Recreational routes  
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development  
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS:  
 
The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 

Page 112



Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
NATIONAL POLICY: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration. Due 
consideration has been given to the provisions of the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG). 
 
LISTED BUILDINGS: 
 
In addition, there is a duty placed on the Council under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 'In considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting' to 'have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.'   
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS:  
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT: 
 
The Energy National Policy Statements (NPS) are a material consideration for planning 
applications and the designation of NPS EN-1 and EN-3 in January 2024 confirms the 
presumption for granting renewable energy projects due to the critical national priority to 
deliver low carbon and renewable electricity generation to meet the legally binding targets 
of delivering electricity from renewable sources by 2035. The Energy NPS' establish the 
urgent and critical need for renewable energy schemes.  
 
Renewable and decarbonised energy will play an important role in both ensuring we are 
able to meet present and future needs, without compromising the environment for future 
generations.  
 
Section 14 of the NPPF relates to national policy in respect of 'Meeting the challenge of 
climate change' and focusses on the transition to a low carbon future. Specifically, 

Page 113



paragraph 161 sets out that the "planning system should support the transition to net zero 
by 2050…and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure".  
 
This is echoed in local policy. Local Plan Partial Update (LPPU) policy CP3 relates to 
renewable energy and makes clear that proposals for renewable and low carbon energy-
generating and distribution networks will be supported in the context of sustainable 
development where a number of criteria are met. The policy sets a minimum requirement 
for 110MWe (Megawatt Electricity) to be generated within the District from renewable 
sources by 2029. 
 
The proposed development is for a 15.64 hectare solar development which will consist of 
solar photovoltaic panels, a Battery Energy Storage System (BESS), a point of connection 
(POC) mast and other associated infrastructure. The solar farm will have a capacity of 9.2 
MW using solar panels. The proposed BESS will have an export capacity of 49.5MW. The 
Planning Statement sets out that the scheme will enable the generation of approximately 
10 gigawatt hours of renewable energy, which is the equivalent of enough power for 3,210 
homes per annum.  
 
The Policies Map illustrates the geographically assessed landscape potential for 
renewable energy development within the district. A landscape led approach, based on 
the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) for Renewable Energy Development (LUC, 
2021), is set out by the Council. The proposed development is a Band D solar 
development (which covers 15-30 hectares). The application site is located within area 3B 
(Wellow Brook Valley), which has low-moderate potential for Band C solar development 
(10-15 hectares) and low potential for Band D solar development. However, each 
application must be assessed on its own merits and there is no reason why applications 
cannot come forward in areas set out in the LSA which have low potential for solar 
development of different scales. Impacts to landscape are further assessed within this 
report.  
 
Overall, therefore, solar development is supported in principle by policy CP3 so long as 
other material considerations can be met, which is assessed in the report below. 
 
LOSS OF AGRICULTURAL LAND: 
 
A number of third parties have raised concern in respect of the loss of existing agricultural 
land.  
 
Policy RE5 of the Placemaking Plans has regard to Agricultural land and states: 
 
1. Development which would result in the loss of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land particularly Grade 1 and 2 will not be permitted unless significant 
sustainability benefits are demonstrated to outweigh any loss.  
 
2. Where it can be demonstrated that there is an overriding need for a proposal which 
will result in the loss of agricultural land, development should be steered towards the use 
of lower quality agricultural land in preference to higher quality agricultural land.  
 
Additionally, guidance from Government has stressed the need to develop solar farms on 
brownfield and degraded land over greenfield sites. Agricultural land is classified from 

Page 114



Grade 1 to 4 with grades 1, 2, 3a being considered the best and most versatile agricultural 
land. 
 
The application site is made up of several field parcels, all of which fall into Grade 3 
agricultural land according to Council mapping. An Agricultural Land Classification Report 
(Bateman Rural Associates Limited) accompanies the submission. This demonstrates that 
much of the site is graded 3a, with grades 3b and 4 making up a smaller proportion of the 
site.  
 
Policy RE5 directs development away from Grades 1 and 2, and in this respect the 
scheme is therefore compliance with this policy. Notwithstanding, officers consider that 
there clearly are significant sustainability benefits which outweigh the loss of the land. 
Whilst brownfield sites should be utilised as far as possible for solar, the amount of rural 
land within B&NES and the energy targets required to be achieved as set out in policy 
CP3 mean that it is somewhat inevitable that greenfield sites will need to be utilised. 
Whilst the majority of the site is Grade 3a, this is not protected by policy RE5. Additionally, 
the development is temporary, though will operate for a significant period of time.  
 
The scheme is considered to comply with policy RE5, and the loss of agricultural land is 
accepted. 
 
IMPACT TO LANDSCAPE CHARACTER: 
 
Policy CP3 sets out that proposals for renewable energy will only be permitted where they 
do not result in significant adverse landscape and visual impacts, which cannot be 
satisfactorily mitigated. 
 
Local Plan Partial Update policy NE2 has regard to conserving and enhancing the 
landscape and landscape character. The policy notes a number of criteria which should be 
met in order for the development to be considered acceptable in landscape, including 
conserving the local landscape character and conserving. The policy also states that 
development should seek to avoid or should adequately mitigate any adverse impacts on 
the landscape. Proposals with the potential to impact on the landscape/townscape 
character of an area or on views should be accompanied by a Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment undertaken by a qualified practitioner to inform the design and 
location of any new development.   
 
The submitted Landscape and Visual Appraisal (LVA) (Briarwood Landscape Architecture) 
has been professionally produced, and the Council's Landscape Officer considers that the 
likely visual effects and effects on character have been appropriately assessed and 
consider seasonal effects (such as greater visibility during winter conditions). The 
selection of viewpoints is also appropriate. 
 
The principal conclusions of the LVA are that: 
 
- The proposed solar farm would not be unduly prominent or dominant in relation to 
the character of the local landscape; 
- The key characteristic of the local landscape which differentiate the local landscape 
from other areas would not be fundamentally changed and would contribute to prevail; 

Page 115



- Whilst there would be some adverse effects on character, the level of harm would 
not be unacceptable, and although effects would be long term, they would ultimately be 
temporary and reversible; 
- In terms of visual impact, of the nine representative viewpoints assessed, only 
viewpoint 9 (from public footpath CL16/21) would experience major adverse effects and 
subject to appropriate mitigation the level of effect could be reduced to moderate by year 
10; 
- There would be other adverse effects on the visual amenity of the local area, but 
these would generally only be minor to moderate and would in most cases be capable of 
reduction over time, with mitigation; 
- There would be only a limited effect on and harm to the visual amenity of the wider 
landscape beyond the site boundary and its immediate environs.  
Generally, the conclusions can be taken as reliable, but there were some areas of concern 
which have been addressed during the course of the application.  
 
The proposed point of connection (POC) mast will be of a broadly similar height to the 
existing pylon to which it will connect and will be visually very prominent. It is explicitly 
mentioned in the LVA in the assessments for viewpoints 2 and 5, although not for 
viewpoint 9 and other viewpoints along PROW CL16/21 where its impact would be 
greater. However, the visual impact at viewpoint 9 is already acknowledged to be major 
adverse and this assessment is accepted.  
 
Whilst the POC mast will be a prominent new feature within the landscape, its immediate 
context adjacent to an existing pylon must be taken into considered. The POC mast plan 
shows additional structures at the base, which appear 5-6m in height. Whilst, the new 
mast cannot be screened in its entirety, mitigation screen planting has now been 
introduced around the base of the mast. This will not reduce the visual impact from the 
medium and longer-range views, it will be of benefit of reducing impact to the close-range 
views, particularly from the PROW.  
 
Another important aspect of mitigation is the external appearance of the structures and 
cabins. The solar inverter cabin, batter inverter cabin and battery storage stations are 
proposed to be steel structures, but no colour has been specified. A suitable recessive 
colour will need to be selected and can be secured by way of planning condition. Similarly, 
the acoustic fence will be 4m in height and therefore, its visual impact will also need to 
minimised through appropriate specification and colour/finish. Details of any bracing will 
also need to be secured, and a condition can ensure this is agreed prior to installation. 
 
Hedgerow translocation is proposed to allow for the necessary visibility splays can be 
provided at the access points. Concerns were raised by officers that the translocated 
hedgerow was hard up against the visibility splay and would not have sufficient space to 
regrow over time. This has now been revised. Concern was also raised with regard to the 
Monger Lane Access and the amount of hedgerow proposed to be translocated. A 
detailed access plan has now been provided which shows an acceptable level of 
translocation.  
 
A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) will be required to ensure the 
long-term success of the landscape mitigation and enhancement measures, and this can 
be secured by condition.  
 

Page 116



Third parties have highlighted that the proposed solar development is within an area of 
low potential for a solar development of this scale, within the Landscape Sensitivity 
Assessment Renewable Energy Development (LUC 2021 Report). This report indicates 
that much of the B&NES district has, from a landscape sensitivity perspective, low 
potential for solar development of 15-30 hectares. The report, does not, prevent solar 
development from coming forward in these areas and if such impacts of solar projects of 
this scale can be mitigated and the level of adverse impacts are not unacceptable, then 
there is no reason that development should be refused on this basis.  
 
Further, it has been raised that brownfield sites should be used for solar development, as 
well as existing roofs of buildings and not green fields. B&NES is an overwhelmingly rural 
district. Ideally, solar would be directed toward brownfield sites; however, the district has a 
finite number of such sites and not all will be suitable for solar development. Indeed, there 
are also other priorities such as housing and employment development which need to be 
balanced with the need for renewable energy. Sites also need to be able to deliver a point 
of connection to the grid so that electricity can be exported. There is therefore acceptance 
from officers that rural sites will need to come forward.  
 
The proposed development will have an impact upon the existing landscape and will 
introduce urban infrastructure into this rural location on the edge of Paulton. However, the 
LVA has robustly demonstrated that the level of adverse impact can be mitigated to at 
least "moderate" after a ten-year period. It is also important to note that the development 
will be removed at the end of its life and a decommissioning strategy can be secured by 
condition. There is no objection to the proposals from the Council's Landscape Officer, 
who, alongside the case officer, has rigorously assessed the scheme from a landscape 
perspective.  
 
It is therefore considered that the development meets policy CP3 in respect of landscape, 
and policies NE2 and NE2A.  
 
HERITAGE ASSETS: 
 
Policy HE1 of the Placemaking Plan, alongside Policy CP6 of the Core Strategy, seeks to 
safeguard the district's heritage assets. Development should preserve or enhance those 
elements which contribute to the special character and appearance of Conservation 
Areas. Any harm must be justified and weighed against the public benefits of the proposal; 
great weight must be given to the preservation of the heritage asset in question. 
 
There are duties placed on the Council under; Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, when considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, that the local 
planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or 
its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
The setting of a heritage asset (as set out in the NPPF Annexe 2: Glossary) is 'the 
surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may 
change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a 
positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to 
appreciate that significance or may be neutral.' PPG advises that 'when assessing any 

Page 117



application for development which may affect the setting of a heritage asset, local 
planning authorities may need to consider the implications of cumulative change.' 
 
Conservation Areas: 
 
Paulton is the closest Conservation Area. However, the submitted Zone of Theoretical 
Visibility (ZTV) demonstrates limited visibility of the site. There are only glimpsed views 
out to countryside from the centre of Paulton. The map provided indicates small areas of 
theoretical visibility. Following an assessment of the information provided and a review of 
the site, the development is not considered to impact the Paulton Conservation Area. 
 
Midsomer Norton Conservation Area is shown on the ZTV not to be impacted by the 
development and there is no objection to this conclusion. 
 
Following officer advice, further assessment of the Radstock Conservation Area was 
undertaken with specific assessment of Combe End and Clandown and the Fosse Way 
Ridge where there would be some intervisibility. The Conservation Area is currently being 
reviewed, and initial assessments have indicated the potential expansion of the 
designation to include Clandown Farm. This asset has been separately assessed as it is 
also listed. 
 
Whilst the application site would be visible to the west of the designation, the impact is not 
considered to cause harm to the Conservation Area, including the new potential additions 
to the designation. This is due to the scale of development and the change in nature to the 
rural landscape when viewed from within the conservation area towards to the application 
site. Given this distance between the asset and the application site, combined with 
existing vegetation and historic use of the land, the introduction of the solar panels would 
cause less than substantial harm to the setting of the designation. The Council's 
Conservation Officer has advised that this would be a low level of less than substantial 
harm. 
 
Listed Buildings: 
 
The heritage assessment has included four listed buildings which are within the middle 
study area: Clandown Farmhouse, Church of The Holy Trinity and Holy Trinity Vicarage. 
 
Whilst there is established landscaping on the boundary of the Church of the Holy Trinity 
and Vicarage, it is agreed with the conclusion of the Heritage Assessment that there 
would be a low level of less than substantial harm to these listed buildings. This is due to 
views towards to the application site being possible and the resulting change in character. 
No further listed building settings are considered to be harmed. 
 
The application seeks consent to improve landscaping, and this is identified in the 
statement as potential mitigation. Whilst it is not considered that the landscaping will fully 
address the level of harm, its implementation is supported to enable some additional 
screening. 
 
Undesignated Heritage Assets: 
 

Page 118



Following pre-application advice, the heritage statement has included non-designated 
heritage assets. The authors state there are no non-designated heritage assets in the 
vicinity as these have not been included in the HER.  
 
The NPPF states that 'non-designated heritage assets are buildings, monuments, sites, 
places, areas or landscapes identified by plan-making bodies as having a degree of 
heritage significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, but which do not meet 
the criteria for designated heritage assets. A substantial majority of buildings have little or 
no heritage significance and thus do not constitute heritage assets. Only a minority have 
enough heritage significance to merit identification as non-designated heritage assets.' 
 
There are a number of buildings which are identified on the 1840s tithe map within close 
proximity of the site and visits to these identify that they have a degree of heritage 
significance in their construction and style. This includes a group of buildings at Monger, 
adjacent to the site and isolated buildings dotted in the vicinity of the application site. 
These examples were highlighted to the applicant, and it is therefore disappointing that 
they were not assessed further before being discounted within the heritage statement. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, the buildings identified have been assessed by the 
Conservation Team and it is considered that Broadway Cottages and properties on Craw 
Lane would not be impacted.  
 
There would be a clear level of intervisibility between properties at Monger Lane and 
Clandown Road. These buildings have modern alterations and would not be worthy of 
listing.  
 
Heritage balance: 
 
The NPPF sets out at paragraph 112 that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset's conservation; and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be.  
 
In respect of non-designated heritage asset, paragraph 216 of the NPPF confirms that the 
effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be 
taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or 
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
 
Less than substantial harm has been identified to the Church of the Holy Trinity and 
Vicarage and the Radstock Conservation Area. Paragraph 215 sets out that where a 
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 
There will be a number of public benefits to the scheme which have been set out in the 
principle of development section of this report but are summarised again below.  
 
The proposed development will result in a significant contribution to the Council's 
renewable energy targets. The NPPF also sets out (paragraph 161) that the NPPF should 

Page 119



support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. Additionally, the 
proposal will result in jobs being created during construction and through the ongoing 
operation of the development; this should be afforded moderate weight. The scheme is 
also providing a significant biodiversity gain, which is also of public benefit with regard to 
biodiversity.  
 
Attributing great weight to the significance of the heritage assets (Church of the Holy 
Trinity and Vicarage and the Radstock Conservation Area), it is considered that there are 
public benefits associated with the development which outweigh the harm identified and 
the scheme therefore complies with policy HE1.  
 
In respect of the non-designated heritage assets, it is considered that the harm is not 
significant and taking a balanced judgement, as per the provisions of the NPPF, it is not 
considered that the level of harm would be sufficient reason to refuse the application. 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY: 
 
Policy HE1 of the Placemaking Plan sets out that Scheduled monuments and other non-
designated archaeological sites of equivalent significance should be preserved in situ. In 
those cases where this is not justifiable, or feasible provision should be made for their 
excavation and recording. The appropriate publication and curation of the finds/archive will 
be required. 
 
The submitted geophysical survey and Cultural Heritage Impact Assessment (CHIA) 
indicate that the area proposed for the solar farm contains potential archaeology of local 
significance relating to possibly Roman and Industrial periods and proposes that trial 
trench investigation take place post-determination. The CHIA also states that if remains of 
higher significance than predicted are encountered during trial trenching, alternative 
design options to limit harm to below ground archaeological remains will be implemented.   
 
As such, pre-commencement conditions are recommended securing the implementation 
of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation and an archaeological field investigation with subsequent programme of 
archaeological work.  
 
Subject to these conditions, the scheme complies with policy HE1 with regard to 
archaeology. 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY: 
 
The key consideration with regard to residential amenity is the potential for noise and 
disturbance. Whilst this will not occur from the panels themselves, the development 
includes a large Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) which will generate noise 
pollution. An Acoustic Assessment (ion Acoustics) accompanies the submission. The 
Assessment positions are set out on page 2 of the assessment and are as follows: 
 
AP1 - Springfield Farm 
AP2 - Bowlditch Farm 
AP3 - Salisbury Cottage 
AP4 - Broadway Cottage 

Page 120



AP5 - Monger Cottages 
AP6 - Bences Lodge 
 
These are the nearest residential receptors and are thus considered appropriate 
assessment points.  
 
The noise generating equipment can be summarised as follows: 
 
- 36no. BYD MC Cube ESS Battery Units 
- 16no. SMA 4600 UP Central Inverters: 13 servicing the BESS site and 3 servicing 
the solar farm 
- 1no. HV Transformer 
The noise assessment confirms that "the nature of solar farms is such that electricity is 
only generated during daylight hours. Electricity generation may extend in times 
considered part of the night during the summer, i.e. early mornings before 0700hrs, and 
also during the evening period after 1900hrs. Note that the early morning periods during 
spring and summer often coincide with the dawn chorus. The solar farm would not be 
operational at the quietest times of the night, nor during the late evening when most 
people would be trying to sleep." 
 
However, the BESS can operate at any time of the day or night. They are typically 
expected to operate at peak times, such as early winter evenings.  
 
The World Health Organisation (WHO) set out external noise criteria to protect residents. 
Outside bedroom windows, noise levels should not exceed 45dBL so that residents can 
sleep with their windows open. The WHO limit is a level taken 1m from the façade of a 
building, and so the equivalent free field level will be approximately 3dBL lower at 42dBL. 
In amenity spaces such as gardens, noise levels of 50dBL will cause moderate 
annoyance, and noise levels of 55dBL will cause serious annoyance.  
 
A 48-hour baseline noise assessment was carried out in April 2023, with monitoring points 
being set up at Springfield (MP1) and Bowlditch (MP2) Farms. The typical background 
noise levels were as follows: 
 
MP1 - 39dBL (7am-11pm) and 25dB: (11pm - 7am) 
MP2 - 35dBL (7am-11pm) and 25dB: (11pm - 7am) 
 
The noise assessment clarifies that at "night, the background noise levels are very low 
and in such circumstances BS 4142 states that absolute noise limits can be more relevant 
as discussed in Section 3.3. In this case, an appropriate can be derived from the WHO 
Community Noise 1999 guidance as discussed in Section 3.4 above. To prevent sleep 
disturbance, a limit of LAeq 42dB (free-field) is advised. To ensure that the new 
development cannot be a factor in the LAeq 42dB limit being exceeded, plant noise levels 
would need to be 10dB below this i.e. LAeq 32dB." 
 
A 4m acoustic barriers is proposed to surround the BESS, which can be secured by 
condition, and is taken into account in the proposed noise levels. Page 18 of the noise 
assessment sets out the results of the noise impact assessment.  
 

Page 121



During the daytime (7am-11pm) the noise levels range from 32dBL to 37 dBL, including a 
+2dBL correction for audible tones. The noise levels at AP1 and AP2 are most impacted 
by the development, but the noise levels will still be at or below the background noise 
levels.  
 
For the night time, the scenario in the noise assessment includes all plant running 
simultaneously. It is noted that this is unlikely to occur in practice because the predictions 
are based on an external temperature of 25 degrees centigrade which is a fairly rare 
occurrence in the UK, except in peak Summer. The approach to using the worst case 
scenario is appropriate and welcomed.  
 
The results of the night time assessment (11pm - 7am) also include a +2dBL correction for 
tonality. The noise limit is set at 32dBL for the reasons set out above. The noise limits 
range from 24dBL to 32dBL at Springfield Farm. This indicates that there will be a low 
noise impact.  
 
It is imperative that the acoustic fencing is installed prior to the first use of the BESS and a 
condition is thus recommended to this end. The Council's Environmental Projection Team 
have assessed the noise assessment and have no objection to the proposals.  
 
Whilst the scheme is located such that it will not result in overbearing or overshadowing; it 
will result in a change in outlook for residents. An important aspect to consider is glint and 
glare - a Glint and Glare Study accompanies the submission (PagerPower).  
 
There is no formal guidance which sets out the distance at which glint and glare should be 
assessed. The submitted report deals with road, aviation and dwelling receptors, which is 
considered appropriate. 88 dwellings were identified for assessment.  
 
The study demonstrates that a number of dwellings will experience some impacts from the 
panels. For most dwellings, the solar reflections are predicted for less than 60 minutes per 
day, and for less than 3 months of the year. A number will experience the same, but for 
more than 3 months of the year. However, for these properties there is identified 
screening like existing vegetation, which will result in no impact. Table 3 in the submitted 
report sets out these results in detail. As screening matures, the impacts will decrease. 
Impact levels range from none to moderate. Although the outlook from a number of 
dwellings will change, the impacts are not considered to be significant as demonstrated by 
the results of the glint and glare assessment.  
 
Although not related to residential amenity, it can also be reported that the proposals are 
acceptable in terms of glint and glare effects for aviation and the highway network.  
 
The scheme is considered to comply with policy D6 of the Placemaking Plan.  
 
ARBORICULTURE: 
 
An Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and tree survey have been submitted with the 
application. The AIA states that no trees will require removal for any of the associated 
activities however, a number of small hedgerow sections have been identified as requiring 
removal for the construction of new access tracks.  
 

Page 122



The report identifies four A category trees; two are within hedging towards the north of the 
site and two are isolated within the fields and are more vulnerable to damage. These 
could be future veteran trees if appropriately managed within a Landscape Ecological 
Management Plan, which will be secured by way of condition. The Council's Arboricultural 
Officer has raised that T15 could be linked to the eastern hedge via a section of new 
hedge to improve biodiversity. Additional new planting is being provided across the site, 
which is further explored in the ecology section below, and hedgerow planting this location 
would not complement the existing panel layout, which are deliberately pushed away from 
hedgerows to provide an ecological buffer. This has therefore not been requested by the 
case officer.  
 
Fencing is proposed for tree protection and the intention to erect the permanent security 
fencing first where this is feasible to provide tree protection and avoid unnecessary 
temporary fencing is noted. This is a reasonable proposal, but a watching brief should be 
employed to prevent accidental damage and ensure that the security fencing is correctly 
positioned. The Tree Protection plan also needs to be updated so that the security fencing 
is highlighted for easy identification and included in the key on the Tree Protection Plan. 
An updated plan can be secured by condition, as well as further details of the new tree 
planting, which is welcomed.  
 
ECOLOGY: 
 
An Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) has been submitted with the application (Tyler 
Grange, 15th August 2024), and a further EcIA Addendum (Tyler Grange, 18th February 
2025). The addendum report provides details of additional surveys for birds and bats 
further to the 2024 report. 
 
The EcIA states that "the site is comprised of agricultural pastural (modified grassland, 
negligible ecological importance) land, bisected by native species-rich hedgerows (local 
ecological importance) with some scattered trees (local ecological importance). The site 
contains habitats that support common and widespread nesting and foraging birds, 
foraging and commuting bats, badgers, brown hare, and possible hedgehogs, amphibians 
and reptiles". 
 
The level of survey effort undertaken and the assessment of the ecological baseline are 
considered acceptable for the site. 
 
The EcIA identifies the site as being of local importance for bats, and a relatively diverse 
assemblage of species was recorded on site including lesser horseshoe and greater 
horseshoe bats which are annex II species. The EcIA considers it unlikely that the greater 
horseshoe bats recorded on site are likely to be associated with Mells Valley SAC which is 
accepted.  
 
The EcIA does identify that the hedgerows on site 'aid commuting and foraging' of bats 
and that these are to be retained. Clarity was sought by officers in regard to the buffer 
zones between the arrays and hedgerows and an Ecological Parameters Plan was 
subsequently submitted. This shows a 5m buffer surrounding retained hedgerow which is 
considered to be acceptable and will allow for bat/bird foraging and commuting, as well as 
management and maintenance.  
 

Page 123



A shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment was submitted and concludes that the 
proposed development would not give rise to likely significant effects on the Mells Valley 
SAC, the Chew Valley Lake SPA or the Mendip Wodland SAC. This conclusion is 
accepted by the Council and the shadow Habitat Regulations Assessment position is, for 
the avoidance of doubt, adopted by the Council.  
 
Natural England have been consulted in respect of the HRA and conclude the following: 
 
"A Habitats Regulations Assessment Statement has been provided which has screened 
the proposal to check for the likelihood of significant effects. Your assessment concludes 
that the proposal can be screened out from further stages of assessment because 
significant effects are unlikely to occur, either alone or in combination. On the basis of the 
information provided, Natural England concurs with this view." 
 
A revised biodiversity net gain metric has been submitted which accounts for the fact that 
some newly seeded grassland will be beneath solar panels, making future management 
challenging. The revised metric demonstrates a 63% net gain in habitat units and a 33% 
uplift in hedgerow units, far in excess of the 10% mandatory requirement. This can be 
secured by condition. 
 
Overall, the scheme is considered to be ecologically acceptable.  
 
TRANSPORT AND HIGHWAYS: 
 
The scheme is shown to provide four access points into the site, two existing agricultural 
access points from Monger Lane, one further existing access point located on Water Lane 
and one proposed new access point to be provided along Ongar Lane as shown on the 
Layout Plan.  
 
The Transport and Access Statement (TAS) states that during the construction period the 
access along Water Lane will not accommodate any construction traffic; the existing 
access points would be utilised from Monger Lane, with the eastern access 
accommodating movements to and from the site. This access point leads into a 
permeable access track and temporary site compound with suitable turning and parking 
facilities for construction vehicles. A plan was provided during the course of the application 
which details the access arrangements and visibility splays, which are considered suitable 
given the data collected by the Automatic Traffic Count (ATC) in the area.  
 
The ATC provided details of the traffic flow and vehicle speeds along the site. The surveys 
recorded two-way vehicle data along Monger Lane, Clandown Road and Water Lane over 
a seven-day period. A 12-hour survey was undertaken on Monger Lane to record 
vehicular and pedestrian volumes to the south of the proposed access point. Figure 2.5 
within the TAS indicates the location of each survey location.  
 
The results within point 2.3 details that a maximum average of 48 two-way movements 
during the weekday AM peak (8am-9am), and 59 two-way movements in the weekday PM 
peak (5pm-6pm). Details of HGV movements were also recorded with a maximum daily 
movement of 7 vehicle with 2 other goods vehicles over a 24-hour period.  
 

Page 124



The vehicle speeds were recorded along the access roads which gave a maximum 85th 
percentile vehicular speed of 31mph along Clandown Road, 26mph along Monger Lane 
and a maximum of 24mph along Water Lane. The survey concluded that the vehicles 
speeds along the surrounding highways were lower than the posted speed limit. 
 
The survey recorded 22 pedestrian movements along the site within the 12-hour period. 
As a PRoW (CL24/26) is located along Monger Lane, south of the proposed construction 
accesses, the scheme will need to provide suitable signage for both pedestrians and 
construction workers information. 
 
The sites anticipated trip generation is 876 vehicle movements during the stated 32-week 
construction period, which equates to around 27-28 movements per week. This is the 
equivalent of around 4-5 trips a day for construction related traffic, which is not considered 
to be significant. However, point 5.4.8 of the TAS states that approximately 30 staff 
members will require access to the site per day during peak construction period. The staff 
requirement may, as a maximum, provide 60 two-way movements a day on top of the 
construction vehicle movements. A revised layout plan has been submitted which provides 
an area for dedicated onsite parking which would be temporary for the construction period. 
The car park shows 23 spaces, but there is capacity to accommodate further space within 
the site if required and this is accepted.  
 
Information regarding how car sharing opportunities will be promoted was required by the 
Highway Authority to ensure that suitable measures were able to be provided. The 
submitted information sets out that this will be promoted via the site manager and 
contractors. The Highway Authority consider this acceptable, give the provision of car 
parking space through the amended plans.  
 
It is therefore considered that the development can be constructed without significant 
impact to the local highway network and subsequently operated safely and without impact. 
A construction management plan can be secured by condition, as well as the highway 
works to the access to provide the suitable visibility splays. A decommissioning plan will 
also need to be secured so that any potential impacts during this phase can be mitigated.  
 
FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE: 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority (B&NES) and the Environment Agency were consulted in 
respect of the application. It is noted that several third parties have raised flood risk 
concerns in their comments.  
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority (B&NES) reviewed the scheme in terms of flooding and 
surface water management. This land currently contributes to recurring flooding of 
Bowlditch Lane, and this development could exacerbate this issue. There is therefore a 
reasonable expectation for attenuation to be provided across the highlighted surface water 
flood flow paths within the submitted Flood Risk Assessment.  
 
As originally submitted, there was some discrepancy between the Surface Water 
Management Plan and layout plans in terms of surface water infrastructure being provided 
on the site (attenuation basin, pond and underground water tanks). The Management Plan 
also did not detail where the attenuation basin and ponds would flow to.  
 

Page 125



A Drainage Technical Note dated 6th December 2024 was submitted. This clarified that 
the cessation of farming activities (such as ploughing, traversing the field with heavy 
machinery and allowing it to become trodden by livestock) will likely reduce the run-off 
rates from the site. Indeed, the Environment Agency have shown that farming activity can 
considerably increase the rate of run off from a site. The change will reduce soil compacts 
which will allow them to become aerated and should improve their water acceptance 
potential. The proposed grass and meadow planting for biodiversity purposes will also 
serve to limit flows across the site as they will have high levels of attenuation.  
 
The underground water tanks proposed are not for surface water management. A number 
of third parties have raised concern with regard to fire risk and the battery storage. The 
National Fire Chiefs Council provide guidance for battery systems and states that: 
 
'Any static water storage tanks designed to be used for firefighting must be located at least 
10 metres away from any BESS container/cabinet. They must be clearly marked with 
appropriate signage. They must be easily accessible to FRS vehicles and their siting 
should be considered as part of a risk assessed approach that considers potential fire 
development/impacts. Outlets and connections should be agreed with the local FRS. Any 
outlets and hard suction points should be protected from mechanical damage (e.g. 
through use of bollards).' 
 
The Fire Service has been consulted and has not raised comment. A condition can secure 
confirmation that outlets and connection have been agreed with the local fire service in 
accordance with the guidance above, prior to the first use export of electricity to the grid.  
 
It has also been clarified that the proposed pond and attenuation basin is provided for 
biodiversity net gain and for habitat for fauna and wildlife and does not form part of the 
Surface Water Management Plan.  
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority, upon receipt of the Technical Note, have confirmed that 
the submitted Management Plan is acceptable and do not object to the proposals.  
 
The Environment Agency originally objected to the proposals on the basis that insufficient 
information had been supplied to demonstrate that the risk of pollution posed to 
groundwater quality could be safely managed.  
 
Revised information has been submitted, and the Environment Agency have removed 
their objection to the proposals. The BESS will be served by a sealed surface water 
drainage system and is situated upon a High Vulnerability Secondary A aquifer which is 
designated for the protection of potable water used for human drinking water supplies.  
 
The proposed development will be acceptable if the measures detailed in the "Report on 
Drainage and Contaminated Water Management for Co-located Solar and Battery Energy 
Storage System (BESS) Sit, Version 2, Dated 16/02/2025" are implemented. This can be 
secured by way of condition.  
 
The LLFA and Environment Agency now have no objection to the proposals, and it is 
acceptable in flooding and drainage terms.  
 
 

Page 126



PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY: 
 
The B&NES Public Rights of Way team has no objection to the application. If any 
construction works or the siting of fencing will impinge upon the definitive line of any of the 
public footpaths, then a pre-construction site visit with the PROW team must be arranged. 
A number of informatives can be added to the decision notice to remind the applicant of 
PROW processes. 
 
SECURITY AND DESIGNING OUT CRIME: 
 
Paragraph 135 of the NPPF requires that planning decisions create places that are safe, 
inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of 
amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, 
do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 
 
The Designing Out Crime Officer (Avon and Somerset Police) has made comment on the 
application. They note that the proposed deer fencing may not be a suitable deterrent for 
theft and advises that means of intrusion detection and physical security needs to be 
robust. CCTV should also be employed. A CCTV plan can be secured by way of condition.  
 
There is no overall objection from the police, and the applicant is advised to note their 
advice in respect of security. 
 
OTHER MATTERS: 
 
Third parties have raised concerns that the development will decrease property prices. 
This is not a material planning consideration.  
 
Concerns have been raised with regard to Electromagnetic Radiation. The applicant has 
provided the following information: 
 
"Like batteries used in handheld devices, lithium-ion and other types of batteries do not 
give off electromagnetic radiation. These batteries store electrical energy in chemical 
form, which can be converted back into electrical energy and discharged back to the grid. 
This conversion is performed by a bidirectional inverter, which must be tested and certified 
for electromagnetic compatibility. 
 
There are elements of the proposed installation such as transformers and overhead 
cables that will produce some electromagnetic radiation. They are designed in accordance 
with stringent directives and codes which ensure that any electromagnetic emissions are 
kept to safe levels. There is also no evidence that electromagnetic fields at the 
frequencies associated with BESS developments causes harm to health.  
 
PACE have also confirmed that all equipment associated with the scheme will be installed 
in compliance with the 1998 ICNIRP (International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation 
Protection) guidelines on the limitation of public exposure to electromagnetic fields." 
 
This is considered to be acceptable. 
 
 

Page 127



PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY: 
 
In reaching its decision on a planning application the Council is required to have regard to 
the duties contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, known collectively as the 
public sector equality duty. 
 
Section 149 provides that the Council must have due regard to the need to— 
(a)     eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation  
(b)  advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c)  foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
 
Officers have had due regard to these matters when assessing this application and have 
concluded that neither the granting nor the refusal of this application would be likely to 
have an impact on protected groups and, therefore, that these considerations would not 
weigh in favour of or against this application. 
 
CONCLUSION:  
 
The proposed development will represent a change in the existing landscape within this 
area. However, overtime it is considered that landscape harms can be successfully 
mitigated in line with planning policy. Less than substantial harm to heritage assets has 
been identified, but it has been demonstrated that these are clearly outweighed by the 
public benefits of the scheme. Additional information has been provided to alleviate 
concerns with regard to hedgerow buffers in ecological terms and the scheme is 
considered to be policy compliant in this regard.  
 
There are a number of benefits associated with the proposals which must be given weight 
in the planning assessment.  
 
The scheme will provide a significant contribution to the Council's renewable energy 
requirements. There is a critical and identified need for clean, renewable energy and the 
NPPF provides a strong policy narrative for supporting such developments. The BESS will 
store energy so that it can be distributed more evenly throughout the year, at times where 
there is less sunlight and/or demand for electricity is particularly high.  
 
Further, the proposed BNG uplift is in excess of the required 10% net gain, which is also 
considered to be of benefit.  
 
The scheme will provide jobs during the construction and operational phases which should 
also be attributed weight as a benefit. 
 
"Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) makes clear that a Local 
Planning Authority must have regard to "the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application" and "any other material considerations". Further, Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that "where in making any 
determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the development plan, the 
determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material consideration 
indicates otherwise"." 

Page 128



 
In this case, it is considered that the proposals comply with the development plan as a 
whole and officers recommended that the application is permitted in line with the 
conditions set out below. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission. 
 
 2 Biodiversity Net Gain Plan (Pre-commencement) 
Unless confirmed as exempt, no development shall commence until full details of a 
Biodiversity Gain Plan achieving a minimum of 10% measurable biodiversity net gain, and 
a Habitat Management Plan for any on-site habitats and biodiversity measures, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plans shall be in 
accordance with current best practice guidelines and standards and shall be in 
accordance with the approved Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment and calculation and shall 
include the following: 
 
In all cases: 
1. Pre and post development biodiversity values including a completed metric 
calculation tool using the DEFRA Biodiversity Metric or any successor, and accompanying 
evidence for baseline condition assessments; 
2. A BNG habitat map for on-site proposed habitats 
3. Information about the steps taken to minimise the adverse effect of the 
development on the biodiversity of the onsite habitat and any other habitat and, in the 
case of any irreplaceable habitat, information on arrangements for compensation for any 
impact of the development has on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat (which does 
not include the use of biodiversity credits). 
4. Details and evidence of any registered off-site biodiversity gain units allocated to 
the development and any biodiversity credits purchased for the development; 
Where on-site habitat is proposed/retained: 
5. Long term aims and objectives and targets for habitats; proposed management 
prescriptions and operations; timing, frequency, durations and methods of operations; 
specialist expertise, specialist tools/machinery or equipment and personnel where 
required to meet the stated aims and objectives;  
6. Annual work schedule for at least a 30 year period 
7. A list of activities and operations that shall not take place and shall not be permitted 
within the Habitat Management Plan (HMP) area (for example use of herbicides; on-site 
disposal of grass cuttings or other vegetation waste; routine cutting of ivy where there is 
no specific arboricultural justification; inappropriate maintenance methods, storage of 
materials; inappropriate machine or vehicle access). 

Page 129



8. Detailed monitoring strategy for habitats and species, and methods of measuring 
progress towards and achievement of stated objectives. 
9. Details of proposed reporting to the Local Planning Authority, and proposed review 
and remediation mechanism. 
10. Proposed costs and resourcing, and legal responsibilities. 
The Biodiversity Gain and Habitat Management Plans shall be implemented in 
accordance with the agreed details and timetable, and all habitats and measures shall be 
retained and maintained thereafter in accordance with the approved details. 
 
 
Reason: To protect and enhance ecological interests and to ensure delivery of Biodiversity 
Net Gain in accordance with Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update 
policies NE3, NE3a NE5 and D5e and paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and 
Country Planning 1990 Act (Biodiversity Gain Condition). 
 
 3 Construction Management Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include 
details of the following: 
1. Deliveries (including storage arrangements and timings); 
2. Contractor parking; 
3. Traffic management; 
4. Working hours; 
5. Site opening times; 
6. Wheel wash facilities; 
7. Site compound arrangements; 
8. Measures for the control of dust; 
 
The construction of the development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details. 
  
Reason: To ensure the safe operation of the highway and in the interests of protecting 
residential amenity in accordance with policy D6 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Placemaking Plan and ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial 
Update. This is a pre-commencement condition because any initial construction or 
demolition works could have a detrimental impact upon highways safety and/or residential 
amenity. 
 
 4 Construction Environmental Management Plan for Ecology (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall take place (including ground works or vegetation clearance) until a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: Ecology) has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP: Ecology shall include 
the following: 
 
1) Risk assessment of potentially damaging activities 
2) Boundaries of mapped exclusion zones for the protection of ecologically sensitive 
species or retained habitats and features, with boundaries shown to scale on a plan, and 
details and specifications for proposed fencing, barriers, and warning signs, as applicable 

Page 130



3) The role and responsibilities on site of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) or similarly 
competent person, and proposed pre-commencement checks and survey, including 
proposed reporting of findings to the Local Planning Authority Ecologist 
4) The times and frequency of visits during construction when a professional ecologist 
needs to be present on site to oversee works 
5) Responsible persons and lines of communication 
6) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid 
or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements), 
to include the location, timing and methodologies of specified works to avoid harm to 
wildlife and sensitive features, and to include measures for pollution control and covering 
runoff, dust, litter, chemical spillages, materials storage, vehicle movements, noise and 
lighting impacts 
 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction 
period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To avoid harm to existing and retained habitats and species during site 
preparation and construction works. The above condition is required to be pre-
commencement as it involves approval of measures to ensure protection of wildlife that 
would be otherwise harmed during site preparation and construction phases. 
 
 5 Archaeological Evaluation (Pre-commencement)  
No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a written scheme of investigation which has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological work should 
provide a field evaluation of the site to determine date, extent, and significance of any 
archaeological deposits or features, and shall be carried out by a competent person and 
completed in accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation.  
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish to evaluate the significance and extent of any archaeological remains. This condition 
is a pre-commencement condition because any construction works have the potential to 
harm archaeology. 
 
 6 Archaeological Mitigation (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has presented the results of the archaeological field evaluation to the Local Planning 
Authority, and has secured the implementation of a subsequent programme of 
archaeological work, or preservation in situ methodology in accordance with a written 
scheme of investigation which has first been agreed and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The agreed programme of archaeological work shall be carried out by 
a competent person and completed in accordance with the approved written scheme of 
investigation.  
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish record and protect any archaeological remains. This condition is a pre-
commencement condition because any construction works have the potential to harm 
archaeology. 

Page 131



 
 7 Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No construction or decommissioning shall commence until a Detailed Arboricultural 
Method Statement with Tree Protection Plan following the recommendations contained 
within BS 5837:2012 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The arboricultural method statement shall include details of the following: 
 
1. A programme of works to include details of supervision and monitoring by an 
Arboricultural Consultant and the provision of site visit records and certificates of 
completion to the local planning authority; 
2. Measures to control potentially harmful operations such as site preparation (including 
demolition, clearance, earthworks and level changes), the storage, handling, mixing or 
burning of materials on the site and the movement of people and machinery throughout 
the site; 
3. The location of any site office, temporary services and welfare facilities; 
4. The location of any service runs or soakaway locations; 
5. A scaled Tree Protection Plan showing the location of all retained trees and tree 
protection measures. 
 
Details of the above for the decommissioning phase shall be submitted to the Council no 
later than six months prior to the 45th anniversary of the first export date.  
 
No development or other operations shall thereafter take place except in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals in accordance with Policy NE6 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. This is a condition precedent because the works 
comprising the development have the potential to harm retained trees. Therefore, these 
details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
 
 8 Materials - Submission of Materials Schedule (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the buildings (including the solar inverter cabin, batter inverter cabin 
and BESS) shall commence until a schedule of materials and finishes to be used in the 
construction of the external surfaces, including roofs, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The schedule shall include: 
 
1. Detailed specification of the proposed materials (Type, size, colour, brand, quarry 
location, etc.); 
2. Photographs of all of the proposed materials; 
3. An annotated drawing showing the parts of the development using each material.  
 
Samples of any of the materials in the submitted schedule shall be made available at the 
request of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy, 

Page 132



policies D1, D2 and D3 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and 
Policy D5 of the Bath and North Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
 9 Landscape Design Proposals (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until full details of both hard and soft landscape 
proposals and programme of implementation have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. These details shall include, as appropriate: 
1. Proposed finished levels or contours 
2. Means of enclosure 
3. Car parking layouts 
4. Other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas 
5. Hard surfacing materials 
6. Minor artefacts and structures (e.g. outdoor furniture, play equipment, refuse or other 
storage units, signs, lighting) 
7. Proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (eg drainage, 
power, communication cables, pipelines, etc, indicating lines, manholes, supports etc) 
 
Soft landscape details shall be consistent with the Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment/ 
Biodiversity Gain Plan/ Ecological Report and shall include: 
1. Planting plans 
2. Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant 
and grass establishment) 
3. Schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed numbers / densities 
 
Reason: To ensure that the landscape works are implemented and maintained to ensure 
the continued provision of amenity and environmental quality and to ensure appropriate 
biodiversity net gain is secured in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and NE2, NE3, and NE3a of the Bath and North 
East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
10 Implementation of Landscaping Scheme (Bespoke Trigger) 
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with the programme of implementation agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Any trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, within a period of 30 years 
from the date of the development being completed, die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the current or first available planting 
season with other trees or plants of species, size and number as originally approved 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. All hard and 
soft landscape works shall be retained in accordance with the approved details for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the landscape works are implemented and maintained to ensure 
the continued provision of amenity and environmental quality and to ensure appropriate 
biodiversity net gain is secured in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and NE2, NE3, and NE3a of the Bath and North 
East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 

Page 133



11 Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development hereby approved shall take place until full details of a 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. These details shall be fully in 
accordance with all approved ecological mitigation, compensation, enhancement and 
biodiversity net gain requirements and shall include: 
 
1. A list of long-term wildlife conservation and landscape design aims and objectives, 
which, where applicable, shall be specific to named habitats, species and ecological 
issues of importance. They shall include (but not be limited to): delivery and long term 
maintenance of landscaping and habitats to achieve Biodiversity Net Gain. 
2. Creation of habitats to a specified condition and / or that achieve specified levels of 
structural, botanical, and/or invertebrate diversity; provision of habitats suitable for 
specified species (for example linnet and other bird species); habitats with suitable 
conditions, connectivity and quality for use by bats as part of connected flight routes; 
3. Proposed management prescriptions and operations; locations, timing, frequency, 
durations; methods; equipment and personnel as required to meet the stated aims and 
objectives 
4. A plan showing the boundary or boundaries of land to which the LEMP applies. This 
shall include the existing and translocated hedgerows. All details, locations, boundaries of 
habitats and management areas shall also be shown on a plan. 
5. A list of activities and operations that shall not take place and shall not be permitted 
within the LEMP Plan area (for example use of herbicides; waste disposal and disposal of 
arisings; inappropriate maintenance methods; storage of materials; machine or vehicle 
access) 
6. Proposed habitats shall correspond to and meet the minimum standards set out in the 
approved Ecological Mitigation, Compensation and Enhancement Plan 
7. Proposed monitoring and reporting scheme, to include a 5 year rolling programme for 
ongoing review and future remediation strategies 
8. Proposed resourcing; funding sources and legal responsibility. 
 
All required measures shall be incorporated into and compatible with the wider scheme 
and shown to scale on all relevant plans and drawings including landscape design and 
planting plans. All works within the scheme shall be carried out and the land managed and 
maintained and utilised thereafter, in accordance with the approved details and timings. 
 
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of landscape and 
ecological features in the interests of providing net gain of biodiversity and mitigating the 
landscape impacts of the development in accordance with policies NE2, NE2A and NE3 of 
the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update.  
 
12 Ecological Compliance Statement (Pre-occupation) 
Prior to the first exportation of electricity to the grid a report produced by a suitably 
experienced professional ecologist (based on post-construction on-site inspection by a 
suitably experienced professional ecologist) confirming and demonstrating, using 
photographs, adherence to and completion of the CEMP in accordance with approved 
details, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Page 134



Reason: To demonstrate compliance with the CEMP to prevent ecological harm and to 
provide biodiversity gain in accordance with NPPF and policies NE3 NE3A; NE5 and D5e 
of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
13 Fire Safety Compliance Confirmation (Pre-occupation) 
Prior to the first exportation of electricity to the grid, or use of the Battery Energy Storage 
System, evidence shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority that the outlets and connections to the underground water tanks have been 
agreed with the local fire service. The site shall then be operated in accordance with the 
agreed details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is safely operated in accordance with part 8 of 
the NPPF. 
 
14 Highway Works (Pre-occupation) 
No use of the development shall commence until the highway works shown on drawing 
number BLA214-04 has been provided. There shall be no on-site obstruction exceeding 
900mm above ground level within the visibility splay. The visibility splay shall be retained 
permanently thereafter.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by a safe and suitable means of 
access in accordance with Policy ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
Partial Update. 
 
15 External Lighting (Bespoke Trigger) 
No new external lighting shall be installed until full details of the proposed lighting design 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
details shall include:  
1. Lamp models and manufacturer's specifications, positions, numbers, and heights;  
2. Predicted lux levels and light spill on both the horizontal and vertical planes; 
3. Measures to limit use of lights when not required, to prevent upward light spill and to 
prevent light spill onto nearby vegetation and adjacent land. 
 
The lighting shall be installed and operated thereafter in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To avoid harm to bats and wildlife in accordance with policy CP6 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy and policies NE3 and D8 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
16 Acoustic Fencing (Bespoke trigger) 
Prior to the first use of the Battery Energy Storage System, the 4m high Acoustic Fencing, 
as detailed within section 6.2 of the Noise Assessment for Planning Acoustic Report 
A2007 R01 (June 2024), shall be installed in accordance with details which have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This will include 
elevation drawings, a manufacturer's specification, its colour and finish. The fencing shall 
be installed in accordance with the approved details and prior to the first use of the BESS.  
 
Reason: To ensure that landscape character is protected, as well as the residential 
amenity of nearby residents, in accordance with policy CP6 of the Bath and North East 

Page 135



Somerset Core Strategy, policy D6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking 
Plan and policies NE2A and NE2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial 
Update. 
 
17 Arboriculture - Signed Certificate of Compliance (Bespoke Trigger) 
No development or other operations shall take place except in complete accordance with 
the approved Arboricultural Method Statement. A signed compliance statement shall be 
provided by the appointed Arboriculturalist to the local planning authority within 28 days of 
completion of each phase (construction and decommissioning). 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals in accordance with Policy NE6 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan Partial Update and to ensure that the approved method statement is 
complied with for the duration of the development. 
 
18 De-commissioning Strategy (Bespoke Trigger) 
No less than six months before the final export date, or before the 45th anniversary of the 
first export date (whichever is soonest), a decommissioning strategy and site restoration 
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
decommissioning strategy shall include details of how plant and equipment's within the 
site will be removed, including any boundary treatments such as fences, an updated 
Construction Management Plan (De-commissioning) and timescales for the work. The 
strategy shall include copies of pre-decommissioning ecological surveys, and which will 
inform any mitigation requirements. The site shall be decommissioned and restored in 
accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
The site will revert to Greenfield Land following decommissioning and will not be identified 
as previously development land.  
 
Reason: To protect the landscape character in accordance with policy NE2 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update, the safe operation of the highway in 
accordance with policy ST7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial 
Update and to ensure sufficient ecological mitigation in accordance with policies NE3 and 
NE3a of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 
19 Drainage Strategy (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
approved 'Report on Drainage and Contaminated Water Management for Co-located 
Solar and Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) Site, Version 2, Dated 16/02/2025' 
including the specific mitigation measures detailed therein.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed non-mains drainage system does not harm 
groundwater resources in line with paragraph 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and "Position Statement G10 - Developments posing an unacceptable risk of 
pollution".  
 
20 Contaminated Land - Unexpected Contamination (Compliance) 
In the event that contamination which was not previously identified is found at any time 
when carrying out the approved development, it must be reported in writing immediately to 

Page 136



the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter an investigation and risk assessment shall be 
undertaken, and where remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification 
report (that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out) must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first use 
of the development. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
21 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans:  
 
Ecological Parameters Plan (ref. 16134/P09A - dated March 2025) 
Mitigation and Enhancements Plan V5 (ref. UKS579_10 - dated 21.02.2025) 
Layout Plan (ref. UKS579_09 - dated 20.02.2025) 
Hedgerow Translocation - Water Lane Access (BLA214-04 REV B - dated 31.01.2025) 
Hedgerow Translocation - Monger Access (ref. BLA214-05 - dated 13.02.2025) 
Drainage Layout Plan (ref. UKS579 - dated 24.01.2025) 
POC- Mast Elevation (ref. UKS579_07 V0 - dated 08.07.2024) 
Battery Inverter Cabin (ref. UKS579_04A V0 - dated 24.05.2024) 
Location Plan (ref. UKS579_08 0 - dated 07.08.2024) 
Acoustic Fence (ref. UKS579_12 V0 - dated 24.05.2024) 
Double Gate (ref. UKS579_05 V0 - dated 24.05.2024) 
Battery Elevation (ref. UKS579_02 V1 - dated 24.05.2024) 
Access Track Elevation (ref. UKS579_11 V0 - dated 24.05.2024) 
Deer Fence Typical Arrangement (ref. UKS579_06 V1 - dated 24.05.2024) 
PV Panel Elevation (ref. UKS579_03 V0 - dated 24.05.2024) 
Substation Plan & Elevation Drawing (ref. UKS579_07 V0 - dated 08.07.2024) 
Solar Inverter Cabin (ref. UKS579_04 V0 - dated 24.05.2024) 
CCTV (ref UKS579_01 V0 - dated 24.05.2024) 
Appendix D Tree Protection Plan (dated 26.07.2024) 
 
 2 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 

Page 137



 3 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 4 Biodiversity Net Gain - Standard Informative 
 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is 
that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to 
have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that 
development may not begin unless: 
 
(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  
 
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity 
Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 
(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024. 
 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because 
none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements apply. A detailed version of 
the biodiversity gain condition can be found in the list of conditions attached to this 
permission. 
 
The effect of section 73D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990:- 
 

Page 138



If planning  permission is granted on an application made under section 73 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (application to develop land without compliance with 
conditions previously attached) and a Biodiversity Gain Plan was approved in relation to 
the previous planning permission ("the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan") there are 
circumstances when the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan is regarded as approved for the 
purpose of discharging the biodiversity gain condition subject to which the section 73 
planning permission is granted. 
 
Those circumstances are that the conditions subject to which the section 73 permission is 
granted: 
 
i) do not affect the post-development value of the onsite habitat as specified in the 
earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan, and 
ii) in the case of planning permission for a development where all or any part of the 
onsite habitat is irreplaceable habitat the conditions do not change the effect of the 
development on the biodiversity of that onsite habitat (including any arrangements made 
to compensate for any such effect) as specified in the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan. 
 
 5 Responding to Climate Change (Informative): 
 
The council is committed to responding to climate change. You are advised to consider 
sustainable construction when undertaking the approved development and consider using 
measures aimed at minimising carbon emissions and impacts on climate change. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



Item No:   03 

Application No: 24/02841/FUL 

Site Location: Storage Compound Little Horse Croft Farm Ford Road Wellow Bath 

 

 

Ward: Bathavon South  Parish: Wellow  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Matt McCabe Councillor Fiona Gourley  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Retention of contractors compound as additional agricultural hard 
standing. 

Constraints: White Ox Mead Air Strip 3km buffer, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Policy 
CP3 Solar and Wind Landscape Pote, Policy CP8 Green Belt, Policy 
CP9 Affordable Housing, Flood Zone 2, LLFA - Flood Risk 
Management, Policy NE1 Green Infrastructure Network, Policy NE2 
AONB, Policy NE3 SNCI 200m Buffer, Ecological Networks Policy 
NE5, NRN Woodland Strategic Networ Policy NE5, NRN Wetland 
Strategic Network Policy NE5, All Public Rights of Way Records, 
SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr F Shellard 

Expiry Date:  14th February 2025 

Case Officer: Danielle Milsom 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 

Page 140

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/details.html?refval=24/02841/FUL#details_Section


REPORT 
The application refers Little Horse Croft Farm, an agricultural holding located within 
Wellow. The site falls within the Green Belt and Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  
 
Planning permission is sought for the retention of contractors compound as additional 
agricultural hard standing. 
 
Reason for committee 
 
Following the objection made by Wellow Parish Council, which was contrary to officer 
recommendation to PERMIT, the application was referred to the Chair of Planning 
Committee. It was decided that the application be heard by Planning Committee for the 
following reasons: 
 
Cllr Ian Halsall:  
In light of the balance of views as to the acceptability of this proposal within its rural setting 
of the greenbelt and in the National Landscape by the Parish Council and members of the 
public, it is considered that this application would be worthy of consideration by the 
Committee. 
 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
There is no relevant planning history on this site. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses :  
 
Wellow Parish Council: Objection 
The temporary hardstanding was created by Wessex Water to facilitate ongoing works to 
the adjoining sewage plant. It should be noted that whereas Wessex Water notified 
B&NES about the removal of some hedging no mention was made of the hardstanding. 
The 'compound' has an earth bund to two sides and a mature tree line to the other. The 
bund was presumably created with the topsoil which was removed prior to the 
hardcore/gravel being laid.  
 
Wellow Parish Council voted to OBJECT to this application for the following reasons:  
 
1. The existing hardstanding is of a considerable size with little evidence that this is 
necessary to the farm business The main activities on this parcel of land appear to be the 
storing, cutting, drying and selling of firewood and the grazing of horses. A trailer parked 
on the roadside is a rare sight and there appears to be sufficient space around the barn 
area for storage of such vehicles.  
2. The hardstanding is in a flood zone and can easily be seen from the highways contrary 
to statements in the application.  
3. The retention of this development would negatively impact the openness of the Green 
Belt and AONB. The loss of yet more high grade agricultural land on this parcel of land is 
not deemed acceptable. Policies RE5 (Agricultural Land), CP8 (Green Belt), GB1 (Visual 
Amenities in the Green Belt)  

Page 141



4. To avoid more high quality agricultural land being unnecessarily developed Wessex 
Water should restore this site by reinstating the top soil and reseeding when it is no longer 
required 
 
Representations Received :  
 
Three support comments received. A summary is as follows: 
- Good to get agricultural machinery away from highway to avoid hazards and 
accidents 
- Business has grown and the development is needed for progression 
- Important for highway safety 
- Area and levels stays the same and the surface used is permeable  
- Once waters works are complete, the machinery could go back to original storage 
area. The area could then remain and be used for horse exercise.  
- Development would keep the use of the land and surrounding area 
 
Two objections received. A summary is as follows: 
- Detrimental impact on the AONB  
- Hardstanding effects the drainage in an area subject to flooding  
- Against the purposes of the AONB and Green belt  
- Against policies of the local plan and NPPF 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update (2023) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
CORE STRATEGY: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 
B4: The World Heritage Site and its Setting 
CP5: Flood Risk Management  
CP6: Environmental Quality 
CP8: Green Belt  
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 
PLACEMAKING PLAN: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
D1: General urban design principles 

Page 142



D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban fabric 
D4: Streets and spaces  
D6: Amenity 
 
GB1: Visual amenities of the Green Belt 
 
HE1: Historic environment  
RE2: Agricultural development 
SU1: Sustainable drainage policy 
 
LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: 
 
The Local Plan Partial Update for Bath and North East Somerset Council was adopted on 
19th January 2023. The Local Plan Partial Update has introduced a number of new 
policies and updated some of the policies contained with the Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan. The following policies of the Local Plan Partial Update are relevant to 
this proposal:  
 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
 
D8: Lighting  
 
NE1: Development and green infrastructure  
NE2: Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character  
NE3: Sites, species, and habitats 
NE3a: Biodiversity Net Gain 
NE5: Ecological networks 
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development  
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS:  
 
The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 
Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
The Existing Dwellings in the Green Belt Supplementary Planning Document (October 
2008)  
 
The City of Bath World Heritage Site Setting Supplementary Planning Document (August 
2021)  
 
NATIONAL POLICY: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration. Due 
consideration has been given to the provisions of the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG). 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS:  

Page 143



The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
This application proposes the retention of a hard standing previously used and installed by 
Wessex Water under permitted development. The proposal aims to retain the area for use 
associated with the agricultural holding. As a condition under part 13, class A of the 
General Permitted Development Order, upon completion of works, development must be 
removed from the land and the land restored to its former state. The retention of the 
hardstanding therefore requires planning permission. 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT IN THE GREEN BELT: 
 
The site falls within the Green Belt, therefore the principal matter to consider is whether 
the development comprises inappropriate development. Paragraph 154 of the NPPF 
specifies development which is an exception to inappropriate development. This includes 
buildings for agriculture, and also includes engineering operations providing the 
development does not harm the openness of the Green Belt or conflicts with its purposes.  
 
The hardstanding is proposed to cater for the storage of agricultural machinery in 
association with the existing agricultural business. The hardstanding is considered to 
comprise of an engineering operation, therefore the test to consider harm to Green Belt 
openness is of relevance. As per the requirements of the GPDO, the hardstanding is 
required to be removed following completion of works. As a result, the retention of the 
hardstanding is considered as new development for the purposes of the assessment.  
 
The hardstanding is located adjacent to the existing agricultural holding where existing 
barns, structures and hard standing is located. The site is set at a lower ground level from 
the main road with the land sloping down towards the application site. The hardstanding is 
not located in isolation from the existing built development of the site.  
 
The proposal involves additional planting to the east and south of the hardstanding. This 
involves planting on top of the existing earth bund to the east. This would soften views 
from the upper valley. To the south, the trees are proposed along with a meadow. This 
would create a softer backdrop to blend with the landscape.  
 

Page 144



With the additional planting, which would be secured through the BNG condition, and 
given that the hardstanding is sited adjacent to existing hardstanding and development, it 
is considered that harm would not be caused to openness of the Green Belt as a result.  
 
In addition, the storage of any agricultural machinery, or associated storage buildings 
would not be considered inappropriate development, meeting with an exemption listed 
under paragraph 154 of the NPPF.  
 
The proposal to retain the existing hard standing for the purposes of agriculture is 
therefore considered not to be inappropriate in the Green Belt. 
 
The development is therefore considered to be compliant with policy CP8 of the Core 
Strategy, policies GB1 and GB3 of the Local Plan Partial Update and part 13 of the NPPF.  
 
DESIGN, CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE: 
 
Policy D1, D2, D3 and D5 of the Placemaking Plan have regard to the character and 
appearance of a development and its impact on the character and appearance of the host 
building and wider area. Development proposals will be supported, if amongst other things 
they contribute positively to and do not harm local character and distinctiveness. 
Development will only be supported where, amongst other things, it responds to the local 
context in terms of appearance, materials, siting, spacing and layout and the appearance 
of extensions respect and complement their host building.  
 
The hardstanding is located close to the existing hard standing for the farm stead. The 
developed form is therefore concentrated towards the centre of the site. Due to the 
topography of the land, steeply sloping down to the south, its location is suitable. The 
hardstanding would allow for agricultural machinery to be stored, along with other 
agricultural material. Given the agricultural setting, this would not cause harm to the visual 
amenities of the site. Whilst the hardstanding is visible from public view, it is considered to 
be read in conjunction with existing development and as such would not cause harm to 
the character and appearance of the site. Additional vegetation is also proposed to help to 
blend the hardstanding further.  
 
The proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, massing, layout and materials is 
acceptable and contributes and responds to the local context and maintains the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal accords with policy CP6 of the 
Core Strategy, policies D1, D2, D3, D4 and D5 of the Placemaking Plan and part 12 of the 
NPPF. 
 
LANDSCAPE: 
 
Local Plan Partial Update policy NE2 has regard to conserving and enhancing the 
landscape and landscape character. The policy notes a number of criteria which should be 
met in order for the development to be considered acceptable in landscape, including 
conserving the local landscape character and conserving. The policy also states that 
development should seek to avoid or should adequately mitigate any adverse impacts on 
the landscape. Proposals with the potential to impact on the landscape/townscape 
character of an area or on views should be accompanied by a Landscape and Visual 

Page 145



Impact Assessment undertaken by a qualified practitioner to inform the design and 
location of any new development.  
 
There is a duty under Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000 
which states that, "Any relevant authority exercising or performing any functions in relation 
to, or so as to affect, land in an area of outstanding natural beauty in England must seek 
to further the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area of 
outstanding natural beauty. 
 
The development is sited adjacent to existing agricultural buildings, within a site which sits 
at a low ground level. The development is read in conjunction and in association with the 
existing built form. The additional planting would soften its appearance and this has 
sought to screen the proposal to the benefit of the wider landscape. A sequential test has 
also been carried out to identify if there are any other sites within the holding. The 
proposed area is considered to be the most suitable given the topography of the land. The 
proposal would not cause harm to the character and appearance of the site or wider 
landscape area and consideration has also been given as to how to ensure the site is the 
most suitable and how to further screen with vegetation.  
 
Overall, the proposal is considered to comply with policy NE2 of the Local Plan Partial 
Update, policy NE2A of the Placemaking Plan and part 15 of the NPPF.  
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY: 
 
Policy D6 sets out to ensure developments provide an appropriate level of amenity space 
for new and future occupiers, relative to their use and avoiding harm to private amenity in 
terms of privacy, light and outlook/overlooking.  
 
Given the design, scale, massing and siting of the proposed development the proposal 
would not cause significant harm to the amenities of any occupiers or adjacent occupiers 
through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing impact, loss of privacy, noise, smell, 
traffic or other disturbance. The proposal accords with policy D6 of the Placemaking Plan 
and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
HIGHWAYS SAFETY AND PARKING: 
 
Policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to transport requirements for 
managing development. It sets out the policy framework for considering the requirements 
and the implications of development for the highway, transport systems and their users. 
The Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document expands upon policy 
ST7 and includes the parking standards for development.  
 
Access arrangements to the site are not proposed to be altered by this proposal. 
Movements within the site would continue with agricultural vehicles. The submission 
indicates that the retention of the hardstanding would result in less agricultural vehicles 
needing to be stored on the road. This is regarded as a benefit. In any case, as the 
existing access is not to be altered and movements within the site would remain similar to 
existing, it is considered that there would not be any additional highway safety issues.  
 

Page 146



The means of access and parking arrangements are acceptable and maintain highway 
safety standards. The proposal accords with policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update, 
the Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (2023), and part 9 of 
the NPPF.  
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOODING: 
 
Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy has regard to Flood Risk Management. It states that all 
development will be expected to incorporate sustainable drainage systems to reduce 
surface water run-off and minimise its contribution to flood risks elsewhere. All 
development should be informed by the information and recommendations of the B&NES 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessments and Flood Risk Management Strategy. 
 
The application site is located within flood zone 2. As per the NPPF, a site-specific flood 
risk assessment should be provided for all development in flood zones 2 and 3. The 
application does not meet any exemption to the need for a sequential test, it is therefore 
required.  
 
A flood risk assessment as sequential test has been carried out. It is considered that the 
appropriate search area for the application would be limited to the site boundary of the 
agricultural holding, given its required use in connection with the farm.  
 
Consideration has been put forward to identify any other potential suitable locations within 
the holding for the hardstanding. The southern half of the site is located within flood zone 
2 and therefore would not be appropriate to consider given that there would not be a 
lesser risk. The southern boundary of flood zone 1, which lies to the north of the 
hardstanding, is under an overhead electricity supply line. Therefore it would not be 
possible for vehicles to operate in this area. This therefore excludes the area adjacent to 
the track, within flood zone 1.  
 
The location proposed is located close to the existing built form, is not underneath power 
lines, is a level site and does not require further ground work which could cause further 
risk to flooding. It is as such considered that the sequential test is passed, identifying the 
location as suitable for the proposed development.  
 
The development falls within the less vulnerable category and therefore the exception test 
is not required.  
 
The hard surface is made of a permeable material and there are no proposed 
amendments to levels. In the event of flood, there would be safe refuge within the site for 
safe exit. The submitted flood risk assessment therefore satisfies part 14 of the NPPF. 
 
As such, the proposed development is considered to comply with policy CP5 of the Core 
strategy in regard to flooding and drainage matters, as well as part 14 of the NPPF.   
 
ECOLOGY: 
 
Policy NE3 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to Sites, Species and Habitats and 
states that development which results in significant harm to biodiversity will not be 

Page 147



permitted. For all developments, any harm to the nature conservation value of the site 
should be avoided where possible before mitigation and/or compensation is considered.  
 
In addition, Policy NE3a of the Local Plan Partial Update relates to Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG).  
 
In the case of minor developments, development will only be permitted where no net loss 
and an appropriate net gain of biodiversity is secured using the latest DEFRA Small Sites 
Metric or agreed equivalent. As per Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, a minimum of 10% gain is required.  
 
As the hardstanding should be removed as per the GPDO requirements, the baseline of 
existing habitat has been taken to the land which would been reinstalled following the 
hardstanding's removal. This approach is accepted.  
 
The proposal involves the planting of vegetation to the existing bund and also involves a 
meadow to the south and tree planting. This results in a BNG of 34.61% which is 
acceptable. 
 
PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY: 
In reaching its decision on a planning application the Council is required to have regard to 
the duties contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, known collectively as the 
public sector equality duty. 
  
Section 149 provides that the Council must have due regard to the need to— 
 (a)     eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation  
(b)  advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c)  foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
(3)  Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves 
having due regard, in particular, to the need to—  
(a)      remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;  
(b)  take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;  
Protected characteristics include disability. 
 
In reaching its decision on a planning application the Council is required to have regard to 
the duties contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, known collectively as the 
public sector equality duty. 
 
Section 149 provides that the Council must have due regard to the need to— 
(a)     eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation  
(b)  advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  
(c)  foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
 

Page 148



Officers have had due regard to these matters when assessing this application and have 
concluded that neither the granting nor the refusal of this application would be likely to 
have an impact on protected groups and, therefore, that these considerations would not 
weigh in favour of or against this application. 
 
CONCLUSION:  
 
"Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) makes clear that a Local 
Planning Authority must have regard to "the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application" and "ant other material considerations". Further, Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that "where in making any 
determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the development plan, the 
determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material consideration 
indicates otherwise"." 
 
In this case it is considered that the application complies with the relevant planning 
policies as discussed in the report above is therefore recommended for permission.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Biodiversity Net Gain Plan (Pre-commencement) 
Within 6 months of the development being approved, full details of a Biodiversity Gain 
Plan achieving a minimum of 10% measurable biodiversity net gain, and a Habitat 
Management Plan for any on-site habitats and biodiversity measures, shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plans shall be in 
accordance with current best practice guidelines and standards and shall be in 
accordance with the approved Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment and calculation and shall 
include the following: 
 
In all cases: 
 
1. Pre and post development biodiversity values including a completed metric 
calculation tool using the DEFRA Biodiversity Metric or any successor, and accompanying 
evidence for baseline condition assessments; 
 
2. A BNG habitat map for on-site proposed habitats 
 
3. Information about the steps taken to minimise the adverse effect of the 
development on the biodiversity of the onsite habitat and any other habitat and, in the 
case of any irreplaceable habitat, information on arrangements for compensation for any 
impact of the development has on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat (which does 
not include the use of biodiversity credits). 
 
4. Details and evidence of any registered off-site biodiversity gain units allocated to 
the development and any biodiversity credits purchased for the development; 
 
Where on-site habitat is proposed/retained: 

Page 149



 
5. Long term aims and objectives and targets for habitats; proposed management 
prescriptions and operations; timing, frequency, durations and methods of operations; 
specialist expertise, specialist tools/machinery or equipment and personnel where 
required to meet the stated aims and objectives;  
 
6. Annual work schedule for at least a 30 year period 
 
7. A list of activities and operations that shall not take place and shall not be permitted 
within the Habitat Management Plan (HMP) area (for example use of herbicides; on-site 
disposal of grass cuttings or other vegetation waste; routine cutting of ivy where there is 
no specific arboricultural justification; inappropriate maintenance methods, storage of 
materials; inappropriate machine or vehicle access). 
 
8. Detailed monitoring strategy for habitats and species, and methods of measuring 
progress towards and achievement of stated objectives. 
 
9. Details of proposed reporting to the Local Planning Authority, and proposed review 
and remediation mechanism. 
 
10. Proposed costs and resourcing, and legal responsibilities. 
 
The Biodiversity Gain and Habitat Management Plans shall be implemented in 
accordance with the agreed details and timetable, and all habitats and measures shall be 
retained and maintained thereafter in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To protect and enhance ecological interests and to ensure delivery of Biodiversity 
Net Gain in accordance with Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update 
policies NE3, NE3a NE5 and D5e and paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and 
Country Planning 1990 Act (Biodiversity Gain Condition). 
 
 2 Implementation of Landscaping Scheme (Bespoke Trigger) 
All soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, as 
shown on drawing 71006-10-001 rev E. The works shall be carried out by the end of the 
next planting season.  
 
Any trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, within a period of 10 years 
from the date of the development being completed, die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the current or first available planting 
season with other trees or plants of species, size and number as originally approved 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. All hard and 
soft landscape works shall be retained in accordance with the approved details for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the landscape works are implemented and maintained to ensure 
the continued provision of amenity and environmental quality and to ensure appropriate 
biodiversity net gain is secured in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and NE2, NE3, and NE3a of the Bath and North 
East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update. 
 

Page 150



 3 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 The decision relates to the following plans: 
Revised Drawing   11 Feb 2025   71006-10-001 REV E   EXISTING AND 
PROPOSED SITE PLAN    
OS Extract   29 Jul 2024       LOCATION PLAN 
 
 2 Biodiversity Net Gain - Standard Informative 
 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is 
that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to 
have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that 
development may not begin unless: 
 
(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  
 
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity 
Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 
(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024. 
 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because 
none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements apply. A detailed version of 
the biodiversity gain condition can be found in the list of conditions attached to this 
permission. 
 
The effect of section 73D of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990:- 
 
If planning  permission is granted on an application made under section 73 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (application to develop land without compliance with 
conditions previously attached) and a Biodiversity Gain Plan was approved in relation to 
the previous planning permission ("the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan") there are 
circumstances when the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan is regarded as approved for the 
purpose of discharging the biodiversity gain condition subject to which the section 73 
planning permission is granted. 
 
Those circumstances are that the conditions subject to which the section 73 permission is 
granted: 
 
i) do not affect the post-development value of the onsite habitat as specified in the 
earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan, and 

Page 151



ii) in the case of planning permission for a development where all or any part of the 
onsite habitat is irreplaceable habitat the conditions do not change the effect of the 
development on the biodiversity of that onsite habitat (including any arrangements made 
to compensate for any such effect) as specified in the earlier Biodiversity Gain Plan. 
 
 3 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 4 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 5 Community Infrastructure Levy - General Note for all Development 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. CIL may apply to new 
developments granted by way of planning permission as well as by general consent 
(permitted development) and may apply to change of use permissions and certain 
extensions. Before commencing any development on site you should ensure you are 
familiar with the CIL process. If the development approved by this permission is CIL liable 
there are requirements to assume liability and notify the Council before any development 
commences.  
 
Do not commence development until you been notified in writing by the Council that you 
have complied with CIL; failure to comply with the regulations can result in surcharges, 

Page 152



interest and additional payments being added and will result in the forfeiture of any 
instalment payment periods and other reliefs which may have been granted.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy - Exemptions and Reliefs Claims 
 
The CIL regulations are non-discretionary in respect of exemption claims. If you are 
intending to claim a relief or exemption from CIL (such as a "self-build relief") it is 
important that you understand and follow the correct procedure before commencing any 
development on site. You must apply for any relief and have it approved in writing by the 
Council then notify the Council of the intended start date before you start work on site. 
Once development has commenced you will be unable to claim any reliefs retrospectively 
and CIL will become payable in full along with any surcharges and mandatory interest 
charges. If you commence development after making an exemption or relief claim but 
before the claim is approved, the claim will be forfeited and cannot be reinstated. 
 
Full details about the CIL Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent 
out in a CIL Liability Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available 
here: www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil. If you have any queries about CIL please email 
cil@BATHNES.GOV.UK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 153



Item No:   04 

Application No: 24/04465/FUL 

Site Location: The Hollies  Charlton Road Keynsham Bath And North East Somerset 
BS31 2JA 

 

 

Ward: Keynsham North  Parish: Keynsham Town Council  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Alex Beaumont Councillor George Leach  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Subdivision of land and conversion of existing residential annexe to 
dwelling 

Constraints: Agricultural Land Classification, Air Quality Management Area, 
Conservation Area, Policy CP12 Centres and Retail, Policy CP9 
Affordable Housing, District Heating Priority Area, Housing 
Development Boundary, Policy NE1 Green Infrastructure Network, 
Neighbourhood Plan, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, Policy ST8 
Safeguarded Airport & Aerodro,  

Applicant:  MS Julie Griffin 

Expiry Date:  11th April 2025 

Case Officer: Christopher Masters 

To view the case click on the link here. 

 
 

Page 154

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webforms/planning/details.html?refval=24/04465/FUL#details_Section


REPORT 
The application refers to an existing residential Annex located at the rear of the property 
known as The Hollies, which is located within the Keynsham Conservation Area and 
housing development boundary.   
 
Planning permission is sought for the subdivision of the land and conversion of existing 
residential annexe to dwelling.  
 
 
Reasons for Reporting to Committee 
 
The application has been reported to Committee as the Officer's recommendation is 
contrary to comments provided by Keynsham Town Council.  In line with the Council's 
Scheme of Delegation the application was referred to the Chair of the Planning 
Committee, who stated: 
 
"As the initial permission for an annex carried a condition to maintain the development as 
an ancillary use, it is considered that the Committee should have the opportunity to assess 
whether the policy tests have been met to enable this to now become a self-contained 
dwelling." 
 
In addition, the Vice Chair commented: 
 
"Noting Keynsham Town Council's objection in relation to the ancillary use clause which 
formed a condition of the previous 'Granny annex' application, I recommend that this 
application is determined in public by the Planning Committee to provide an opportunity to 
understand and debate the policy conclusions." 
 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
98/02700/FUL - REFUSED - 2 February 1999 - Two storey rear extension; loft conversion 
with dormer 
 
08/01849/FUL - PERMIT - 1 August 2008 - Erection of a single storey side and rear 
extensions 
 
17/04289/FUL - PERMIT - 31 October 2017 - Erection of granny annex. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses:  
 
Environmental Protection - Having reviewed the submitted noise impact assessment, no 
objection is raised to the above application by the Environmental Protection Team. 
 
Highways - No comment 
 
Keynsham Town Council - OBJECT on the following grounds: 
 

Page 155



(i) The planning application 17/04289/FUL was permitted with an ancillary use 
(compliance) clause that states the development hereby permitted shall not be occupied 
at any time other than for purposes ancillary to the residential use of the dwelling known 
as the Hollies, Charlton Road, Keynsham and shall not be occupied as an independent 
dwelling unit, business or holiday let for the following reason: The accommodation hereby 
approved is not capable of independent occupation or change of use without adverse 
impact on the amenities of existing and future residential occupier's contrary to Policy D6 
of the Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
(ii) The Town Council supports the Highways Department comment that the Development 
Management Procedure Order requirements are not met. 
 
 
Representations Received :  
 
None received  
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Development Plan for Bath and North East Somerset comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Placemaking Plan (July 2017) 
o Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan Partial Update (2023) 
o West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011)  
o Made Neighbourhood Plans  
 
CORE STRATEGY: 
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the 
determination of this application:  
 
CP6: Environmental Quality 
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 
PLACEMAKING PLAN: 
 
The Placemaking Plan for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the 
Council on 13th July 2017. The following policies of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to 
the determination of this application:  
 
D1: General urban design principles 
D2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D3: Urban fabric 
D4: Streets and spaces  
D6: Amenity 
D7: Infill and backland development  
HE1: Historic environment  
LCR9: Increasing the provision of local food growing   
 

Page 156



LOCAL PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE: 
 
The Local Plan Partial Update for Bath and North East Somerset Council was adopted on 
19th January 2023. The Local Plan Partial Update has introduced a number of new 
policies and updated some of the policies contained with the Core Strategy and 
Placemaking Plan. The following policies of the Local Plan Partial Update are relevant to 
this proposal:  
 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
KE1: Keynsham spatial strategy  
D5: Building design  
H3: Residential development in existing buildings  
ST1: Promoting Sustainable Travel 
ST7: Transport requirements for managing development  
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS:  
 
The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are relevant to the 
determination of this application: 
 
Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (January 2023)  
 
NATIONAL POLICY: 
 
The updated National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in December 
2024 and is a material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions 
of the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). 
 
CONSERVATION AREAS:  
 
There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement 
of the character of the surrounding Conservation Area. 
 
LOW CARBON AND SUSTAINABLE CREDENTIALS 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The main issues to consider are: 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Design, character and appearance (Including impacts on the Keynsham Conservation 
Area) 
3. Residential amenity 

Page 157



4. Highway safety and parking  
5. Sustainable construction and renewable energy 
6. Public sector equality duty 
7. Conclusion 
 
 
1. PRINCIPLE OF RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT: 
 
The site is within the Housing Development boundary of Keynsham where the principle of 
development is supported by Policies DW1 and KE1. Policy H3 also sets out that the sub-
division of existing buildings including outbuildings will be permitted, unless: 
 
i. The residential use creates a severe transport impact, (in a way that the existing use 
would not); 
ii. The development prejudices the continued commercial use of ground/lower floors. 
iii. It would lead to a form of sub-division that would harm the significance of a listed 
building.  
 
In this instance the development would result in an existing residential outbuilding being 
formed into an independent residential unit. The proposal would not create a severe 
transport impact as explained in the highway section below and does not relate to a 
commercial premises or listed building. The proposed development therefore accords with 
Policy H3 and is acceptable subject to the material considerations discussed below.  
 
 
2. DESIGN, CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE: 
 
Policies D1, D2 and D3 of the Placemaking Plan and Policy D5 of the Local Plan Partial 
Update have regard to the character and appearance of a development and its impact on 
the character and appearance of the host building and wider area. Development proposals 
will be supported, if amongst other things they contribute positively to and do not harm 
local character and distinctiveness. Development will only be supported where, amongst 
other things, it responds to the local context in terms of appearance, materials, siting, 
spacing and layout and the appearance of extensions respect and complement their host 
building. Furthermore, Policy HE1 requires development that has an impact upon a 
heritage asset, whether designated or non-designated, will be expected to enhance or 
better reveal its significance and setting. 
 
The proposal relates to an existing single storey detached outbuilding which sits discretely 
within its context.  
 
Given the siting and context of the building, pattern and layout of surrounding 
development, and its relationship with and extent to which it is screened from the public 
realm by the existing boundary treatments and surrounding built form, it is not considered 
that the use of the building as an independent dwelling would adversely affect the 
character and appearance of the site or surrounding conservation area.  
 
The removal of the patio doors on the north elevation shall not diminish the character or 
appearance of the building.  
 

Page 158



There is a duty placed on the Council under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement 
of the character of the surrounding conservation area. In this case given the discrete 
nature of the existing building and the nature of the proposed works the development is 
considered to preserve the character and appearance of this part of the Conservation 
Area and its setting.  
 
The proposal respects the local context and maintains the character and appearance of 
the surrounding area. Therefore, the proposal accords with policy CP6 of the Core 
Strategy (2014), policies D1, D2, D3, D4 and HE1 of the Placemaking Plan (2017), Policy 
D5 of the Local Plan Partial Update (2023) and parts 12 and 16 of the NPPF. 
 
 
3. RESIDENTIAL AMENITY: 
 
Policy D6 sets out to ensure developments provide an appropriate level of amenity space 
for new and future occupiers, relative to their use and avoiding harm to private amenity in 
terms of privacy, light and outlook/overlooking.  
 
It is acknowledged that the annex building was permitted under application 17/04289/FUL, 
subject to a condition which required the building to be used only for ancillary purposes on 
the basis that it was deemed at the time not to be capable of independent occupation or 
change of use without adverse impact on the amenities of existing or future residential 
occupiers. 
 
It is on this basis that the Town Council has objected to the scheme. 
 
In considering this current proposal, a site visit was made in which it was noted that the 
host dwelling and annex building have a limited degree of separation, which at its closest 
point is approximately 11m. Concern was therefore raised regarding the potential for 
intervisibility between the rear first floor windows of the existing dwelling and those in the 
north elevation of the proposed dwelling, which would have afforded occupiers with 
unsatisfactory levels of privacy. To address this, the applicant has proposed removing the 
windows on the north elevation of the existing annex building so that there is no direct 
intervisibility between the two dwellings. Subject to this alteration being undertaken it is 
consider the dwelling would benefit from acceptable levels of privacy and would not 
prejudice the privacy of neighbouring properties.  
 
The submitted plans demonstrate that subject to removing the fenestration on the northern 
elevation, occupiers of the dwelling would benefit from adequate amounts of internal and 
external space, natural light, outlook and privacy.  
 
Regard has also been given to whether any nearby noise sources including the adjacent 
commercial premises and car park could result in occupiers of the dwelling being 
subjected to unacceptable levels of noise. Following submission of a noise impact 
assessment, the Council's Environmental Protection Team are satisfied occupiers of the 
development would not be subject to unacceptable noise levels.  
 

Page 159



Accordingly, it is considered that the building could be occupied independently in a 
manner which affords occupiers of both the proposed and nearby dwellings with 
acceptable levels of amenity.  
 
Given its design, siting, layout and relationship with surrounding properties, the proposed 
development would not cause significant harm to the amenities of any occupiers or 
adjacent occupiers through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing impact, loss of 
privacy, noise, smell, traffic or other disturbance. The proposal accords with policy D6 of 
the Placemaking Plan and part 12 of the NPPF. 
 
4. HIGHWAYS SAFETY AND PARKING: 
 
Policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update has regard to transport requirements for 
managing development. It sets out the policy framework for considering the requirements 
and the implications of development for the highway, transport systems and their users. 
The Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document expands upon policy 
ST7 and includes the parking standards for development.  
 
The proposed dwelling would be accessed from a public footpath via an existing 
pedestrian gate which is 1.2m wide. It is noted that in this instance given the layout of the 
site and its relationship with the public highway it would not be possible for the proposed 
dwelling to benefit from any dedicated off-street motor vehicular parking.  This is 
considered acceptable given the highly sustainable location of the site.  
 
An existing garden storage building which shall be retained within the curtilage of the 
proposed dwelling offers secure, weatherproof storage for two bicycles. 
 
The means of access and parking arrangements are acceptable and maintain highway 
safety standards. The proposal accords with policy ST7 of the Local Plan Partial Update, 
the Transport and Development Supplementary Planning Document (2023), and part 9 of 
the NPPF.  
 
5. SUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION AND RENEWABLE ENERGY: 
 
The policies contained within the development plan are aimed at ensuring development is 
sustainable and that the impacts on climate change are minimised and, where necessary, 
mitigated. A number of policies specifically relate to measures aimed at minimising carbon 
emissions and impacts on climate change. The application has been assessed against the 
policies as identified and these have been fully taken into account in the recommendation 
made. 
 
Policy SCR5 of the emerging Placemaking Plan requires that all dwellings meet the 
national optional Building Regulations requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per 
person per day. This can be secured by condition. 
 
Policy SCR5 also requires all residential development to include a scheme for rainwater 
harvesting or other method of capturing rainwater for use by residents (e.g. water butts). 
These matters can be secured by a relevant planning condition. 
 

Page 160



Policy LCR9 states that all residential development will be expected to incorporate 
opportunities for local food growing (e.g. border planting, window boxes, vertical planting, 
raised beds etc.) there is sufficient space for this to be achieved within the curtilage of the 
dwelling. The proposal accords with Policy LCR9. 
 
6. PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 
 
In reaching its decision on a planning application the Council is required to have regard to 
the duties contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, known collectively as the 
public sector equality duty. 
  
Section 149 provides that the Council must have due regard to the need to- 
 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. 
  
Officers have had due regard to these matters when assessing this application and have 
concluded that neither the granting nor the refusal of this application would be likely to 
have an impact on protected groups and, therefore, that these considerations would not 
weigh in favour of or against this application. 
 
7. CONCLUSION:  
 
The proposal complies with the relevant planning policies as outlined above and the 
proposal is recommended for approval.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission. 
 
 2 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
 3 Water Efficiency - Rainwater Harvesting (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the approved dwellings shall commence until a scheme for rainwater 
harvesting or other methods of capturing rainwater for use by residents (e.g. Water butts) 

Page 161



has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of water efficiency in accordance with Policy SCR5 of the 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
 4 Water Efficiency (Compliance) 
The approved dwellings shall be constructed to meet the national optional Building 
Regulations requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of water efficiency in accordance with Policy SCR5 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan. 
 
 5 Blocking up of Fenestration (Compliance) 
No independent occupation of the approved dwelling shall commence until the existing 
doors and windows in the northern elevation of the dwelling hereby approved have been 
closed up and the area of walling made good to match the existing building.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers and adjoining occupiers from 
overlooking and loss of privacy in accordance with policy D6 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Placemaking Plan.  
 
 6 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - No Windows (Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no windows or other openings, other than those shown on the plans 
hereby approved, shall be formed in the North elevation of the dwelling hereby approved 
at any time unless a further planning permission has been granted.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers and adjoining occupiers from 
overlooking and loss of privacy in accordance with policy D6 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Placemaking Plan.  
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to the following plans: 
 
All received 14th February 2025 
 
BS31-02 V3  BLOCK PLAN 
BS31-03 V3  SITE PLAN - EXISTING & PROPOSED 
BS31-04 V3  EXISTING PLAN & ELEVATIONS  
BS31-05 V3  PROPOSED PLAN & ELEVATIONS  
BS31-01 V3  SITE LOCATION PLAN 
 
 2 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 

Page 162



Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit an application to 
Discharge Conditions and pay the relevant fee via the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.co.uk or post to Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, 
Bath, BA1 1JG. 
 
 3 Community Infrastructure Levy - General Note for all Development 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. CIL may apply to new 
developments granted by way of planning permission as well as by general consent 
(permitted development) and may apply to change of use permissions and certain 
extensions. Before commencing any development on site you should ensure you are 
familiar with the CIL process. If the development approved by this permission is CIL liable 
there are requirements to assume liability and notify the Council before any development 
commences.  
 
Do not commence development until you been notified in writing by the Council that you 
have complied with CIL; failure to comply with the regulations can result in surcharges, 
interest and additional payments being added and will result in the forfeiture of any 
instalment payment periods and other reliefs which may have been granted.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy - Exemptions and Reliefs Claims 
 
The CIL regulations are non-discretionary in respect of exemption claims. If you are 
intending to claim a relief or exemption from CIL (such as a "self-build relief") it is 
important that you understand and follow the correct procedure before commencing any 
development on site. You must apply for any relief and have it approved in writing by the 
Council then notify the Council of the intended start date before you start work on site. 
Once development has commenced you will be unable to claim any reliefs retrospectively 
and CIL will become payable in full along with any surcharges and mandatory interest 
charges. If you commence development after making an exemption or relief claim but 
before the claim is approved, the claim will be forfeited and cannot be reinstated. 

Page 163



 
Full details about the CIL Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent 
out in a CIL Liability Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available 
here: www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil. If you have any queries about CIL please email 
cil@BATHNES.GOV.UK 
 
 4 Responding to Climate Change (Informative): 
 
The council is committed to responding to climate change. You are advised to consider 
sustainable construction when undertaking the approved development and consider using 
measures aimed at minimising carbon emissions and impacts on climate change. 
 
 5 Biodiversity Net Gain - Exempt/Not required 
 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is 
that planning permission granted for development of land in England is deemed to have 
been granted subject to the condition (biodiversity gain condition) that development may 
not begin unless: 
 
(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.  
 
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity 
Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 
(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024. 
 
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will not 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because one 
or more of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements is/are considered to 
apply. 
 
 6 Permit/Consent Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 

Page 164



 

 

 
 
APPEALS LODGED 
 
App. Ref:  24/04742/FUL 
Location:  21 Darlington Place Bathwick Bath Bath And North East Somerset 
BA2 6BX 
Proposal:  Extension and alteration of garage. 
Decision:   
Decision Date:  
Decision Level:  
Appeal Lodged: 20 March 2025 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  24/01613/FUL 
Location:  Street Record May Lane Newbridge Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Proposal:  Installation of 5.no EV Charging Bays together with ancillary 
electrical equipment. 
Decision:   
Decision Date:  
Decision Level:  
Appeal Lodged: 26 March 2025 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Planning Committee  

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

7th May 2025 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Louise Morris - Head of Planning & Building Control 

 

TITLE: NEW PLANNING APPEALS, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES    

WARD: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

Page 165

Agenda Item 9



 

 

App. Ref:  23/04243/OUT 
Location:  Hartley Wood  King Lane Clutton Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Proposal:  Outline application for the erection of 9 residential dwellings with 
access to be determined and all other matters reserved (resubmission). 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 27 September 2024 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 3 April 2025 
Officer Recommendation:     REFUSE  

 
 
 
App. Ref:  24/04493/VAR 
Location:  23 Kelston Road Newbridge Bath Bath And North East Somerset 
BA1 3QH 
Proposal:  Variation of condition 7 (Plans List) of application 23/01633/FUL 
(Erection of single storey and three storey side extension following demolition of existing 
single storey side extension). 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 30 January 2025 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 9 April 2025 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  24/04158/FUL 
Location:  Welbeck  Ham Lane Paulton Bristol Bath And North East Somerset 
Proposal:  Raising of ridge to create living space in the loft area, dormer 
windows to front and rear elevations and erection of single story rear extension. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 21 March 2025 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 14 April 2025 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 166



 

 

APPEALS DECIDED 
 
App. Ref:  24/02319/PIP 
Location:  Parcel 1636 Wells Road Hallatrow Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Proposal:  Permission In Principle Planning Application for the erection of 1no. 
self-build dwelling with associated works. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 11 October 2024 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 11 December 2024 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 24 March 2025 

 
 
 
App. Ref:  23/03610/FUL 
Location:  9 Van Diemen's Lane Lansdown Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA1 5TW 
Proposal:  Revised gabion walls to the East boundary and revised levels to the 
lawns in this position. (Retrospective) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 11 April 2024 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 4 November 2024 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 28 March 2025 
Officer Recommendation:      REFUSE  

 
 
Case Ref: 22/00275/UNDEV 
Location: 9 Van Diemen's Lane Lansdown Bath Bath And North East Somerset BA1 
5TW 
Breach: Without Planning Permission the erection of a retaining wall, importation of 
material and engineering operations to raise and level the rear garden. 
Notice Date: 10 July 2024 
Appeal Lodged: 4 November 2024 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 28 March 2025 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 167



 

 

App. Ref:  23/04223/PIP 
Location:  Jat Environmental Reclamation Ltd Pensford Hill Pensford Bristol 
Bath And North East Somerset 
Proposal:  A Permission in Principle Planning Application for the Erection of up 
to 4 New Build Dwellinghouses (Use Class C3) and Associated Infrastructure at JAT 
Reclamation. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 23 February 2024 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 3 October 2024 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 2 April 2025 

 
 
Case Ref: 20/00001/HHEDGE 
Location: Church Farm Cottage Penn Hill Lane Queen Charlton Bristol Bath And North 
East Somerset BS31 2SQ 
Breach: Approx 45ft high and very wide trees blocking light, tv signal and electricity 
cables. 
Appeal Lodged: 20 October 2023 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Allowed 
Appeal Decided Date: 14 April 2025 
 

 
App. Ref:  24/03497/FUL 
Location:  43 Herbert Road Twerton Bath Bath And North East Somerset BA2 
3PR 
Proposal:  Erection of rear dormer window extension. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 8 November 2024 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 14 January 2025 
Appeal Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
Appeal Decided Date: 17 April 2025 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 168



 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING: Planning Committee 

MEETING 
DATE: 

7 May 2025 
AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

 

TITLE: Quarterly Performance Report covering period 1 Jan – 31 Mar 2025 

WARD: ALL 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report: 

Analysis of Chair referral cases 

 
1  THE ISSUE 

At the request of Members and as part of our on-going commitment to making service 
improvements, this report provides Members with performance information across Planning.  

 
2 RECOMMENDATION 

Members are asked to note the contents of the performance report. 

3 THE REPORT 

Tables, charts, and commentary 

1 - Comparison of Applications Determined Within Target Times 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 169

Agenda Item 10



% of planning 
applications in time 

2023-2024 2024-2025 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

% Majors in time (8/8) 

100% 
(5/5) 

100% 
(12/12) 

100% 
(7/7) 

100% 
(12/12) 

100% 
(6/7) 

86% 
(4/4) 

100% 
(8/9) 

89% 

% Minors in time (82/92) 

89% 
(75/88) 

85% 
(85/99) 

86% 
(71/83) 

86% 
(83/98) 

85% 
(86/103) 

83% 
(102/133) 

77% 
(70/88) 

80% 

% Others in time (338/426) 

79% 
(311/359) 

87% 
(283/341) 

83% 
(269/314) 

86% 
(281/348) 

81% 
(284/363) 

78% 
(283/332) 

85% 
(255/301) 

85% 

 
Highlights: 

• All three categories have been above target consistently every quarter for over 8 years 
(Majors target 60%, Non-majors target 70%). 

• Performance is similar to the last published England average of 90.6% for Majors, and 
slightly below the average of 90.3% for Non-majors (year ending Dec 2024). 

 
Note:   
Major - 10+ dwellings/0.5 hectares and over, 1000+ sqm/1 hectare and over 
Minor - 1-10 dwellings/less than 0.5 hectares, Up to 999 sqm/under 1 hectare 
Other - changes of use, householder development, adverts, listed building consents, demolition in 
a conservation area 
 
 
2 - Recent Planning Application Performance 
 

Application nos. 2023-2024 2024-2025 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Received 541 526 538 536 615 495 514 613 

Withdrawn 70 45 65 49 38 56 51 41 

Delegated no. and % 518 
(98%) 

449 
(99%) 

433 
(96%) 

395 
(98%) 

446 
(97%) 

457 
(97%) 

445 
(95%) 

377 
(95%) 

Refused no. and % 38 (7%) 30 (7%) 27 (6%) 15 (4%) 15 (3%) 38 (8%) 34 (7%) 26 (7%) 

 
Highlights: 

• 4% increase in planning application numbers compared to the previous 12 months 
– the last published national trend figure was an 8% decrease (year ending Dec 
2024). 

• 14% increase in planning application numbers compared to the same quarter last year. 

This may be partly because of the national planning application fees rise that came in April. 

• The current delegation rate is marginally below the last published England average of 

96% (year ending Dec 2024). 

• Percentage of refusals on planning applications remains very low compared to 

the last published England average of 14% (year ending Dec 2024) and we put this 

down to the high level of use and overall success of our Pre-application advice 

service which also brings income into the service. 

 
3 – Dwelling Decisions and Numbers 
 

Decisions on Major 
residential 
applications 

2023-2024 2024-2025 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Decisions on Major 
residential applications 
(10 or more dwellings) 

3 3 6 3 8 2 2 5 

Major residential 3 2 5 3 6 1 2 5 Page 170



decisions granted 

Number of dwellings 
applied for on Major 
schemes 

428 70 237 283 16 0 320 10 

Number of dwelling 
units permitted on 
schemes (net) 

189 38 110 156 228 99 699 403 

 
Highlights: 

• There were five major residential planning decisions last quarter and all were granted. 
 
4 - Planning Appeals 
 

 Apr – Jun 
2024 

Jul – Sep 
2024 

Oct – Dec 
2024 

Jan – Mar 
2025 

Appeals lodged 21 4 15 17 

Appeals decided 7 13 11 10 

Appeals allowed 2 (29%) 4 (31%) 2 (18%) 2 (20%) 

Appeals dismissed 5 (71%) 9 (69%) 9 (82%) 8 (80%) 

 
Highlights: 

• Over the last 12 months performance on Appeals Allowed (24%) is better than the 
national average of approx. 30% 

• Planning Appeal costs awarded against the council in this financial year: None. 
 
5 - Enforcement Investigations  
 

 Apr – Jun 
2024 

Jul – Sep 
2024 

Oct – Dec 
2024 

Jan – Mar 
2025 

Investigations launched 94 113 110 105 

Investigations in hand 456 459 505 518 

Investigations closed 71 102 62 119 

Enforcement Notices issued 9 7 3 5 

Planning Contravention Notices 
served  

1 5 3 5 

Breach of Condition Notices 
served 

0 1 1 2 

Stop Notices 1 0 0 0 

Temporary Stop Notices 1 0 0 1 

Injunctions 0 0 0 0 

 
 
 
6 – Other Work (applications handled but not included in national returns) 
 
The service also processes other statutory applications (discharging conditions, prior approvals, 
prior notifications, non-material amendments etc) and discretionary services like pre-application 
advice. The table below shows the number of these applications received.  
   

 
 

Apr – Jun 2024 Jul – Sep 2024 Oct – Dec 2024 Jan – Mar 2025 

 
Other types of work  

 
413 

 
334 275 

 
414 

Page 171



 
 
 
7 – Works to Trees 
 
 Apr – Jun 

2024 
Jul – Sep 

2024 
Oct – Dec 

2024 
Jan – Mar 

2025 

Number of applications for works to trees 
subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 20 25 26 31 

Percentage of applications for works to trees 
subject to a TPO determined within 8 weeks 100% 96% 96% 100% 

Number of notifications for works to trees 
within a Conservation Area (CA) 

169 166 262 151 

Percentage of notifications for works to trees 
within a Conservation Area (CA) determined 
within 6 weeks 

98% 98% 95% 95% 

 
Highlights: 

• Performance on works to trees remains excellent. 
 
 
8 – Corporate Customer Feedback 
 
The latest quarterly report is published here: 
 
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/view-complaint-reports 

 

9 - Ombudsman Complaints 

When a customer remains dissatisfied with the outcome of the Corporate Complaints investigation 
they can take their complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman for an independent view. 

Planning complaints reaching the LGSCO: 

Ombudsman 
Complaints 

Apr – Jun 
24 

Jul – Sep 
24 

Oct – Dec 
24 

Jan – Mar 
25 

 

Investigated: Upheld 
 

0 0 0 0 

Investigated: Not upheld 0 0 0 0 

Cases closed after initial 
inquiries (rejected by 
LGO with no action or 
out of their jurisdiction) 

 1 2 0 

Premature Complaint 
(referred back to 
Council) 

 0 0 0 

 

Highlights: 

• There were no upheld complaints over the last year.  
 

 
Page 172

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/view-complaint-reports


 

10 – Section 106 Agreements and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  

Members will be aware of the Planning Obligations SPD first published in 2009. Planning Services 
have spent the last few years compiling a database of Section 106 Agreements. This is still in 
progress but does enable the S106/CIL Monitoring Officer to actively monitor the delivery of 
agreed obligations. S106 and CIL financial overview sums below will be refreshed for every 
quarterly report. CIL annual reports, Infrastructure Funding Statements and Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan 2021 are also published on our website: https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-
library/annual-cil-spending-reports 

(Note: figures are for guidance only and could be subject to change due to further updates with regards to 

monitoring S106 funds) 

S106 Funds received (2024/25) 
 

£1,162,209.00 

CIL sums overview – Potential Liability amount (April 
2015 to date) 

 
£20,843,193.41 

CIL sums overview – Paid (April 2015 to date) 
 

£31,667,316.35 

 
 
11 – Chair Referrals 

Table 11 below shows the numbers of planning applications where Chair decision has been 
sought to either decide the application under delegated authority or refer to Planning Committee. 
A further analysis of Chair referral cases is in Appendix 1 below. 

 Apr – Jun 
2024 

Jul – Sep 
2024 

Oct – Dec 
2024 

Jan – Mar 
2025 

Chair referral delegated 8 7 9 14 

Chair referral to Planning 
Committee 

8 9 9 7 

 

 

12 – 5 Year Housing Land Supply 
 

 

Page 173

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/annual-cil-spending-reports
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/annual-cil-spending-reports


The monitoring reports are also published on our website: https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-
documents-library/five-year-housing-land-supply-and-housing-and-economic-land. Note: The above is 
the last published position (which was published Nov 2023). Policy are updating the data and will have a 
new figure by May.  

 

Appendix 1 – see attachment. 

 

 

Contact person  
John Theobald, Project/Technical and Management Support Officer, Planning 
01225 477519 

Background papers 
CLG General Development Management statistical returns PS1 and PS2 + 
Planning applications statistics on the DCLG website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-
application-statistics 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative format 

 

Page 174

https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/five-year-housing-land-supply-and-housing-and-economic-land
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/policy-and-documents-library/five-year-housing-land-supply-and-housing-and-economic-land
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-planning-application-statistics


qry_Analysis of Chair referral cases 1.1.25 - 31.3.25

Application no ADDRESS PROPOSAL Decision Level Decision Date Status Notes

24/02494/FUL
Trossachs Lodge  Trossachs Drive Bathwick Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA2 6RP

Remodelling of existing dwelling, 
demolition of existing garage, 
erection of new garage and 
landscaping COMMDC 13-Feb-25 PERMIT

Bathampton Parish Council have objected to the 
application, contrary to the officer's recommendation 
to grant planning permission. The application has also 
been called in to the committee by Cllr Kevin Guy who 
is the local Ward Councillor.

23/00782/FUL
18 Churchways Whitchurch Bristol Bath And North 
East Somerset BS14 0PL

Proposed attached self-contained 
dwelling house.

CHAIR 02-Jan-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

24/02995/FUL
Crossway Stables  Bath Road Farmborough Bath Bath 
And North East Somerset BA2 0HJ

Erection of new dwelling to replace 
existing dwelling. CHAIR 23-Jan-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

24/04474/FUL
16 Grange Road Salƞord Bath And North East 
Somerset BS31 3AH

Proposed new detached double 
garage and ancilliary works. CHAIR 27-Jan-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

24/02971/VAR

Lays Farm Business Centre  Lays Farm Trading 
Estate Keynsham Bath And North East 
Somerset BS31 2SE

Variation of conditions 4 
(Construction Management Plan), 8 
(Wildlife Protection and 
Enhancement), 11 (Materials) and 14 
(Drainage Strategy) of application 
18/05696/OUT (Outline planning 
application for the demolition of 
existing industrial buildings and CHAIR 27-Jan-25 RF Chair referral delegated decision

24/04260/FUL
12 Romulus Close Keynsham Bath And North East 
Somerset BS31 2GF

Loft conversion and front elevation 
changes with associated works. CHAIR 27-Jan-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

24/04610/FUL
5 Frys Leaze  Charlcombe Lane Larkhall Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA1 6NU

Conversion of loft with hip to gable 
roof and rear flat roof dormer. CHAIR 06-Feb-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

24/04399/VAR
Land To Rear Of Danes Court Dane's 
Lane Keynsham Bath And North East Somerset  

Variation of conditions 5 
(Investigation and Risk Assessment), 8 
(Materials - Submission of Schedule 
and Samples), 13 (Biodiversity Gain 
and Habitat Management Plans), 17 
(Fire Hydrants), 19 (Landscape) and 
20 (Plans List) of application 
23/04190/REG03 (E CHAIR 19-Feb-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

24/03756/FUL
Keynsham Mini Market 9 High Street Keynsham Bath 
And North East Somerset BS31 1DP 

Installation of an automated teller 
machine and associated signage. CHAIR 21-Feb-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

24/02784/FUL
Land Betwwen 1 And 3 North Road Midsomer 
Norton Bath And North East Somerset  Erection of two storey dwelling. CHAIR 24-Feb-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

P
age 175



qry_Analysis of Chair referral cases 1.1.25 - 31.3.25

24/01413/FUL
LiƩle Dale  Mill Lane Monkton Combe Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 7HD

Renovation of the existing home. 
Demolition of original one-storey 
building consisting of garage, storage, 
storage room and outdoor restroom 
and replace with two-storey 
additions. CHAIR 28-Feb-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

24/04603/PIP
Hartley Wood King Lane CluƩon Bristol Bath And 
North East Somerset BS39 5QA 

A Permission in Principle Planning 
Application for the conversion of the 
existing barns on site to provide up to 
8 residential dwellings CHAIR 10-Mar-25 RF Chair referral delegated decision

25/00356/FUL
216 The Hollow Southdown Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset BA2 1NG

Change of use from 3 bedroom 
dwelling house (Class C3) to 3 
bedroom HMO (Class C4) CHAIR 13-Mar-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

25/00018/FUL
90 Langdon Road Southdown Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset BA2 1LT

Change of use from a 4 bedroom 
residential Property (C3) to a 6 
bedroom HMO (C4) CHAIR 13-Mar-25 PERMIT Chair referral delegated decision

24/04760/FUL
21 Darlington Place Bathwick Bath Bath And North 
East Somerset BA2 6BX

Extension and alteration to garage 
with stone clad elevations. CHAIR 18-Mar-25 RF Chair referral delegated decision

23/02711/FUL
St Anthonys  The Barton Corston Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 9AL

Erection of 3-bed, two storey house 
in garden of existing house. COMMDC 13-Mar-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee.  There is some 
disagreement from the Parish Council as to whether 
this proposal constitutes limited infill development 
within the Greenbelt or is backland and whether the 
dwelling is appropriate to the landscape character of 
Corston and preserves and enhances the character 
and setting of the Conservation Area. Whilst the 
proposal has been amended a number of times 
thereby emphasising the complexities of securing an 
appropriate design albeit within the housing 
boundary, it is considered that the application should 
be debated by the Planning Committee.

23/03975/FUL
Plots 25 And 26 The Smallholdings Claude 
Avenue Twerton Bath Bath And North East Somerset  Erection of new commercial buildings. COMMDC 13-Mar-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. In light of the 
intensification of the use of this site accessed via an 
unadopted road in close proximity to a primary school 
and the Brickfields playground and the concerns of the 
ward member, it is considered that this proposal 
should be scrutinised in more detail by the Committee 
to fully understand the impacts and review the scope 
for conditions.

24/04180/OUT
St Malo  First Avenue Oldfield Park Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 3NW

Outline planning permission, with all 
matters reserved, for the erection of 
a terrace of four dwellings following 
demolition of existing dwelling. COMMDC 19-Feb-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. Noting the concerns 
raised by the ward councillor and the large number of 
third party representations, whilst it is appreciated 
that this is an outline application, a number of policy 
areas would benefit from further debate including 
overdevelopment, design, impact on amenity of 
neighbours, loss of a non-designated heritage asset 
and loss of a mature copper beech tree, and therefore 
I recommend that the decision is referred to the 
Planning Committee.

P
age 176



qry_Analysis of Chair referral cases 1.1.25 - 31.3.25

24/03112/FUL
Woodlands  Staunton Lane Whitchurch Bristol Bath 
And North East Somerset BS14 0QL

Erection of 3 no. dwellings and 
associated works. COMMDC 13-Feb-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. The principle of 
development has already been considered and 
therefore whilst Whitchurch Parish Council maintain 
their objection to the three dwellings outside the 
settlement boundary and within the greenbelt along 
an unadopted road whereby the owners are 
responsible for drainage, this cannot be taken into 
consideration. However given the above sensitivity 
the Planning Committee may wish to considering the 
technical details of the proposed three dwellings in 
light of the Parish Council’s concerns that that they do 
not believe them to be in keeping with the character 
of the area. 

24/03198/FUL
16 Southville Terrace Lyncombe Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 4LZ

Erection of a two-storey rear 
extension, a single-storey side 
extension and installation of solar 
panels to the roof. COMMDC 13-Feb-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. There is a delicate 
balance to strike between the scale of the 
development and its potential impact on the amenity 
of neighbours and acceptability of the design and 
related impacts. This is in respect of the setting of the 
World Heritage Site and Conservation Area and 
whether the increase in volume and density of around 
30%, almost at the policy maximum of one third of 
the existing dwelling will be appropriate in the Green 
Belt. Whilst there is a significant number of objections 
and this is not reason alone to refer an application to 
committee, the planning issues that have been raised 
would warrant discussion by members.

24/00287/FUL

Whitecross House  Whitecross Road East 
Harptree Bristol Bath And North East Somerset BS40 
6AA

Provision of 4no. dwellings by 
subdivision of main house, conversion 
of ancillary stables and erection of 
1no. new dwelling COMMDC 16-Jan-25

PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. This application raises a 
wide range of issues and given the sensitive
location and scale of the proposal and noting the 
number of objections
including those of the Parish Council and albeit late 
submission of the ward
member it is considered that this should be debated 
by the Planning
Committee.

24/01294/FUL
Barnlea  Withy Mills Paulton Bristol Bath And North 
East Somerset BS39 7PT

Erection of 4x agricultural buildings 
(Retrospective). COMMDC 13-Mar-25 PERMIT

Chair referral to committee. Whilst a retrospective 
planning application and objections, albeit from the 
Parish Council, a Ward Councillor and members of the 
public does not immediately mean that it should be 
referred to Planning Committee, the development 
does raise a number of issues that do warrant public 
scrutiny. 

24/01566/FUL
Parcel 7512 Fosseway Englishcombe Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset  

Reprofiling of land for the purposes of 
agricultural improvement, 
biodiversity benefits and landscape 
screening COMMDC 13-Mar-25 PERMIT

Combe Hay Parish Council have objected to the 
proposed development contrary to the Officer's 
recommendation.

P
age 177



qry_Analysis of Chair referral cases 1.1.25 - 31.3.25

24/02761/FUL
Site Of Old Quarry Bath Road Peasedown St 
John Bath Bath And North East Somerset  

Erection of 1 no. dwelling with 
detached garage. COMMDC 13-Feb-25 PERMIT

Following the call to committee request made by Cllr 
Gavin Heathcote and Cllr Karen Walker, the 
application has been referred to planning committee. 
The Parish Council have 
also supported the application, contrary to officer 
recommendation to refuse.

24/03981/FUL
Lake View  Stoke Hill Chew Stoke Bristol Bath And 
North East Somerset BS40 8XJ Erection of rear extensions. COMMDC 13-Mar-25 PERMIT

Objection comments have been received by the Parish 
Council which are contrary to the Officer's 
recommendation. 

23/02444/FUL
Hazel Elm  Old Midford Road Midford Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 7BY

Erection of a replacement dwelling, to 
follow removal of existing house and 
outbuildings. COMMDC 13-Mar-25 PERMIT

Support from South Stoke Parish Council contrary to 
the Officer's recommendation.

24/02245/FUL
105 Holcombe Close Bathampton Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset BA2 6UR

Erection of single and two storey side 
extensions, addition of new flat roof 
dormers to existing property roof and 
associated external works. COMMDC 13-Mar-25 RF

The application has been brought to committee as Cllr 
Hedges and Cllr Hirst raised concerns in respect of the 
proposal.

24/04018/FUL
New Leaf Farm Mill Lane Bathampton Bath Bath And 
North East Somerset  

Erection of 2no. Agricultural storage 
buildings. COMMDC 13-Mar-25 PERMIT

The application is reported to the Planning Committee 
as it has been submitted by an individual related to an 
elected member of the Council who has direct links 
with the 
Planning Service. 

24/04739/TCA
4 Meadow View Radstock Bath And North East 
Somerset BA3 3QT 

Remove 1 leyland cypress nearest 
applicant's shed, crown lift remaining 
4 leyland cypress to 2m, remove 
buddleia (amended description ) COMMDC 13-Feb-25 NOOBJ

The notification is associated with an elected 
member.

24/04510/LBA
10 Berkeley Place Walcot Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset BA1 5JH

Internal work to replace existing 
damp proofing system in basement. COMMDC 13-Mar-25 CON

This application is being reported to committee as the 
applicant is a Council employee who works within 
Planning Services. 

23/03390/OUT

Treetops Nursing Home St Clement's 
Road Keynsham Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset BS31 1AF 

Outline planning application for 
demolition of existing care home and 
erection of 2no. three-storey 
buildings comprising 36no. self-
contained flats (Use Class C3), with 
matters of Access Layout, Scale, and 
Appearance to be determined. COMMDC 11-Mar-25 PERMIT

This application is being reported to committee as the 
Planning Scheme of Delegation sets out that 'Any 
planning application which is subject to a viability 
assessment in respect of affordable housing will be 
reported to Planning Committee'. 

P
age 178


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	7 Site Visit List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee
	8 Main Plans List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee
	9 New Planning Appeals Lodged, Decisions Received and Dates of Forthcoming Hearings/Inquiries
	10 Quarterly Performance Report: 1 Jan - 31 Mar 2025
	Analysis of Chair referral cases




